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INTRODUCTION

THis book is designed as the first of a series of vol-
umes, devoted to biographies of deceased members of the
New England Historic Genealogical Society, which are to
be printed at the expense of the “Towne Memorial
Fund.” This is not the place either to repeat the facts
of the life of WiLLiaAM BrLANcHARD TOWNE, as they have
been already sketched in the “New England Historical
and Genealogical Register” for January, 1878, or to anti-
cipate the fuller record which should find place when his
own name shall be reached in the series. But those who
peruse this volume will find here a brief outline of the
life of him to whose interest and munificence the pro-
posed series of biographic memorials are due.

Mr. Towne was born in Bow, N. H., October 12, 1810,
the son of Jonathan Towne, descended from William
Towne, of Yarmouth, in England, who died in Topsfield,
Mass., about 1672. His mother was Clarissa Hoyt, daugh-
ter of Captain John Hoyt; and from her he inherited vigor
of mind and body. His early advantages were limited.
At the age of sixteen, he went to Concord, N. H., in the
employment of Dr. Josiah Crosby, who was then a young
man, ready to give sympathy and aid to the studious and
aspiring boy; and during the two years spent in his
family received eighteen months of schooling and the
help of a wise teacher; and to them he owed much.
Between the years 1829 and 1834, while Mr. Towne was
occupying the position of a clerk at Concord, he devoted
his leisure hours to teaching in a Mission Sabbath-school.
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His labors here reveal to us the spiritual side of his nature,
and prove that, turning aside from his own cares, he was
not unmindful of preparing the young for the active
duties of life.

Next we find him in Boston occupying the same
humble position as a clerk; soon, however, to be ex-
changed, by industry and application, for the position of
partner in the firm of Bowker, Towne, & Co. In 1852,
he became connected with the house of James M. Beebe
& Co., and so remained thirteen years.

Mr. Towne married, June 15, 1842, Nancy French Hill,
daughter of Jeremiah, descended from Ralph of Billerica,
Mass., in the line, Ralph,® Samuel?® Ralph,* Solomon,’
Jeremiah.®

After living in Boston until 1846, he made his home in
Brookline, and there his wife died, May 3, 1858, aged
forty ; leaving three sons, William Henry, now of Boston,
and Charles Edward and Arthur French, now of Chicago,
all members of the legal profession.

In 1866, Mr. Towne visited Europe. Soon after his
return, he married April 23, 1867, Miss Jennie S. Putnam,
daughter of Daniel Putnam of Milford, N. H., who sur-
vives him. His home was afterwards in that beautiful
town, where his parents at that time resided. - He was
a Representative of Milford in the Legislatures of 1873
and 1874, and held a leading position in the House. He
was also Trustee and President of the Savings Institution
and President of the Souhegan National Bank.

As early as 1834, Mr. Towne was engaged in the study
of his family history ; in 1844, he had prepared an exten-
sive Towne genealogy ; and, in 1852, he printed for pri-
vate distribution a genealogical chart of the family. He
became, in that year, a member of the New England
Historic Genealogical Society, and his relations with this
society were intimate and impnrtant until death. For ten
years he was its Treasurer, and afterwards Chairman of its
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Finance Committee ; he was also a Director, Vice-president
for New Hampshire, and member of the Publishing Com-
mittee. For nine years he was Chairman and Treas-
urer of the “Register Club,” conducting gratuitously the
business affairs of the ¢ Historical and Genealogical Reg-
ister.” He was active also in the measures which secured
the Society’s House, and well deserved to have his portrait
placed, as it is, in the Hall, among the leading benefac-
tors of the institution. To no one, except the president,
the Hon. Marshall P. Wilder, is the Society so much in-
debted for the success of that important enterprise.

He died at the home of his son, in Boston, April 10,
1876, aged sixty-five.

On the 1st of January, 1864, Mr. Towne gave to the
New England Historic Genealogical Society the sum of one
thousand dollars, to be placed in the hands of trustees and
to be invested and known as the “ Towne Memorial Fund,”
the principal and interest to be kept separate and apart
from the other funds of the Society, and the income thereof
to be devoted to the publication of memorial volumes of
deceased members whenever the Society should deem it
expedient. In 1870, Mr. Towne presented another sum
of one thousand dollars to be added to the original amount.
At the beginning of the year 1878, the fund having in-
creased to upwards of four thousand dollars, the President,
the Hon. Marshall P. Wilder, in his annual address to the
Society recommended that the work of preparing a vol-
ume should be commenced at once. The Board of Direc-
tors, to whom the subject was referred, recommended
that a special committee should be appointed to prepare
and print a volume of memorials of deceased members;
and, at the meeting in March, 1878, a Committee was
chosen, which proceeded at once to the discharge of their
duty, making choice of Mr. John Ward Dean as Chair-
man, and Mr. John Gardner White as Secretary.

The action and purpose of the Committee can be best
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explained by giving here a copy of the Circular, addressed
in the spring of 1878 to the friends of deceased members,
whose aid was sought in the preparation of memorials.

The late WiLLiAM B. TowNE having established a fund, entitled the
TownE MexoriaL Fonp, for the publication of memoirs of deceased
members of the New England Historic Genealogical Society, it is now
proposed to begin the publication of these biographies in a series of vol-
umes. The first volume will be issued as soon as sufficient material shall
be prepared. The Committee charged with this duty will look for the
preparation of fit memorials, preferably to one of the family, or some
other competent person, who may be expected to write from full knowl-
edge and sympathy.

Their design is to make the work a positive contribution to the history
of the times, not consisting of mere eulogies, nor of statistical and color-
less abstracts; but, in special consistency with the objects of the Society,
they desire that these memorials should be models of full and accurate
detail. The Committee, therefore, suggest to all who are kind enough to
aid them that the following items are desirable for completeness.

They have no wish to prescribe the exact order and method in which
these shall be incorporated into the narrative, but choose to leave this to
the skill and taste of the various writers.

1. Name in full.

2. Names of both parents in full, with the mother’s name before mar-
riage. Ancestry to be limited to a single line, paternal and maternal.

8. Birth, Town, County, and State; also, year, month, and day.

4. Education, academic, collegiate, professional, or business. Dates of
membership and of graduation, and names of institutions where educated.

5. Residences. I’rofessional or business employments. Exact dates
of beginning and of successive changes. In case of clergymen, full dates
of ordination, installations, and dismissions, of what denomination, when
and where settled. If a lawyer, when and where admitted to the bar.

6. Offices, honors, and titles, with exact date; also societies of which
he was a member.

7. Publications, book or pamphlet, exact titles and dates; also, impor-
tant contributions to periodicals or other works, with notices of manuscripts
left by him.

8. Precise references to other biographies, obituaries, eulogies, funeral
sermon, or any publication illustrating his life and character, noting when
a portrait accompanies such publication.

9. Incidents, hereditary tendencies, peculiarities, tastes, and particularly
anecdotes illustrative of his habits and course of life, or which will give
interest to a biographical sketch,
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10. Marriage, full date, wife’s full name and residence before marriage,
with her parents’ names. Names of children in the order of their birth,
with date of birth, and of death, when it has occurred.

In case of wife’s death, the date in full, and the same facts of any sub-
sequent marriage.

11, Death, date, place, and disease or other cause,

As a general guide to writers, an average of eight or ten octavo pages,
consisting of thirty-nine lines of the same type [small pica] as this cir-
cular, may be suggested.

The value of these communications will depend on their accuracy.

It is hoped that the first volume may be put to press early next year.

JOHN WARD DEAN, Chairman,

HENRY A. HAZEN, C""'o':'”“
WILLIAM B. TRASK, Pubrion

D. T. V. HUNTOON,
ARTHUR M. ALGER, o

Memorials.
J. GARDNER WHITE, Secretary,

New ENcLAND HisTorRiC GENEALOGICAL SOCIETY,
Society’s House, 18 Somerset Street, Boston.

It is due to all concerned for the Committee to add
that the Secretary, Mr. White, has had the supervision
of the work, and has conducted the correspondence. He
has also prepared the memorials for the press. Mr. Hunt-
oon, another member, has had charge of the printing
and the correction of the press. The Chairman, Mr. Dean,
and the other members have assisted in various ways.

The Committee have decided that the memorials shall
be prepared and printed in chronological order, arranged
according to the date of death of the several members.
The present volume contains biographies of all the mem-
bers who died during the first eight years of the Society’s
existence, — from 1845 to 1852 inclusive.

The hope expressed in the circular that a volume might
be ready for the press in 1879, has not been realized.
The delay has been occasioned principally by the diffi-
culty which the Committee encountered in securing
adequate memorials of members whose deaths occurred
almost a generation ago. Friends, familiar with their
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lives, had themselves passed away; and in some cases,
after long delay and correspondence, the Committee have
been compelled to use inadequate memorandums, already
in the possession of the Society. This embarrassment
will be relieved somewhat as the series advances.

The Index has been prepared by Mr. Oliver Bliss
Stebbins of Boston, a member of the Society, and the
Committee are indebted to him for the admirable and
painstaking manner in which he has executed the work.

The Committee submit this volume to the Society and
the public, confident that it will prove a useful contribu-
tion to our biographical literature.

JOHN WARD DEAN.
HENRY A. HAZEN.

J. GARDNER WHITE.
WILLIAM B. TRASK.
DANIEL T. V. HUNTOON.
ARTHUR M. ALGER.



WILLIAM DURKEE WILLIAMSON

Mg. WirLiaMsoN, the eldest son of George and Mary
(Foster) Williamson, was born in Canterbury, Connecticut,
on the 31st of July, 1779. The name given him was
in affectionate remembrance of his mother’s maternal
grandfather, William Durkee, and of her eldest brother
of the same name, who had gone into the Revolutionary
service, and at that time was supposed to be dead.
Through his father, he was probably a descendant of one
of the earliest settlers of Massachusetts. Prince and
other historians mention a ¢ Master Williamson,” who
accompanied Governor Winslow when the first treaty was
made with Massasoit, at Plymouth, in March, 1621. His
name does not appear in the list of passengers by the
Mayflower, nor among the signers of the Combination
which was formed at Cape Cod, in November, 1620. At
the date when this reference to him is made, the May-
flower had not returned to England, nor had any other
vessel arrived. That ‘“ Williamson” is a misprint for
¢ Allerton,” in Mourt’s Relation, as has been conjectured
by several writers, may be possible, and even probable,
but that is the most that can be said about it. A family
tradition has long existed, that three brothers namned
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Williamson came from England soon after the landing of
the Pilgrims, and that one of them, who settled in the
Old Colony, was the ancestor of the subject of this sketch,
while the other brothers, of whom Dr. Hugh Williamson,
author of the History of North Carolina, and Chancellor
Williamson, of New Jersey, were descendants, went to
Virginia. Nothing definite, however, is known of them.

The most remote ancestor from whom the family
descent can be distinctly traced is Timothy Williamson, a
freeman of Plymouth Colony, in 1647, and a soldier in
King Philip’s Indian war, from Marshfield, Massachusetts.
His relationship to Sir Joseph Williamson, Secretary of
State under Charles II., has been claimed, but without
authority. A coat of arms, said to have been his and still
preserved, bears the same crest as that of the distinguished
statesman. He died in 1676, leaving four sons— Timothy,
who died unmarried ; Caleb, who lived in Hartford, Con-
necticut, and had no issue ; Nathan, who died before June,
1718, leaving two sons, Timothy, Samuel, and six daugh-
ters; George, born in 16756 —and five daughters, Mary,
Joanna, Experience, Martha, and Abigail.

George Williamson, last named, the great-grandfather
of William D., lived successively in Marshfield, Duxbury,
Rochester, Truro, Harwich, Eastham, and Middleboro’.
He died in Middleboro’ in 1742. His children were two
sons — George, who left no issue, and Caleb—and five
daughters, Thankful, Hepzibah, Deborah, Mary,and Beulah.
Caleb was born in Harwich, in 1715, married Sarah Ran-
som, of Middleboro’, and died in Canterbury, Connecticut,
in 1795. He had nine children, viz.: Sarah and Nathan,
both of whom died unmarried; Caleb, who married Mercy
Jackson, by whom he had eight children; Robert, who
died childless; Ebenezer, who married Hannah Foster, of
Canterbury, and resided at Pittston, Maine, and Brooklyn,
Connecticut, dying at Brooklyn, in 1830, aged eighty,
and leaving no issue; Mary, who married Captain Seth
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Tobey, of New Bedford, Massachusetts, where she died
about 1800; George; Thankful, who married William
Paddock, of Malone, New York ; and Joseph, who died at
Richfield, New York, in 1809.

George Williamson, last named, the father of William
D. Williamson, was born in Middleboro’ on the 15th of
January, 1754, and afterwards removed with his father’s
family to Canterbury. He served in the Revolution, and
participated in the battle of White Plains. After peace
was declared he was captain of an artillery company in
Brooklyn. In 1793 he transferred his residence to Am-
herst, Massachusetts, where he cultivated a farm until
1807, when he removed to Woodstock, Vermont, of which
town he was repeatedly a Selectman. Thirteen years
afterwards he became a resident of Bangor, Maine, and
died there on the 10th of October, 1822, aged sixty-
eight. He was a man of strong native powers, of sound
judgment, and of high moral rectitude. His own limited
advantages, which he always regretted, made him a con-
stant and zealous advocate of education, and induced him
to bestow it upon his sons to the extent of his resources.
His wife, the daughter of William and Hannah (Durkee)
Foster, of Canterbury, born on the 17th of Novem-
ber, 1758, was of the fifth generation in descent from
Abraham Foster, who emigrated from Exeter, England, to
Ipswich, Massachusetts, about 1635. Soon after the peace
of 1783, her father removed to Whitehall, New York,
where he died on the 15th of May, 1825, aged ninety
years. She survived her husband ten years, and died
at Belfast, Maine, on the 16th of January, 1832, aged
seventy-three. For over half a century she was a devoted
member of the Congregational Church. By her superior
intellect, her practical benevolence, and her exemplary
piety, she attained the highest esteem of all who knew
her. She was a constant reader, and of so retentive a
memory that she could turn to any passage of Scrip-
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ture without a concordance, and repeat correctly all of
Dr. Watts’s hymns and psalms.

The parents of William D. were married on the 9th
of July, 1778. Their other children were Aseneth, who
married Jacob Childs, of Constable, New York, where
she died in 1862, aged eighty; Robert, who died at Am-
herst, on the 1st of August, 1803, aged nineteen; George,
who resided at Pittston, Maine, where he died on the 1st
of February, 1860, aged seventy-three; Joseph, a lawyer,
and a graduate at the University of Vermont in 1812,
who resided at Belfast, Maine, from 1816 to the time of
his death, on the 30th of September, 1854, at the age
of sixty-five; Mary, who married Dr. Roswell Bates,
of Fort Covington, New York, and died on the 9th
of August, 1828, aged thirty-five; Hannah, who died un-
married, on the 2d of August, 1803; and Sarah, who
married Dr. Ora F. Paddock, of Fort Covington, New
York, where she died on the 17th of February, 1829,
aged thirty years.

During boyhood young Williamson had all the advan-
tages that the common schools of Amherst, kept only in
the winter, could afford. A taste for books soon became
developed in him, and at the age of thirteen he had mas-
tered the Latin Grammar without the aid of a teacher.
Soon after he attended a grammar school, of which Jesse
Olds, a graduate of Harvard College, was preceptor. The
moderate pecuniary circumstances of his father required
the aid of William, as the oldest son, toward the support
of a large family, and such aid, it was found, could be
rendered more profitably abroad than at home. There-
fore, for two successive seasons, he obtained employment
on a farm in Brooklyn, Connecticut, returning to Amherst
each winter, and resuming his studies. During the sum-
mer of 1797 he worked on his father’s farm, which
included a portion of the hill where Amherst College now
stands. A permanent injury to one of his arms, induced



WILLIAM DURKEE WILLIAMSON 17

by hard labor, determined him to obtain, if possible, a
liberal education, and that summer was the last in which
he followed the plough. Yet during those years of toil
he acquired habits of industry and practical knowledge
that were of great service in the subsequent pursuits of
life.

The following autumn he left home to seek his fortune,
provided with testimonials of good character from the
Selectmen, and from the Rev. David Parsons, long a min-
ister of Amherst. At Whately, ten miles distant, he was
engaged as a teacher, his compensation being seven dol-
lars and fifty cents per month. In the spring he took
charge of a private school at Pittston, New York, where
he remained nearly two years. All his wages not required
for clothing were cheerfully paid to his father. During
the winter of 1799 he taught the district school in Am-
herst, and resumed his classical studies, reciting to John
and Solomon Strong, students at law in the office of their
father, the Hon. Simeon Strong, soon after one of the
justices of the Supreme Judicial Court. Having com-
pleted his preparatory course at Deerfield Academy, he
entered Williams College as a Freshman in October, 1800,
being then a few months over twenty-one years of age.
In the four succeeding winters of his college life he taught
school at home. Notwithstanding these absences, by con-
stant application, he was able to maintain a high rank in
his class.

His position in college does not appear to have been an
" agreeable one. In those days politics had more influence
than at present, and party lines were strictly drawn, even
in the institutions of learning. At Williamstown all the
faculty and a large proportion of the students were Fed-
eralists, while he was a Democrat. Partisanship was
carried so far as to exclude him from speaking at the
Junior exhibition, at which others, his inferiors in scholar-
ship, received appointments. He resented the affront,

2
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and absented himself from college exercises. For this he
was summoned before the authorities. He replied to
their reprimand that he had been constant at prayers, at
recitations, and at all places of duty, and had never trans-
gressed any of the college laws, but if he was as poor a
scholar as some who had received honors he had better
be dismissed and return home. To this President Fitch
answered, ¢ Williamson, stop! You know you have been
indulged in long absences. Had you remained here con-
stantly, you would occupy a higher standing; you have
done wrong, and are fined three shillings.” Not a very
great wrong, thought he, if measured by the penalty.
This occurrence determined him to remove from Williams
College, and he at once proceeded to enroll himself as a
student at Brown University. He felt well satisfied with
the change. The surroundings at Providence were more
in accordance with his tastes; his fellow-students were
- more cordial and refined than those he had left, and there
was entire liberality in politics. He graduated on the
5th of September, 1804, with the highest honors, having
an oration in the afternoon, and in the forenoon “a
syllogistic dispute,” with three others, the best scholars in
the class. The subject of the oration was “The Soul;”
that of the dispute was this question: ¢ Would not mar-
ried people be as happy if their partners, instead of being
chosen by themselves, were selected by civil authority ?”

Upon leaving college he entered the office of the Hon.
Samuel F. Dickinson of Ambherst, as a law student, paying
him at the rate of fifty dollars per year for tuition. Sub-
sequently, he pursued his studies with the Hon. Samuel
Thatcher, of Warren, Maine, and completed them with
Jacob McGaw, Esq., long an eminent lawyer at Bangor.
He was admitted to practice as an attorney in the Court
of Common Pleas at Castine, which was then the shire
town of the county of Hancock, on the 12th of No-
vember, 1807. His admission as a counsellor in the
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Supreme Judicial Court did not take place until three
years later. At that period the profession of law was
maintained at a high standard. An attorney or counsellor
was regarded as bound in honor to indemnify his clients
for all losses or damages which were occasioned by negli-
gence, or want of legal knowledge. The rules required
that nine years, at least, be devoted to literary and pro-
fessional pursuits, to qualify a person for admission to the
Supreme Court as an attorney, and’ two years’ practice
therein to qualify him for admission as a counsellor.
Believing that at no distant period Bangor was destined
to become a place of great importance, he at once estab-
lished himself there. With a view to a future residence
Daniel Webster had visited the spot a few years before,
attracted, as he said, by the favorable position which the
slightest glance on the map must satisfy every one that it
occupies. Situated at the head of navigation, on a broad
and deep river, sixty miles from the sea, in the centre
of an immense undeveloped country, it offered superior
inducements to an active and industrious young man.
His success was so rapid that, in 1812, he was able to pur-
chase and occupy the estate at the westerly corner of
Main and Middle Streets, which for over thirty years
remained his home. On the westerly side of the front
yard stood his square office, of a single story, with its
walls lined with books, and a large open fireplace in the
rear. This office still remains; the house has been re-
moved, and its site is covered by a brick block.

Although he had been so short a time at the bar,
or. the 14th of January, 1808, he was commissioned, by
Governor Sullivan, County Attorney for the County of
Hancock. This turned his attention to the study of crim-
inal law, and brought him to confront the ablest lawyers.
Amid the changes effected by the raging party spirit of
the times, the law under which he was appointed was
repealed and again revived, when he was reappointed,
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on the 3d of September, 1811, to the same office. This
he held, although under a Federal administration, until
1816, when Penobscot County was formed. On the 27th
of November, 1809, he received the appointment of post-
master of Bangor, a trust which continued in his hands
until the separation of Maine from Massachusetts, in 1820.

The political career of Mr. Williamson commenced in
1816, when he was nominated as State Senator, but failed
of an election. The senatorial district was large, and
three candidates were voted for on the same ticket.
Judge Martin Kinsley, of Hampden, an old and well-
known man, who had been Senator during the previous
year, received enough votes from his friends to defeat an
election by the people, and the General Court, which had
a Federal majority, filled the vacancy by choosing the
Hon. William Crosby, of Belfast, the opposing candidate.
During the succeeding four years Mr. Williamson was
returned by large majorities. The Senate then contained
forty members, nine of whom were from the District of
Maine. While a member of that body he was for three
years Chairman of the ¢ Committee on Eastern Lands.”
In the project of a separation of Maine from Massachu-
setts, which was effected in 1820, after long agitation, and
after the measure had been thrice submitted to the
people, he was an early, leading, and active agent. His
wise influence in effecting an amicable dismemberment of
the political ties which had so long bound the great
Province of Maine to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts,
and in securing an equitable division of the public prop-
erty was conspicuous, and recognized by his immediate
election as a member of the first Senate of the new State.
Appointed to several of the most important committees
of that body, before the spring session closed, he was
chosen as its President. The existence of the first Legis-
lature of Maine covered a period of seventeen months,
from the last Wednesday of May, 1820, to the first
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Wednesday of January, 1822, during which there were
two protracted sessions. The labors of both branches
were arduous and incessant, embracing, as they did, the
codification of the laws and a complete organization of
government. By his legislative experience and legal
knowledge, Mr. Williamson was largely instrumental in
shaping the policy of the new State.

The Hon. William King, the first Governor, having
been appointed a Commissioner under the Spanish Treaty,
Mr. Williamson, as President of the Senate, became acting
and constitutional chief magistrate. This position he
held from the 28th of May, 1821, to the 6th of De-
cember of the same year, when he resigned, in order toe
take his seat in the Seventeenth Congress, to which, from
the district embracing the eastern portion of the State,
he had been elected the September before. He reached
Washington soon after the session commenced. Those
now accustomed to make the journey from Bangor in less
than forty-eight hours may be surprised to learn that it
occupied him nine consecutive days, by stage, at an ex-
pense of sixty dollars.

His letters and fragments of a diary kept while in Con-
gress give interesting descriptions of Clay, Calhoun, John
Quincy Adams, Randolph, Benton, Marshall, Wirt, and
others, whose names have passed into history. In the
Supreme Court of the United States he heard Pinckney
and Webster speak against each other: ¢the former
having abundance of gesture and earnestness; the latter
logical and systematic, his argument being like a limpid,
undisturbed fountain, in which we see objects distinctly
to the bottom.” He remarks that the best lawyers have
copious minutes, to which they constantly refer, and that
“the judges are very grave, patient, and reserved; not
uttering in a whole day half as many words as a country
magistrate in a petty trial.” His position at Washington,
both socially and politically, seems to have been a prom-
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inent one. Coming directly from the gubernatorial chair
of a new and rapidly increasing State, and having always
been of decided Republican principles, he was received
with the highest respect and cordiality. His diary records
the numerous levees and dinner-parties which he attended
as well as the prompt and industrious care which the
interests of his constituents received at his hands. I rise
early and retire late,” he writes in a familiar letter, ¢ and
indeed every portion of my public life is laborious.
Others have the faculty here, as well as in State legisla-
tion, to slide along easily, do little, and be responsible for
little. But with me it is the reverse.” The few speeches
which he made bear marks of careful preparation, and
were fortified by authorities and statistics. One, upon
the duty of the government to protect the commerce and
coast of Maine by naval and military works, caused the
passage of a resolve requesting the President to order a
survey of Penobscot River, with reference to erecting a
fortification, which measure afterwards led to the con-
struction of Fort Knox, at the Narrows, opposite Bucks-
port. The importance of such defences he could advocate
from personal experience. Only eight years before, when
the British invested Bangor, his dwelling-house was occu-
pied by the enemy, his garden despoiled, and he, with
other citizens, compelled to acknowledge themselves pris-
oners of war. He seldom, however, addressed the House.
1 have said nothing upon the Bankrupt Bill,” he wrote,
“nor shall I. Nothing is more important here than to
know when to speak, and when to keep silence. I find
that those whose conduct is consistent, whose judgment is
good, and whose speeches are few and concise, have the
most influence.” The Northeastern Boundary dispute
began to be agitated during his Congressional term, and
he mentions a long interview upon the subject with Mr.
Adams, the Secretary of State, who loaned him the plans
and arguments in the Department concerning it.
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Increasing domestic cares and the demands of business
induced Mr. Williamson to decline a second nomination
for Congress, and in March, 1823, he resumed the practice
of his profession at Bangor. The following year he was
appointed Judge of Probate, a position which he occupied
for sixteen years, until disqualified by a constitutional
change in the tenure of judicial officers. In 1834, and
again in 1839, he was a Commissioner for examining the
condition of the banks of Maine. For several years he
was President of the People’s Bank of Bangor. Under a
resolve of the Legislature of 1840 he was selected as
Chairman of a Commission to visit the reformatory insti-
tutions of all the Northern States, with a view to the
improvement of the Maine State Prison. The result of
his investigations was embodied in a printed report, which
was instrumental in effecting salutary reforms. This was
the last public station that he occupied.

Mr. Williamson began collecting materials for his His-
tory of Maine in 1817 when a member of the Massa-
chusetts Senate. In Boston the libraries of the Athensum
and of the Historical Society, as also the rich treasures
contained in the State archives, were placed at his service.
Volumes of manuscripts, copied exclusively by his own
hand, bear witness to the indefatigable research and per-
severing labor which, in the midst of legislative duties,
he found time to bestow upon his undertaking. It would
seem that, for many years, he occupied every leisure
moment when abroad in transcribing some historical fact,
or in verifying some date from authorities not accessible
at home. Bangor, the place of his residence, contained
no public library, and his own collection of books was
limited, both in number and in value. While acting as
Governor, and when in Congress, he availed himself of
the facilities which these positions afforded to increase his
store. Nor did his efforts cease when he withdrew from
public life. He visited all portions of Maine, drawing
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information from every source, whether contained in the
almost illegible but invaluable records of the early pro-
prietors, or the obscure traditions of the nearly extinct
Indian tribes. In 1820, he addressed to some prominent
citizen of every town in the State a printed circular
soliciting detailed answers to a long series of questions
concerning settlements, lands, wealth, religion, literature,
monuments of antiquity, and other subjects of interest.
These answers, about two hundred in number, in some
instances comprising of themselves quite respectable town
histories, embraced a large mass of facts and incidents,
which otherwise would have been lost or forgotten.
Many of the originals are preserved in the library of
the Maine Historical Society.

It was not until 1824 that his plan of compiling a
history of the new State assumed & definite form. He
then commenced arranging the materials at hand, and for
the next six years devoted every hour which could be
spared from sleep or business to the undertaking. In
1832 the work was given to the public. Up to this time
but few books relative to the history of Maine had ap-
peared. In 1789 General Benjamin Lincoln, who had
become interested in eastern lands through General Knox,
published a pamphlet containing fourteen pages, entitled
“Observations on the Climate, Soil, and Value of the
Eastern Counties in the District of Maine.” It was re
printed in the Collections of the Massachusetts Historical
Society. Another quarto pamphlet on the same subject
was published in 1793, with particular reference to bring-
ing the two million acres of land purchased by William
Bingham, of Philadelphia, into notice. Two years later,
Judge Sullivan followed with his ¢ History of the District
of Maine,” an octavo volume of four hundred and twenty-
one pages, which was a work of importance and of value.
A pamphlet of one hundred and two pages, entitled “A
History of Acadia, Penobscot Bay and River,” by Joseph
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Whipple, of Bangor, appeared in 1816; and the same
year Moses Greenleaf published his ¢ Statistical View of
Maine,” which he reproduced in octavo form in 1829.
The year after the separation, Samuel Freeman did good
service in giving to the public “ Extracts from the Jour-
nal of the Rev. Thomas Smith,” who was for over a half-
century minister of Portland; as did the Rev. Jonathan
Greenleaf by his ¢ Ecclesiastical Sketches” of the State.
In 1827 William White published a small History of Bel-
fast, which was followed in 1830 by George Folsom’s
History of Saco and Biddeford; and the following year
the Maine Historical Society published their first volume,
containing the first part of the History of Portland, by
William Willis. The second part, completing the work,
appeared the next year. These three town histories were
the earliest, in a separate form, which had issued from the
press in Maine, and with the other mentioned works com-
prised all the works of a historical nature relating to
Maine which then existed. The appearance of Judge
Williamson’s elaborate work, therefore, constituted a new
era in its local historical literature. The first edition of the
History of Maine filled two octavo volumes of six hundred
and sixty and seven hundred and fourteen pages respec-
tively. One thousand copies were printed, three hundred
and fifty of which were purchased by the State, and distrib-
uted to each town and organized plantation within its limits.
A second edition, with an index, and some additional
matter, accompanied by a portrait of the author, and an
engraving of the capitol at Augusta, was published in 1839.

The publication of this work at once gave Judge Wil-
liamson a high reputation. It was favorably noticed by
the press, and the prediction of the North American
Review that it would “long be regarded as a standard
history,” has been verified by the lapse of nearly a half-
century, during which it has maintained its pre-eminence.
In point of literary execution the work is far from being
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faultless; the style is not perspicuous, and the narrative is
too frequently encumbered with matter more properly
belonging to the notes than to the text. But it was writ-
ten in the midst of political duties and professional em-
ployments, with but little opportunity for condensation or
correction. Upon retiring from active business the author
had intended to prepare a revised edition. Ill-health,
however, prevented an accomplishment of this purpose,
and the work remains, as it originally appeared, a simple,
unvarnished record of facts. In the language of the Hon.
William Willis, “We could not now spare it, and the
student of the history of Maine could not do without it.
This State and all the States are greatly his debtor fo1
this fruit of his unwearied and abundant labor. How low
do the rewards of his political life sink when compared to
this enduring monument! His political acts have perished
in the using: the history will be his perpetual record.”

Besides the History of Maine the following is believed
to be an accurate list of all his productions that have
appeared in print: —

Law and Lawyers, Jewish, Roman, English, and Amer-
ican. Published in the American Quarterly Register, XV.
31, 253, 397.

Notice of Orono, a Chief at Penobscot. Published in the
Collections of the Massachusetts Historical Society, Third
Series, IX. 82.

Indian Tribes in New England. Published in the Col-
lections of the Massachusetts Historical Society, Third
Series, IX. 92.

The Lutherans. Published in the American Quarterly
Register, XIII. 162.

Annals of the City of Bangor. Published in the His-
torical Magazine, Third Series, III. 8, 86, 164.

Condition of the Religious Denominations of Maine at
the Close of the Revolution. Published in Collections
of the Maine Historical Society, VII. 217.
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With the exception of occasional contributions to news-
papers, Judge Williamson published but little during the
last few years of his life. His fondness for statistics and
biography never diminished, and a large mass of unar-
ranged materials found among his manuscripts indicates
an intention, which illness probably compelled him to
abandon, of preparing historical and biographical sketches
of the lawyers and ministers of Maine. He constantly
maintained a correspondence with many eminent men of
the country, whose acquaintance he had formed while in
public life. A letter to him from John Adams, about the
Massachusetts Declaration of Rights, is frequently cited at
the present day.

The honorary degree of Master of Arts was conferred
upon Judge Williamson in 1820. He was one of the
founders of the Maine Historical Society, which became
incorporated in 1822; and in 1836 was chosen a Corre-
sponding Member of the Massachusetts Historical Society.
He was elected an Honorary Member of the Pilgrim
Society, Plymouth, in 1838 ; of the New York Historical
Society in 1839; of the Connecticut Historical Society in
1840; a Corresponding Member of the Statistical Asso-
ciation, Boston, in 1840, and an Honorary Member of
the Northern Academy of Arts and Sciences, in 1842.
He was chosen a Corresponding Member of the New Eng-
land Historic Genealogical Society on the 6th of July, 1845,
a few months before his death, and sent in his acceptance
on the 1st of September. The plan of the association
accorded with his own tastes and pursuits, and in his
letter of acceptance he expressed an intention, if health
permitted, to contribute towards its laudable purposes.

Judge Williamson was first married on the 10th of
June, 1806, at Amherst, Massachusetts, while a student at
law, to Miss Jemima Montague Rice, the youngest daugh-
ter of Josiah and Submit Rice, who had been adopted into
the family of her uncle, Gen. Zebina Montague, of
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Amherst. She died at Bangor on the 22d of June, 1822,
aged thirty-six years. By this marriage he had five
children, viz.: Caroline J., who married, first, Nathaniel
Haynes, a lawyer, of Bangor, and, second, John Chapman,
of Boston, where she now resides; Harriet Hannah, who
married Paul R. Hazeltine, of Belfast, Maine; William
Foster, who died on the 6th of September, 1832, aged
cighteen, while a member of the Junior Class of Bowdoin
College ; Mary Celia, who married, first, Richard W. Shap-
leigh, and, second, Livingston Livingston, a lawyer of
New York; and Frances Augusta, who married Mayo
Hazeltine, of Boston, where she died on the 31st of
March, 1847. His second wife, to whom he was married
on the 3d of June, 1823, was Susan Ester, daughter of
Judge Phinehas White, of Putney, Vermont. She died
on the 9th of March, 1824, aged twenty-one years. The
following year he married Mrs. Clarissa (Emerson) Wig-
gin, widow of Joseph Wiggin, and the daughter of
Edward and Abigail Emerson, of York, Maine. This
estimable lady still survives, residing at York, the home
of her childhood, at the advanced age of ninety-one, still
retaining her faculties, both mental and physical, in an
unusual degree. By his last two marriages there were no
children. The only grandchildren of Judge Williamson
now living are Henry Williamson Haynes of Boston, re-
cently Professor of Greek in the University of Vermont;
Mayo Williamson Hazeltine, of New York; and Philip
Livingston, of Fort Lee, New Jersey, a student at Columbia
College, New York.

When Mr. Williamson began his residence at Bangor,
the township contained a population of about seven hun-
dred, and was included in the county of Hancock, then
extending from Canada to the sea. Castine was the shire
town, and a single term of the Supreme Court, attended
by a majority of the judges, was annually held there.
Professional business, consequent upon the settlement of
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a new country, was large and increasing. Before a quar-
ter of a century had elapsed, with a rapidity almost
unparalleled at the present day, the little village had
expanded to a city of ten thousand inhabitants, comprising
an unusual number of active, energetic men engaged in
large enterprises, and extending their commerce to all
parts of the civilized world. The Bar was not inferior in
ability to other members of this remarkable community,
including as it did, at one time, Edward Kent, Jonathan
P. Rogers, John Appleton, Jonas Cutting, William P. Fes-
senden, John B. Hill, Albert G. Jewett, and George F.
Shepley. Mr. Williamson and Mr. McGaw, then two of
the oldest lawyers, soon left the field to the younger men
in the profession, retiring from practice at the courts,
although continuing to act as counsellors. The remainder
of his life was passed in the pursuits of his favorite his-
torical studies and in the companionship of his books.

Although it is as a historian that the name and fame of
Judge Williamson will descend to posterity, yet the
records and reports of the courts attest his eminence as a
lawyer, no less than do the varied and almost uninter-
rupted public stations, which for thirty years were
bestowed upon him, bear witness to his successful career
. in the public service. Asa lawyer his mind was thor-
oughly disciplined in the severe school of special pleading,
before the days of digests and abridgments, when prin-
ciples rather than mere decisions were relied upon.
While not an eloquent advocate, in the language used by
another, “at the bar he was energetic and able ; zealous
for his clients; quick of apprehension; rather solid than
copious in learning; careful in preparing his cases, and |
impatient of opposition.”” When County Attorney, few
excelled him in criminal law. His intimate knowledge of
the law relating to real property, acquired by careful
study and practical investigation, gave great weight to
his opinions on that subject.
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As a Judge of Probate he is said to have been courteous
und impartial, and few appeals were ever taken from his
decrees. A recent writer remarks that “this office is not
appreciated by the public. It should always be filled by
some learned, upright lawyer; for though the duties are
executed in a noiseless manner, and without jury or crier,
yet it has been estimated that in thirty years nearly all
the estates in a county pass under the administration ot
the Probate Judiciary.” The rights of the widow and of
the orphan were always felt to be secure under his faith-
ful care.

Mr. Williamson was always a man of deep religious
impressions. In 1803, while in college, he became united
with the Congregational Church in Amherst, and in 1811
he was one of the founders of the First Congregational
Church in Bangor. Of that church and of the Second
Church, which sprang from it, he continued a devoted
member until his death. Public and charitable move-
ments found in him a cordial supporter. At Washington
he was President of a Colonization Society. He was
always active in promoting the welfare of the educational
institutions of his own State, and for several years served
as one of the Overseers of Bowdoin College and of the
Theological Seminary at Bangor.

He lived through important periods of our history, and
was a close observer of passing events. He had witnessed
the erection of a new State, the development of new
resources and improvements, and his own village grew
beneath his eyes to be one of the most flourishing cities
of the Union. No man ever contemplated with more
delight the prosperity which surrounded him. Early
imbued with the love of liberty, he religiously cherished
it to his latest breath, and his political preferences were
something more than the mere ambition of the day,—
they were founded on an honest and abiding sense of
right. In all the duties of life, whether public or private,



WILLIAM DURKEE WILLIAMSON 31

he ever acted from the sincerest and most conscientious
motives. No man had less duplicity of character, none
was ever more devoted to his friends, and none ever
received warmer friendship in return. Gratitude in him
was a sacred duty never to be relinquished, and those
only who were best acquainted with him knew the depth
of his feelings and the warmth of his heart.

Judge Williamson died of a lingering and painful dis-
ease of the stomach at Bangor, on the 27th of May, 1846,
aged sixty-six years. The Penobscot Bar attended his
funeral as mourners, and passed resolutions expressing ite
respect for his memory.



BENJAMIN SHURTLEFF

Dr. BENJAMIN SHURTLEFF, of Boston, was the oldest
son of Benjamin Shurtleff, the second of that name, and
was a descendant in the fifth generation from William
Shurtleff, who was killed by lightning at Marshfield in
1666, — the progenitor of all who bear the name in New
England, and perhaps of all others in this country. All
that is known of William and his probable origin has been
published by the late Nathaniel Bradstreet Shurtleff,
M. D.,in a tract entitled ¢ Brief Notice of William Shurt-
leff of Marshfield. Boston. Privately Printed, MDCCCL.”
From the facts therein stated it seems to be probable that
William Shurtleff came to Plymouth before 1635, from
Ecclesfield, a village in Yorkshire, England, about five
miles from Sheffield and about twenty from Scrooby, the
early gathering-place of the Pilgrims before they went to
Holland. In this village, at a seat called Whitley Hall,
once resided the only family of which we have any knowl-
edge, who bore the name, previous to the appearance of
William Shurtleff, or any other person of the name in
America. The name first appears as Chiercliffe, then
Chyrecliffe, Shiercliffe, and afterwards Shirtleff. The
present spelling was used by a grandson of the Ameri-
can progenitor, and has been generally adopted by the
family.

Of the other ancestors of Benjamin Shurtleff in this
country, eight came in the Mayflower, viz. Isaac Allerton,
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his wife Mary and daughter Mary; Francis Cooke;
Stephen Hopkins, his wife Elizabeth and daughter
Damaris; and Richard Warren: three came in the For-
tune, — Robert Cushman and his son Thomas, and Robert
Hickes: eight came in the Ann,— Thomas Clarke; Jacob
Cooke and his mother Esther; Robert Bartlett; Margaret
and Phoebe, the wife and daughter of Robert Hickes;
and Elizabeth and Mary, the wife and daughter of Richard
Warren ; — making nineteen in the first three vessels.
Besides these he was descended from the following among
the earliest Plymouth pilgrims: John Lothrop, John Shaw,
John Barnes, Thomas Bourne, William Hedge, Thomas
Lettice, Richard Masterson, Jonathan Morey, Mary Plum-
mer, Widow Mary Ring, Samuel Sturtevant, George Wat-
son, Robert Waterman, and John Wood alias Attwood.
The following chart shows his descent from the original
paternal and maternal ancestors in this country : —

WILLIAM SHURTLEFF = ELIZABETH LETTICE. JOH‘!:J‘WOOD= SARAH MASTERSON.

ias
ATTWOOD.

ABIEL SHURTLEFF = LYDIA BARNES. |
Deacon
NATHANIEL ATTWOOD = MaArRY MOREY.

|

BENJAMIX SHURTLEFF = SUSANNA CUSHMAN.
Lieutenant
NATHANIEL ATWOOD = ABIGAIL SHAW,
widow of
Samuel Lucas.

BENJAMIN SHURTLEFF, 2d — ABIGAIL ATTWOOD.

BENJAMIN SHURTLEFF, 3d.

Dr. Benjamin Shurtleff was born in that part of Plymp-
ton which is now the town of Carver, in the county of
Plymouth, on the 7th of November, 1774. He was the
oldest of a family of twelve brothers and sisters. His
mother was a woman of great strength of character as well
as of large bodily frame, and transmitted both these char-
acteristics to her son. He passed his childhood and early
youth upon the farm of his ancestors, and went for a short

time to the common schools of the town, then to a school
8
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in Plymouth, and by a course of study for forty-eight
weeks under several teachers fitted himself to enter, three
weeks in advance, the Sophomore class at Brown Uni-
versity, where he was graduated, with the reputation of a
good scholar, in 1796. After his graduation he taught
school for a time in Plymouth, but very soon began the
study of the profession to which his life was afterwards
mainly devoted. From May, 1797, to December 22, 1798,
he was at Plymouth, pursuing his medical studies under
the direction of Drs. James Thacher and Nathan Hayward.
On the 5th of February, 1799, he became Surgeon’s Mate
in the United States Navy, and set sail for the West Indies
in the United States ship Merrimack, in company with
Dr. Nathaniel Bradstreet as surgeon. The next nine
months were spent in cruising among the islands and in
the Gulf of Mexico, and on the 10th of December, 1799,
his ship arrived at Boston from Havana. On the 23d
of the same month he was appointed Surgeon, upon
" the resignation of Dr. Bradstreet, and soon returned to
the West Indies. From this time to the 30th of April,
1801, he continued in the service, when he was honorably
discharged under the Peace Establishment Act of March 3,
1801. The next year he studied with Dr. John Warren,
and attended lectures at the Harvard Medical School,
where he received the degree of Bachelor of Medicine in
1802. The same year he was made Master of Arts at
Brown and Harvard Universities, and in 1810 received
his degree of M. D. at Harvard. On the 26th of July,
1803, he married his second cousin Sally Shaw, daughter
of Ichabod Shaw of Plymouth. He -had, at this time,
already entered upon active practice in Boston as a
physician. For a few years he lived in Scott’s Court, near
Union Street (till the winter of 1810), afterwards in Han-
over Street on the site of the present ¢ Kast Building ”
(till 1831 or 1832), and still later in Tremont Street
(present No. 161), opposite the Common. When he was
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about thirty years old his health was delicate, and it was
thought that he would die of consumption; but he went
back for a while to his father’s farm, lived on a milk diet,
and fully recovered.

In his profession Dr. Shurtleff was eminently successful,
and his practice was, for many years, quite as extensive
as that of any other physician in Boston. He was “dis-
tinguished by great natural sagacity, much good-humor,
and excellent judgment.” At about sixty he began to
seek rest,and a few years later had almost entirely retired
from active practice. He died in Boston on the 12th of
April, 1847, in his seventy-third year. ‘

Dr. Benjamin Shurtleff lived in Boston very nearly all
the first half of this century. In his day everybody in
the town knew him. His appearance was marked; he
had a tall, powerful frame, slightly bowed in his later
years, a noble head and face, with handsome and expres-
sive features. Many of our older citizens remember him
well, with his bandana handkerchief about his chin, as he
drove through the streets visiting his patients. Many, too,
remember his cheering smile and pleasant voice in the
sick-room, and his kindly hand, equally ready to soothe
pain or relieve misfortune. No one knew so many chil-
dren as he did, nor was known by so many. They all
liked him, and it was seldom that his chaise had not two
or three of them in it when he drove out of town. He
was cordial and strong in his friendship, and, like many
warm-hearted men, pretty decided in his aversion. He
was a just man; exact, but by no means hard ; liking and
practising accuracy in affairs, but always charitable and
generous. “ He was methodical, industrious, and success-
ful, performing all the duties of life with fidelity and
kindness. He felt and manifested a lively interest in the
benevolent institutions of his day, and contributed gen-
erously to their support.”” He founded by a handsome
gift the college which bears his name in Upper Alton,
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Ilinois. In religion he was devout from habit and con-
viction from his youth, and in his age was an earnest hut
not intolerant member of the Baptist Church. In politics
he was always a stanch Federalist. Practical and scientific
husbandry interested him greatly, and had a large share
of his attention as long as he lived. His farms at Win-
nisimmet and North Chelsea were models. He gave a
great deal of time and thought to the improvement of the
breed of cattle and sheep in this country, and was one of
the earliest importers of Ayrshire stock. He had a strong
taste for genealogical research, and industriously gathered
a large amount of information in regard to the ancestors
of others as well as his own. His memory was wonder-
fully full and accurate, and his use of language in com-
position elegant and vigoreus. At the time of his death
he was said to be the oldest honorary graduate of Har-
vard College and the oldest physician in Suffolk County.
His membership in the New England Historic Genealogical
Society dates from November 15, 1846.

Sally Shaw, wife of Dr. Benjamin Shurtleff, was the
daughter of Ichabod and Priscilla (Attwood) Shaw of
Plymouth, was born in Plymouth, May 4, 1778, and died
in Boston, January 20, 1845.

The children of Benjamin and Sally (Shaw) Shurtleff
are as follows: —

Abby Atwood, born May 26, 1804.

Benjamin, born January 18, 1806; died August 17,
1865.

Sally Shaw, born September 5, 18(8; died August 8,
1876.

Nathaniel Bradstreet, born June 29, 1810; died Octo-
ber 17, 1874.

Ann Shaw, born February 4, 1812; died December 1,
1812.

A son who died at birth, born November 4, 1823.



JOB DURFEE

JoB DuURFEE was born in Tiverton, Rhode Island, Sep-
tember 20, 1790. He was a son of Thomas, born Novem-
ber 4, 17569, and died January 17, 1829, and of Mary,
whose maiden surname was Louden, born August 13, 1753,
and died in November, 1842.

Thomas Durfee was born and bred in Tiverton. While
yet a lad he entered the military service of the State, and
was in the battle of Rhode Island, fought August 29,
1778. At the session of the General Assembly held in
October, 1778, he was advanced to the rank of Ensign.
He seems to have acquired, without any special advan-
tages, a very good education, and after some desultory
study of the law he established himself in Tiverton as a
lawyer. He was never eminent in his profession, but he
acquired such knowledge of legal forms and principles as
sufficed for the needs of his fellow-townsmen. He repre-
sented them frequently in the General Assembly, served
occasionally in local town-offices, and from 1820 to 1829
was Chief Justice of the Court of Common Pleas for New-
port County. In politics he sided with the Republicans
against the Federalists.: But he was more a patriot than
a partisan, and taught his son to consider it a duty to be
always ready to serve his fellow-citizens. Though not a
man of learning, he had some good books in law and lit-
erature, which he carefully read and digested. He was
grave, dignified, thoughtful, with a taste for the occult
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and wonderful, shown by his dabbling in judicial astiol-
ogy.* This trait is mentioned because it seems to be
allied to the mystical proclivities of his son. Doubtless,
however, the son inherited more of this side of his mind
from his mother. She was a Newport lady, and brought
with her to her country home the gentler breeding of the
city. She was impressionable, affectionate, and devout,
and sympathized in her religious views with the Quakers,
though not of their sect. Her children, besides Job, were:
Goodwin H., born July 10, 1779, and died July 30, 1796;
Elizabeth, born October 28, 1781, married Samuel Warren,
and died April 28, 1870; Lucy, born May 18, 1784, and
died September 29, 1809; and Charles, born February 26,
1793, and died October 7,1849. Job was born in a house
on the Fall River road, about two miles north of the Stone
Bridge. Soon after he was born his father removed to
the house on Tiverton Heights, near Fort Barton, where
he resided until his death. The view from this house is
superbly beautiful. Mount Hope Bay, Seaconnet River,
and Narragansett Bay, with their shores, headlands, and
islands, dotted with homesteads, and rich with orchard,
tilth, and meadow, lie in front of it, spreading out in pic-
turesque variety of contour and grouping, north, west,
and south, opening southwardly on the ocean. With this
magnificent spectacle continually before his eyes, young
Job early acquired the strong love of nature which is so
conspicuous in his poetry, and which was always for him
a source of great enjoyment.

A few words in regard to his social environment.
Rural New England, seventy or eighty years ago, was
very different socially from what it is to-day. There
were then no railroads and no large manufactories. Agri-

* When his son Job was born he is said to have cast his horoscope, which
disclosed peril by water. His son twice narrowly escaped drowning, — ance by
the upsetting of a sail-boat, and again, after his marriage, in attempting to cross the
inlet in front of his house on the ice. The ice broke beneath him, and but for
prompt assistance he would bhave perished.
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culture was the dominant interest. Trade was less cen-
tralized then than now. Even in Tiverton there was a
considerable commerce with the West Indies. The city,
relatively to the country, was less attractive. Conse-
quently men of mind and character, capable of large
affairs, were content with rural occupations and enjoy-
ments. This was so especially at the close of the Revolu-
tion, when hundreds of officers returned to their country
homes. It was so in Tiverton. The cluster of houses
below Tiverton Heights, around Howland’s Ferry and
Bridgeport, contained the home of Benjamin Howland,
United States Senator from 1834 to 1809, and the home of
Colonel John Cooke, who had performed valuable services
in the Revolution, and was afterwards an energetic and
enterprising merchant. The large and fertile farms lying
to the north and south along the bay were owned and
tilled by strong, masterful, and prosperous men, some of
whom would have been notable in any community. Back
from the bay, in Helbon Woods, lived a ruder class, mar-
iners and day-laborers, often sensual and improvident, but
racy with indigenous humor and eccentricity. The pub-
lic school and the newspaper have been great educators,
but they have educated too entirely away the luxuriant
individuality of the olden times. Young Durfee grew up
when the new order was beginning. He had himself a
quick eye for personal peculiarities, and, while yet a boy,
indulged his poetical vein in comic delineations of actual
persons and events. He used to say the men of his youth
resembled the characters in Shakspeare and Scott, and
their descendants were insipid in comparison with them.
Thomas Durfee was a man of moderate means, and
could not give his son a liberal education without close
economy. He often required the services of his son on
the little farm from which he drew a part of his support.
There was ho classical school in the neighborhood. The
son had himself to earn a portion of the money required
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to prepare him for college. His progress in scholarship
was therefore slow, being embarrassed by many obstacles.
But he was sound in mind and body, full of hope and
energy, so that difficulties were not discouragements. In
his later years he looked back to those days of mingled
toil and study as the happiest of his life. And indeed his
experience was neither exceptional nor without its advan-
tages. Such an experience gives the mind a practical cast,
and is a great safeguard against bookish illusions.

In 1809, after some preparatory study in Bristol, Mr.
Durfee entered Brown University, then under the presi-
dency of Dr. Asa Messer, a man more eminent for capacity
than scholarship. The President was a type of the col-
lege. The discipline was lax, and the instruction was
invigorating rather than critical or comprehensive. The
college, however, besides instruction, gave opportunity for
reading and the stimulus of intellectual competition and
companionship, which in the work of education is often
more influential than instruction itself.

Among Mr. Durfee’s classmates, who have since acquired
distinction, there were Zachariah Allen, Joseph K. Angell,
Timothy G. Coftin, Romeo Elton, Enoch Pond, and John
Ruggles. To Elton, with whom he contracted a life-
long friendship, he afterwards dedicated his poem of
“ What Cheer.” He graduated in 1813, having for his
Commencement part a poem entitled ‘“The Powers of
Fancy.” The year he graduated he delivered a Fourth eof
July oration in Tiverton, which was published.

The next Commencement he read a poem before the
Society of the United Brothers, entitled ¢ The Vision of
Petrarch,” afterwards published at their request. It rep-
resents Petrarch at Rome, disheartened by the disorders
of his times. The Genius of Poetry appears, and shows
him in a vision the forms of future poets, who pass before
him sounding their lyres, while various natural scenes,
symbolical of their different styles of poetry, arise and
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disappear. The poem was musical and elegant, but too
slight for permanent effect.

He was admitted to the bar at Newport, March 4, 1817.
He had studied law with his father in Tiverton, and after
his admission he continued to live there and practise his
profession,— a petty sort of practice for the most part,
affording no fame and small profit. A little conveyancing,
a little collecting, now and then an action to settle a title
or a boundary, or a prosecution for some trivial crime or
tort,— such was the ordinary run of business. Whatever
interest it had resulted not from the business itself, but
from the persons and circumstances connected with it. It
was no school for a great lawyer. Fortunately, however,
it was easy for him to master the fundamental principles
of jurisprudence, and to apply them judiciously without
depending much on precedent. Of course he had abun-
dant leisure, and he devoted it to literature and politics.
Scott and Byron were then at the zenith of their fame.
Animated by their success, he turned for poetic material
to aboriginal history. A classmate, writing to him soon
after he left college, addresses him as Superintendent of
Indian Affairs. It was some years yet, however, before
he found a fit subject for his verse.

In the spring of 1816 he was elected Representative to
the General Assembly, and re-elected semi-annually until
the spring of 1821. The Assembly then held four sessions
a year,—in May, June, October, and February, the
longest seldom exceeding two weeks. It consisted of ten
Senators and seventy-two Representatives, prominent
among whom were Elisha R. Potter the elder, Nathan F.
Dixon the elder, Nathaniel Searle, and Benjamin Hazard.
Mr. Durfee does not appear to have taken the initiative
in any important matter until June, 1818, when he intro-
duced a resolution to tax the banks of the State in con-
sideration of their privileged process, and advocated his
resolution in a speech of so much power that Mr. Searle

———
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moved its postponement to the next session, alleging that
Mr. Durfee had come prepared to support it, while the
other members were unable to meet the arguments already
adduced. The resolution was referred to a committee, of
which Mr. Durfee was chairman, with instructions to
inquire into the expediency of abolishing the process alto-
gether. For some reason not explained the committee
does not appear to have reported until February, 1820.
The report then made recommended the entire repeal of
the process. Mr. Durfee was its author, and urged its
adoption in a speech of extraordinary power and elo-
quence. The report and the speech were both published
in extenso, and were greatly admired.* An act abolishing
the process was passed, to go into effect at the end of the
year. In securing its passage Mr. Durfee had to contend
single-handed against the ablest debaters of the House,
and is therefore entitled to almost as much credit for the
boldness as for the brilliancy of his efforts.

The bank process, so called, was a summary process for
the collection of debts. By virtue of it the banks had
the privilege of suing their debtors in the Supreme Court
as well as in the Court of Common Pleas, the writs being
issuable until within six days of the sitting of the court,
and to have the estate, real and personal, of their debtors
attached and held to satisfy the judgments when recov-
ered. The debtors were allowed to defend the actions,
but without any right of appeal or continuance. The
ordinary process, on the other hand, permitted individuals
to bring their actions only in the Court of Common Pleas
at least twenty days before court, and did not permit the
property of the debtor to be attached if his person could
be found. The action was also subject to continuance
and appeal in favor of the debtor, so that years might
elapse before the creditor could get his execution. The
effect was to give the banks a preference over other

* Providence Patriot of March 4 and April 1 and 8, 1820,
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ereditors, thus enhancing the value of their claims; to
impair private credit by obliging debtors always to con-
sider the banks first; to embarrass the operations of busi-
ness; to encourage usury and extortion; and to dimin-
ish the value of property by exposing it to compulsory
sales, accelerated possibly by the rapacity of unscrupu-
lous and speculative bank-directors. All these and other
mischiefs were effectively exposed and denounced by Mr.
Durfee in his report and speech. The process is now a
thing of the past, perhaps too much so to interest the
reader; but nevertheless it furnishes a chapter in the
history of corporate privileges which may be read with
profit even in our day.

Mr. Durfee was, like his father, a Republican, but in
1816-20 the General Assembly had little to do with
pure politics. One question, however, which afterwards
convulsed the State, was occasionally emergent, namely,
the question of suffrage. It came up under cover of a
resolution and an act looking toward a convention to frame
a new constitution, and Mr. Durfee voted with the friends
of a freer suffrage.

In 1820 he was elected a Representative to the Seven-
teenth Congress. The election was a sort of ovation.
Nathaniel Hazard, the then incumbent, had been renom-
inated by the Republican caucus. He was, however, a
man of better mind than morals, and had scandalized
a portion of his constituents by his misbehavior. These,
without regard to party, united upon Mr. Durfee, and,
almost without his consent, triumphantly carried his elec-
tion. He was subsequently re-elected to the Eighteenth
Congress with but slight opposition.

He has not had due credit for his congressional career.
He entered Congress immediately after the adoption of
the Missouri Compromise. No great measure was pending
to arouse him to eloquence. He was modest, moderate,
not a ready debater, and disliked speaking for display.



44 JOB DURFEE

The high expectations excited by his speech on the bank
process were not fully met. He made two set speeches,
. however, which, though not eloquent, were powerful in
argumentation. DBoth of them bear marks of careful
elaboration. And it was not alone in his speeches that he
made himself felt; for he was as anxious to serve as to
shine, and was noted for his readiness to oblige his con-
stituents. The Hon. Dutee J. Pearce, his successor in
Congress, in some remarks made at the time of his death,
bore ready testimony to the excellent impression which
he had made at Washington.

His first speech, delivered January 17, 1822, was on the
new Apportionment Bill. TUnder the old apportionment
Rhode Island had two Representatives. The new bill fixed
the ratio at 42,000. This gave her only one, and left a
large fraction unrepresented, her population being 83,000.
Mr. Durfee favored a numerous representation, urging
that, in consequence of the great and growing diversifica-
tion of industry, the interests to be represented were con-
stantly multiplying and becoming more complicated. He
also urged that the population had not only increased, but
had spread itself over double the extent of territory for-
merly occupied, and that for this reason it required a
larger number to represent it than would be necessary if it
were more compact. And, finally, he advocated strength-
ening the legislative to counterbalance the growing power
of the executive branch of the government. So con-
vincing were his arguments that the ratio was lowered to
40,000, which left Rhode Island her representation un-
diminished. His next speech, delivered February 4, 1823,
was on a new tariff bill confessedly framed for protection.
He was not inimical to protection when necessary for the
preservation of existing interests, but he did not think it
good policy to build up one branch of industry at the
expense of another, or to force capital which was already
profitably invested into new and experimental employ-
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ments. He thought the country so prosperous that it
was more likely to be injured than benefited by the
change proposed. He expressed these views with an
affluence of learning and illustration which evinced a
profound study of the subject. Unfortunately for him
his constituents did not accept his opinions. In October,
1823, the General Assembly passed a resolution requesting
the Rhode Island members of Congress to use their best
endeavors to aid the manufacturing interests of the United
States. Mr. Durfee, at that time, held to the democratie
doctrine that it is the duty of a representative, on ques-
tions of expediency, to obey the instructions of his con-
stituents. As a consequence he was completely hors de
combat throughout the long and extremely able debate
on the tariff at the ensuing session, and was constrained
to give his silent vote for a measure which he thought
more likely to do harm than good.

Besides these more elaborate speeches he addressed the
House several times, and once at considerable length on
the Fortification Bill, which contained an appropriation of
$50,000 to begin the fortification of Newport harbor, and
he succeeded in carrying the appropriation through with-
out reduction. His last noticeable act in Congress was
casting, jointly with his colleague, the congressional vote
of Rhode Island, as her electoral vote had been cast, in
favor of John Quincy Adams for President, the presidential
question having fallen into the House. He was a candi-
date for re-election to the Nineteenth Congress, but was
defeated.

From October, 1826, until May, 1829, he was again in
the General Assembly, and was Speaker of the House
from May, 1827, to May, 1829. He does not appear to
have distinguished himself by any important speech or
measure during this period. In fact, while he knew well
how to rise with the occasion, he did not know so well
how to create the occasion for rising. In May, 1829, he
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declined a re-election, and remained in private life, occu-
pied with professional, literary, and agricultural pursuits,
until May, 1833, when he was once more returned to the
General Assembly, and, at the meeting of the two houses
for the purpose of election, was chosen an Assistant Justice
of the Supreme Judicial Court, then consisting of three
judges, of which his former colleague in Congress, the
Hon. Samuel Eddy, was Chief.

His life from 1826 to 1833 was a life of seclusion, into
which even his services in the General Assembly scarcely
introduced the element of publicity. It was, however,
no unimportant part of his life. It was a period of moral
and intellectual growth, during which his mind was broad-
ening, deepening, and clarifying itself. In politics he
retained his party connections while emancipating himself
from party prejudices. ¢ The truth is,” he wrote at this
time, “a man may perform equal service to his country
in either party, granting that the party must, from the
nature of things, exist. A man honestly devoted to his
country, or, what is the same thing, the great cause of
truth, is useful everywhere. He imbues those with whom
he is connected with something of his own character. I
will cherish the desire of attaining this point of usefulness;
and whilst doing this, if I see others who have already
been pre-eminently successful, no matter where they are,
my mind will do them voluntary homage. I can freely say
to them, Go on and prosper to the full extent of every
good purpose. If my situation in society forbids my co-
operation, I can, at least, use my feeble efforts to mitigate
the violence of opposition.” And this was no momentary
mood, superinduced by disappointment, but a natural
development of his mind.

His home at Quaket was off the public road, on a by-
path, and so completely by itself that his next-door neigh-
bor was half a mile away. He had access to no library
but his own, which was small for a student and gathered
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mainly at hap-hazard. His farm and his profession occu-
pied only a part of his time. He had to supply the lack
of books and society by creating a world of his own, and,
accordingly, he resorted again to aboriginal and colonial
history. For him the charm of antiquarianism dil not
consist in recovering some lost date or random scrap of
information, but in mousing among musty relics and
records until the dead past came to life again in his
imagination. He read and re-read the story of colonial
life until his memory was haunted with the shadowy
shapes of Puritans and Sachems, and, to use his own
expression, he “could almost hear the old fellows talk.”
He again felt the poetic impulse, and wrote, in octo-
syllabic. verse, a romantic tale of life and love among the
Indians under the name of “ Qusamequin,” supposed to
have been better suited for popular effect than ¢« What
Cheer.” The author, however, lost faith in it and com-
mitted it to the flames.

He next meditated a poem on Roger Williams. At
first he purposed writing it in a sort of serio-comic strain,
after the manner of Shenstone’s ¢ Schoolmistress,” light-
ing up its sterner features with a naive Quixotism.. It was
not to be published, but only written for his own enter-
tainment. “I mean to finish it,” he writes, “in these
vacant hours, and lay it aside, and it may possibly, some
century or two hence, find its way into the cabinet of
some antiquary who will show it to his associates and
inquire who it could be, in an age so enlightened, that
would devote so much time to raising such a monument
of trampery to the memory of Roger Williams.” But
the subject grew upon him. He gradually perceived that
its more sombre and serious, were its more poetical and
heroic aspects. His patriotism was enkindled, and he now
wished to give his poem an enduring hold upon the popu-
lar imagination, and so ¢ contribute something to a genu-
ine Rhode Island feeling.” It was in this view that the
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poem was finally composed. A small edition of it, under
the title of «“ What Cheer; or, Roger Williams in Banish-
ment,” was published at Providence by subscription in
1832.

In this country the poem, not having had the good for-
tune to come out under the auspices of a popular pub-
lisher, has attracted but little attention from the professed
critics. But many cultivated persons, reading it for their
own enjoyment without a thought of criticism, have ex-
pressed their hearty admiration of it, and it has without
question served the author’s purpose of fostering a Rhode
Island feeling much beyond what might be inferred from
its limited circulation. In England it has had a more flat-
tering reception. It was there reviewed in the “London
Eclectic Review ” for July, 1838. The review was from
the pen of John Foster, the celebrated essayist. It gave
a minute analysis of the poem, showing forth its merits
and lauding it in glowing terms. And in 1840 it was
republished at Leeds with a recommendatory preface, still
more encomiastic, by the Rev. John Eustace Giles.

In order to appraise the poem correctly it is necessary
not to misconceive it. It is founded on a well-known
historical event. This circumscribes the imagination of
the poet, and imparts a prosaic tinge adverse to the ideal
or the romantic. It is, therefore, pitched in a low key, is
realistic in treatment, simple and familiar in language.
It abounds in graphic touches, but lacks the ornamental
imagery, and the heightened or grandiose manner which
are proper to verse. It is marred by faults of rhyme and
metre such as the poet, if his material had been more
plastic, might easily have avoided. It is epical and ob-
jective, and so the poetical reader misses the intense per-
sonal emotion which he has learned to look for in modern
poetry. It is not, however, merely versified history. It
is a realistic or naturalistic narrative poem. The hero
or protagonist is the martyr and the apostle of a great
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and epoch-making idea. This idea is sometimes obtruded
in too abstract a form, but it is generally embodied in the
hero as the regnant motive of his actions. It thus be-
comes a living element of the poem, harmonizing and
elevating it. The subject is Roger Williams in banish-
ment. We see him driven from his happy home by cruel
bigotry, wandering in the dead of winter through a dismal
wilderness, and negotiating with barbarous chiefs for a
refuge from persecution, yet scattering around him every-
where, with patriarchal benignity, his unstinted ¢ lar-
gesses of love and light.” The poet’s familiarity with
aboriginal history here stands him in good stead, and
he invents a variety of scenes, incidents, and adventures
which are in a high degree unique and original. John
Foster, in his critique, notes the affluence of exciting inci-
dent and the rapid though quiet flow of the narration as
striking merits. The characters, without being highly
typical, are well discriminated and well sustained. There
are no female characters except the wife of Williams, and
she plays a passive part. This is a great want. The
introduction of woman as an independent actor or cause
of action would have complicated and idealized the plot,
and so would have added immensely to the interest. The
poem is illustrated by notes which contain a great deal of
valuable historical and antiquarian information.

The impulse which he derived from his historical re-
searches was not wholly expended in “ What Cheer.” 1In
1836 he delivered, in Providence, two lectures on the
“ History of the Subjection and Extermination of the
Narragansetts,” and a year or two later he delivered in
Boston a lecture on ¢ The Idea of the Supernatural
among the Indians.” In the first two lectures he attempts
to write the history of the Narragansetts as it might have
been written by one of themselves. This, while it does
not impair the accuracy, adds much to the spirit and

vivacity of the effort. The other lecture is interesting
4
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for containing the first distinct traces of his genius for
metaphysical speculation. It is, in fact, a fine exhibition
of his mind at a time when its poetical, its historical, and
its philosophical tendencies were most nearly in equilib-
rium. The three lectures are contained in the edition of
his collected works published after his death.

It has been stated that in 1833 he was elected Assistant
Justice of the Supreme Judicial Court, of which Samuel
Eddy was then the Chief. In June, 1835, Mr. Eddy re-
tired, and he was elected to succeed him. He continued
to be re-elected annually during the existence of the
government under the old charter, namely, to May, 1843.
When the government was organized under the new
Constitution he was again elected to the same office, and
continued to discharge its duties until his death.

He was not specially distinguished during the earlier
years of his service as Chief Justice, though he acquitted
himself with credit. Perhaps the peculiarity which first
drew attention to him was his delivery, year by year, of
a series of charges to the grand jury which, instead of
being simply dry expositions of positive law, were
thoughtful but popular dissertations upon the philosophy
and ethics of jurisprudence. Several of these have been
published in his collected works. He also attracted atten-
tion by the impressiveness of his addresses to prisoners
convicted of murder on whom he had to pronounce the
sentence of death. He always approached this duty with
the most profound emotion, though he was a firm believer
in capital punishment. There was no provision for re-
porting the decisions of the court until shortly before his
death, and his name therefore is not conspicuous in the
Rhode Island Reports. His few published opinions are
clear, compact, logical. He was averse to an indiscrim-
inate multiplication of precedents, believing that the prac-
tice of deciding according to the weight of authority
rather than on principle was deleterious. This was not
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because he undervalued the sages of the law: on the con-
trary, he admired the massive good sense of a Mansfield
or a Marshall, but he looked to them for enlightenment
and not dictation. His advice to a young friend probably
indicates his own method. ¢ First bring your case,” he
said, ‘within the sphere of some settled principle or
maxim, and then reason it out, taking care never to come
in conflict with common-sense. It will be time enough
afterwards to hunt up precedents and authorities to con-
firm or illustrate your reasoning.”

The most signal of his judicial services was his exposi-
tion of the law of treason during the Dorr Rebellion, so
called, and in the trials for treason which followed it.
Until 1843 the State had had no constitution, but remained
under its colonial charter. The right of suffrage was
confined to freeholders and their oldest sons. Prior to
1840 several attempts were made to extend the suffrage
and to supersede the charter by a constitution. These
attempts, initiated in the General Assembly, were un-
successful. In 1840-41 the attempt was renewed by an
appeal to the people without the initiative of the General
Assembly. The leaders of the movement maintained that
the people were absolutely sovereign, and could change
their form of government whenever a majority of the
adult male citizens of the State elected to do so, either
with or without law. They accordingly got together a
caucus or convention which framed a constitution and
submitted it to the popular vote. All American citizens
permanently resident in the State and over twenty-one
years old were invited to vote for or against it, either in
person or by proxy. The polls were opened December
27, 1841, and were kept open six days, the first three for
votes in person and the last three for proxies. Fourteen
thousand votes were claimed to have been received,
13,944 for and 56 against the constitution, and the con-
stitution was claimed to have had the approval of a
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majority of all the adult male citizens in the State. It
was proclaimed the supreme law. The next step was to
hold elections and organize a government under it. This
was done, Thomas W. Dorr being made Governor. There
were thus two sets of functionaries, each claiming to rep-
resent the State. Civil war was inevitable, and it came
with swift and utter defeat for Dorr and his adherents.

It was impossible for Chief Justice Durfee to be merely
& spectator of this strange and exciting drama. We have
seen he had himself once favored a freer suffrage. The
movement, therefore, was not in itself offensive to him, and
for a while he was content to observe its extravagances
without condemning them. DBut it was only for a while.
As soon as the suffragists avowed their purpose to proceed
independently of law, and invite the people to vote in
their so-called primary or sovereign capacity, he recog-
nized the revolutionary drift of the movement, and depre-
cated it to his friends, though, being a judge, he did not
hasten to make his opinion public. But when, after the
adoption of the ¢ People’s Constitution,” he saw what
fatal mischiefs were brewing, he thought it his duty as a
conservator of the peace to denounce them. In reply to
a letter from prominent citizens to the Court, he and his
associates on the bench declared that, in their opinion, the
“People’s Constitution,” having been adopted without
law, was utterly void, and that any attempt to carry it
into effect by force would be treason against the State, if
not against the United States. He also delivered in sev-
eral places an address in which, with the solemnity of a
prophet disburdening his mind, he proclaimed the gravity
of the crisis to his fellow-citizens. And finally, in a
charge to the grand jury on the law of treason, he not
only elucidated the law, but so movingly pointed out the
dangers and the duties of the hour that strong men are
said to have wept as they listened.

The question which the suffragists put to the law-and-
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order men, and which the law-and-order men did not
always find it easy to answer, was this: If the people are
sovereign why have not they, or the major part of them,
the right, regardless of law, to change their form of gov-
ernment whenever they choose to do so? The answer
given by Chief Justice Durfee was that it is only under
the law that the people are sovereign, and that without
law they are a mere aggregation of individuals, having no
political rights. The law gives them unity by making
them a State, and it is as a political unit or State, and not
as individuals, that they are sovereign. When, therefore,
the major part of them undertake to change the form of
government without law, inasmuch as such change is an
act of sovereignty, they undertake to do what can be
done only by the State, or with its sanction duly given,
which is law; and if they undertake to go still further,
and carry the change into effect by levying war against
the State, they are guilty of treason and rebellion.

The doctrine, thus enunciated, was accepted by the
friends of law and order as correct. It was acted on by
the charter government. It was subsequently applied by
the court in the trial of Thomas W. Dorr for treason. In
that trial the votes given for the ¢ people’s constitution ”
were offered in evidence to show its adoption. They
were ruled out. The court held that it was for them to
take notice of what is or was the constitution, as a matter
of law, without proof, and that the question of adoption
was political and not judicial, for the legislature and not
the court. The same view was taken by Webster in his
celebrated argument in the case of Luther ». Borden,*
and was sustained by the Supreme Court of the United
States. Webster is said to have read the charge in the
Dorr trial with great admiration, and he quoted it as con-
clusive in his argument.

In addition to his judicial labors, Chief Justice Durfee

* 7 Howard U. S. Sup. Ct. R. L
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found time, in the closing years of his life, for some liter-
ary work of a high order. The productions of this period
were: An oration on “The Influence of Scientific Discov-
ery and Invention on Social and Political Progress,”
delivered before the Phi Beta Kappa Society of Brown
University, September 6, 1843; “The Panidea; or, An
Omnipresent Reason considered as the Creative and Sus-
taining Logos,” published anonymously in 1846 ; and “ A
Discourse delivered before the Rhode Island Historical
Society, January 13, 1847.” The oration and the dis-
course are the most popular of his writings. In the
oration he shows how the line of progress in history fol-
lows the wake of scientific discovery and invention, and
is in the last analysis more dependent on them than on
civil or political institutions. In the discourse he de-
scribes the evolution of the Rhode Island idea of govern-
ment, and vindicates to Rhode Island, as the first to
embody the idea in her fundamental law, the proud
position which she is entitled to hold in universal history.
He has written nothing else which so pulsates with his
personality. ¢ The Panidea” is a metaphysical treatise.
He regarded it as the great work of his life. It is, there-
fore, entitled to fuller consideration.

“The Panidea” is a system of pure idealism. The author
claims, however, that it is built up by induction from a
fact, and not excogitated wholly out of abstractions. If,
says he, two coins are put before the eyes so that the
coins are seen but not what separates them, the two
appear as one. This is because the separating space or
extension is for the percipient annihilated. The experi-
ment shows that if matter were denuded of space and
extension, the whole physical universe would dwindle to
a point. But what are space and extension? Space is
demonstrably not matter, but the imaginary mask or
mould which it wears for the mind, and which would
remain for the mind if matter were abolished. And
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extension, the author proves or thinks he proves, is but a
form or species of space. Hence it follows that matter
in all its forms, living and lifeless, is as matter phenom-
enal, but in its essence, in itself, it is thought; being in
fact, as the author puts it, the thoughts and the imagery
of the thoughts which fill the mind of God. It is on the
basis of this conclusion that he erects his system. The
system brings creation everywhere into contact with the
Creator, and represents the history of mankind as a pro-
cess of assimilation which is gradually reconciling the
human with the Divine will. It empbhatically affirms the
personality of God, though it approaches pantheism. It
claims for the soul a limited free-will and a conscious
immortality. But it cannot be epitomized here. It must
be read to be understood. It perhaps presents no new
ideas, but it opens new vistas among old ones, letting in
upon them a fuller light. John Milton Mackie, in an
article in the ‘“ American Review” for May, 1848, calls it
‘“the most remarkable metaphysical treatise written in
this country since Jonathan Edwards’s ¢ Inquiry into the
Nature of the Will.”” Rowland G. Hazard, himself a dis-
tinguished metaphysician, is equally laudatory; and Theo-
dore Parker, in a letter to the author, says of it, ¢ Many
trains of thought which it presents are wholly new to me,
though the separate thoughts thereof are not unfamiliar.”
It is unfortunate in its terminology. Its very title is a
Gorgon’s head to most readers. It was, nevertheless, care-
fully written, its neologisms being used for the sake of
clearness and precision, and it abounds in passages which
are as admirable in diction as in thought.

If it were possible to trace the genesis of his philosophy
it would be instructive to do so. It can be only imper-
fectly done. It is said he has much in common with
Fichte and Schelling, but he knew those great thinkers
only slightly and at second hand. In college he studied
Stewart, and there is evidence that, then or afterwards,
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he read Locke and Hartley and Brown. Doubtless he
profited by them, but their philosophy is clearly too an-
tipodal to his own to have suggested it. From time to
time he fell in with the philosophical writings of Sweden-
borg, and to them, unquestionably, he was considerably
indebted. Indeed it was a Swedenborgian saying, “The
Divine fills all things without space,” which, he has said,
first started him on the trail of some of his subtlest specu-
lations. This was when or soon after he was in Congress.
Later in life he read Cousin, studied a short history of
metaphysical thought, pored over the pages of Coleridge,
and felt the influence of that transcendental renaissance
which, thirty-five or forty years ago, quickened New
England. From these sources he gathered the germs
which, fostered by years of meditation, finally fruited in
his system.

In considering the sources of his philosophy his way of
life is not to be forgotten. On his secluded farm week
followed week with little variation. His mind naturally
turned inwards, and found in reflection a great resource.
The habit of metaphysical cogitation thus easily grew
into an absorbing passion and pursuit. The enjoyment
of nature refreshed without distracting him. It rather
mingled with his meditations, touching them with poetic
traits, and sometimes even lifting them into unison with
that high mood in which the discursive yields to the
imaginative reason, and logic loses itself in reverie and
mystical intuition. “The Panidea” preserves traces of such
moods. They were, however, not a common visitation.
He was an abstract reasoner, not a seer. His city friends
used to wonder at his withdrawal from the world, and say
his country life was a sort of vegetation. They were mis-
taken. His brooding mind, incubating its deep philosophy,
never vegetated. It rather consumed itself in an excess
of unrespited thinking.

In his later years Chief Justice Durfee watched the
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course of general politics with a deep but anxious inter-
est. He saw the masses becoming not only more power-
ful, but more conscious of their power, and more reckless
in the use of it. In such facts as the election of Har-
rison, the annexation of Texas, the war with Mexico, and
the prevalence of filibusterism, he discovered the symp-
toms of a demoralization that alarmed him. So strongly
was he impressed with the irregular action of the federal
government, under the bias of irresponsible influences,
that he maintained that it had been practically revolu-
tionized in everything but the judiciary. As a measure
of conservative reform he suggested having the higher
offices, State and national, filled by electors chosen by
*the people but sworn to use their own judgment in filling
them.

For several years he had suffered from infirmities which
in the summer of 1847 suddenly grew more dangerous.
He foresaw the result and awaited it with composure. To
a personal and political friend who expressed his sorrow,
he said, “ Yes, my disease is rapidly approaching a crisis;
but to me it matters little which way the balance turns,
and I do not know that it does to others. I have done
what I thought to be my duty.” The sight of his friend
doubtless reminded him of his public life, and he probably
uttered the concluding words with special reference to
that part of it which had been so bitterly arraigned by
the friends of Mr. Dorr. The next day, July 26, 1847, he
died at his home. His malady was a complicated disease
of the stomach. He isburied in the family burying-ground
on Quaket. His epitaph, dictated by himself, states his
parentage, dates of birth and death, and the period of his
service as Chief Justice, and concludes with the repre-
sentation of an anchor and the words, “ His TRUST was
AND 18 IN Gob.”

He was five feet eight inches in height, portly in per-
son, and physically indolent. His face was massive and
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heavy, but powerful in the expression of strong emotion.
He was generally taciturn, especially in mixed companies,
but he loved a good talk, seasoned with mirth and humor,
and in his happier moods with congenial friends few men
could converse more delightfully or enrich the conversa-
tion with weightier remarks. Ile was singularly modest,
unassuming, candid, and charitable in his judgments of
others. A delicate regard for the feelings and rights of
others never deserted him. IIe was accessible to anger,
but harbored no malice. Cruelty in all its forms was
hateful to him. Nothing sooner roused his ire than to
hear a gunner on his farm popping at innocent birds.
Such a person was pretty sure to get an immediate invita-
tion to depart. In all things, small as well as great, it
was impossible for him to be other than truthful and just.
He belonged to no church. His religion is summed up in
his epitaph. A

Mr. Durfee was a man of strong domestic affections,
simple and familiar with his children, though, from absorp-
tion in his own thoughts, less companionable than many
fathers. He liked to have his children about him, whether
they were engaged in sport or study; and so great were
his powers of concentration and abstraction that, however
occupied in reading, writing, or thinking, he was seldom
annoyed by them. The picture of his home life given in
the dedication to “ What Cheer” is true to fact. When
his sons, preparing for college, were at home, he made it a
point to read with them their daily lessons in Cicero or
Virgil, and highly enjoyed this renewal of his classical
studies. His household circle remained during his life
unbroken save by the death of his youngest child, a lovely
girl, singularly sweet in disposition, and singularly har-
monious in her moral and intellectual development, for
the loss of whom he mourned with a most touching and
tender sorrow.

In 1820 he married Judith Borden, born June 14, 1796,
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and still living. She was a daughter of Simeon Borden,
born in 1759 and died November 27, 1811, and of Amey,
a daughter of Nathanie]l and Sarah Briggs, born in 1765
and died May 28, 1817.* She inherited from her mother
an estate on Quaket Neck in Tiverton, where, a few years
after marriage, Mr. Durfee built him a mansion house in
which he resided until death. Seven children were the
fruit of the marriage, all but two of whom are still living.
They were Lucy, born July 1, 1821, and married in 1846,
to Thomas Hicks Borden, late of Tiverton, deceased;
Amey Borden, born January 18, 1824; Thomas, born
February 6, 1826; Mary, born October 23, 1827, and
married in 1869 to Samuel West, M. D., late of Tiverton,
deceased ; Simeon Borden, born September 2, 1829, and
died February 23, 1858 ; Sarah Anne, born July 10, 1831;
and Julia Maria, born May 24, 1834, and died September
24, 1845.

In 1845 he was honored with the degree of LL.D., by
Brown University. He was a member of the Rhode
Island Historical Society, of the Phi Beta Kappa Society
of Brown University, and a corresponding member of the
New England Historic Genealogical Society, having been
admitted May 25, 1847. Besides the notices of him or of
his works, which have been incidentally referred to
already, particular mention should be made of a discourse
delivered before the Rhode Island Historical Society, Jan-
uary 18, 1848, on his character and writings, by the
Hon. Rowland G. Hazard, which was published at the
request of the Society. His complete works, with a pref-
atory memoir by his son, were published at Providence
by Gladding and Proud in 1849.

* The other children besides Judith were, Anne, born September 14, 1790, mar-
ried Clark Chace, and died December 27, 1852; Simeon, born January 29, 1798,
and died October 28, 1856 ; ‘Nathaniel Briggs, born April 15, 1801, and died April
10, 1865; and Sarah Briggs, born December 27, 1803, married Pardon Gray Sea
bury, and still living.
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Mz. Warr was born in Ipswich, Essex County, Massa-
chusetts, February 14,1814. He was a descendant in the
seventh generation of Sergeant Thomas Waite, one of the
early settlers of Ipswich. The exact date at which
Thomas Waite came to Ipswich is not known, but he
appears by the records to have been here as early as
1650. In 1684 he obtained from the town a grant of
land for a house-lot for his second son John, who was
married the next year to Kathren Carroll, and in the
house then built by him Luther Wait was born.

Mr. Wait was descended from John Waite, through
Jonadab Waite, born 1690, married Hannah Adams, 1725 ;
John Waite, born 1729, married Sarah Kimball, 1749 ;
John Wait, born 1752, married Eunice Hale of Newbury,
1773 ; Joseph Wait (his father), born 1781, married Re-
bekah Dodge, 1802. His mother was the daughter of
Abraham Dodge, who held the rank of Captain in the
Revolutionary army.

Mr. Wait was educated in the common schools of his
native town. In his early manhood he became connected
with his father in the shoe business, and continued in that
business until failing health compelled him to relinquish
it. After a long illness he died of consumption at his
father’s house, where he had always resided, October 20,
1847, aged thirty-three years eight months and six
days.
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I cannot better describe his character than by quoting
from an obituary notice written soon after his death.
‘ As a son his filial affection was characterized by tender-
ness and intensity. When he found that the unyielding
hand of disease was upon him, and that he must soon go
down to the grave, no thought connected with earth gave
him so much pain as that he could not have the privilege
of smoothing the path of his aged parents as they walked
down the rugged steeps of declining life. As a brother
he was distinguished for an ardent and disinterested devo-
tion to the interests of those to whom he sustained that
relation. As a friend he was remarkable for frankness
and for the strength of his attachments. As a neighbor
he was distinguished for generosity and benevolence.
The poor and the suffering ever found in him a friend
ready to sympathize with them and to extend to them a
helping hand ; and among no class is his loss more deeply
felt than among those who feel the withering hand of
poverty, for in him they have lost one whose presence
ever brought cheerfulness to their hearts even amidst
their sufferings. The blessing of the poor was upon him
while he lived, and their tears were shed around his bier.
As a man of business he was prompt, energetic, and hon-
orable in all his dealings. As a citizen he was prominent
and efficient in whatever pertained to the interests of the
community, and several of the most useful public build-
ings in this town stand as monuments to his persevering
devotion to her interests. Common schools found in him
a devoted and efficient friend and supporter. The last
public act of his life was devoted to their interests.”

He had all his life taken great interest in antiquarian
researches, and was an early member of the New England
Historic Genealogical Society, being admitted June 1,
1847. No one was probably better acquainted with the
early history and traditions of Ipswich than himself.
After sickness had laid him aside from active life he occu-
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pied himself with studying the old Ipswich records, and
they beguiled many an hour of weariness and suffering.
He contributed some articles on the early Ipswich settlers
to the New England Historical and Genealogical Register,
and had nearly completed a manuscript record of all the
names found on the Ipswich records for the first hundred
years after its settlement.
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Dr. CARr was the only son of the Rev. John Carr, a
Baptist clergyman of Grahamville in the State of South
Carolina. The father was born May 13, 1754, probably
in Berkeley County, Virginia. Before settling at Graham-
ville he preached in Savannah, Georgia, where he was one
of the directors of the Bible, Missionary, and Tract Societies,
and raised nearly three thousand dollars for religious pur-
poses. He died in Grahamville about the year 1826. He
married Mrs. Miller, a widow. They had three daughters
and one son, the subject of this sketch.

Samuel was born in Grahamville in 1802. Before he
was twenty-two years old, as we learn from a letter of his
father, written March 19, 1825, to his aunt, Mrs. Sarah
Boggs of Back Creek, Virginia, he had travelled in Europe
and “learned the French, Portuguese, and Spanish lan-
guages.” About the year 1828, a year or two after his
father’s death, he went to Baltimore, Maryland, and be-
came a student in the School of Medicine of the University
of Maryland, under Dr. John Beale Davidge, Professor of
Anatomy. While at the University he fought a duel with
a fellow-student, Bond Martin, whom he killed. The duel
is said to have grown out of some rivalry between the
two young men. This caused him to leave the University,
and it is supposed he never lost the remembrance of this
sad event, for in his later years his manner is represented
as being “subdued and melancholy.”
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On the 30th of September, 1828, he married Miss Mary
Elizabeth Polk, a step-daughter of Professor Davidge.
He was a warm supporter of General Jackson, and, soon
after the inauguration of that eminent man as President,
he received from him the appointment of clerk in the
office of the Fifth Auditor of the Treasury, being employed
in the settlement of the Post-Office accounts. He com-
menced service here March 14, 1829, and held the office
till his appointment as United States Consul at Tangier,
Morocco, August 10, 1831. He held the consulate till
1832, his successor being appointed on the 21st of June
in that year.

After his return to the United States he resumed his
medical studies at the University of Maryland, and grad-
uated from that institution with the degrec of M. D. in
1834. He then settled at Alexandria, Louisiana, on the
Red River, where he practised medicine for about two
years; after which he purchased a sugar plantation at
Point Coupee, Louisiana, on the Mississippi. After plant-
ing five or six years he returned to Washington, D. C.
On the 7th of February, 1842, he was appointed Military
Storekeeper at the United States Arsenal, Pikesville,
Maryland. Here he died October 24, 1847, aged forty-
five.

Dr. Carr was a man of varied talents and of a most
generous disposition. His tastes were decidedly literary,
and he is represented by his acquaintances to have been
“an elegant scholar.” His friend, the Hon. William P.
Maulesby of Westminster, Maryland, thus writes to the
Hon. Dr. Lewis H. Steiner of Frederick, Maryland, con-
cerning him: “Dr. Carr’s scholarship embraced the
classics of Ancient Greece and Rome, as well as of more
modern England, and a familiarity with the Spanish and
French languages. His manner and bearing were those
of the old-school gentleman. His peculiar and unselfish
devotion to his wife, generally supposed to have had some
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connection with the unhappy incident in his early life
before alluded to, seemed to cast upon his later years a
tinge of romance, which elicited a respectful tenderness
from those with whom he came in contact.”

Dr. Carr had five children, namely, 1st, Elizabeth Troup,
born January 18, 1830; 2d, John, born Deceniber 6, 1852,
died April 29, 1833 ; 3d, Charles J., born March 8, 1834 ;
4th, Rebecca, born November 11, 1837, died May 18,
1838 ; 5th, Josiah, born November 21, 1839, died January,
1841.

His eldest daughter, Elizabeth T., married a son of
James Brown, a banker, and died in 1849, without issue.

His son, Charles J., was thrice married. By his second
wife, a daughter of J. Marion Sims, M. D., the distinguished
surgeon, founder of the Woman’s Hospital, New York
City, he had two children, a son, Addis Emmet Carr, and
a daughter, Constance: By his third wife he had several
children. He died in 1877, being killed by the kick of a
horse which he had purchased, and while he was exam-
ining it.

Addis Emmet Carr, grandson of Dr. Carr, in 1873, when
eleven years old, accompanied his grandmother on a
voyage around the world, and published a volume about
it entitled ¢“All the Way Round; or, What a Boy saw and
heard on his Way around the World.”

Dr. Carr’s wife, to whom, as has been said, he was
singularly devoted, remained his widow till 1866, when
she married the Hon. David Dudley Field, with whom she
made the tour round the world, of which her grandson
published the account before mentioned. She died of
heart-disease in Baltimore in 1876.

A portrait of Dr. Carr, said to be a good likeness, was, in
February, 1880, in the possession of his grand-niece, Mrs.
H. D. Burnett of Grahamville, South Carolina, to whom it
was left on his death by her uncle, General Howard, a

nephew of Dr. Carr.
5
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Dr. Carr was admitted a corresponding member of the
New England Historic Genealogical Society, June 17,
1845.

The writer of this sketch is indebted for his facts to
William C. Howard, Esq., of Grahamville, South Carolina,
whose mother was a sister of Dr. Carr; Mrs. George Har-
rison of Baltimore, Maryland, a sister of his wife; the
Hon. William P. Maulesby of Westminster, Maryland ; the
Hon. Lewis H. Steiner, M. D., of Frederick, Maryland ;
William H. Winder, Esq.; the Hon. David Dudley Field,
the Rev. Henry M. Field, D. D., and J. Marion Sims, M. D.,
of New York City ; Professor S. C. Chew of the University
of Maryland, Baltimore, Maryland; Sevellon A. Brown,
Esq., Chief Clerk in the Department of State; and the
Hon. Jacob H. Ela, Fifth Auditor in the Treasury Depart-
ment, Washington, District of Columbia.



JAMES KENT

James KENT, the subject of the present memoir, was
born in the precinct of Fredericksburgh, in the Colony of
New York, July 31, 1763.

His father, Moss Kent, was a lawyer of respectability,
who filled the office of County Judge for the County of
Dutchess. His mother, Hannah, was a daughter of Dr.
Uriah Rogers, a licensed preacher, settled in the town of
Norwalk in Connecticut. Mr. Moss Kent had three chil-
dren: James, the eldest; Moss, who died unmarried ; and
Hannah, afterwards Mrs. Platt.

On the death of his mother, which took place in the
year 1770, James was taken into the family of his maternal
grandfather, and received the rudiments of education at
the academy in Norwalk. He was fitted for and entered
Yale College in 1777. The disturbance caused by the
war broke up the College, and his class were allowed to
obtain their degrees of B. A. after only three years’ study.
It was during this one year of enforced absence that acci- -
dent threw in the way of the future Commentator on
American law a copy of Blackstone’s Commentaries. So
fascinated was he by the study of the work that he deter-
mined to make the law his profession, and after obtaining
his degree he entered the law office of the Hon. Egbert
Benson in Poughkeepsie. Mr. Benson was at this time
Attorney-General of the State of New York.
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Among the families into whose society he was admitted
was that of Colonel John Bailey, an officer of prominence
in the service of Congress. An attachment having sprung
up between himself and Elizabeth Bailey, the second
daughter, they were married April 3, 1785, the same
year that he was admitted to practice as an attorney in
the courts of the State.

A pleasing little incident occurred at this time. There
was in Poughkeepsie a young attorney destined to fill
high positions in the service of his country, Edward
Livingston, the distinguished codifier of the laws of
Louisiana. Judge Hobart, then presiding at the circuit,
permitted these two young men, against the rules of
court, to try a case of trespass. They both summed up
the cause on the same side, and won it.

It was fifty years afterwards that Mr. Livingston re-
called this incident to the Chancellor, and mentioned the
mingled pride and fear which had agitated them at this
outset of their career.

Poughkeepsie had been chosen as the place for the
meeting of the convention to decide the question of the
adoption or rejection of the Federal Constitution. Mr.
Kent was a daily attendant at its deliberations. He pub-
lished several articles in the local newspaper warmly
advocating its acceptance. Although the name of the
writer was withheld, so cogent was their reasoning and so
brilliant their style that they were eagerly sought after
by the Federal members,and were the means of introducing
the writer to the acquaintance of no less a personage than
Alexander Hamilton. The acquaintance thus formed ri-
pened into a friendship which remained unbroken during
the lifetime of this illustrious statesman.

Mr. Kent’s political views may be said to have been
built on those of Mr. Hamilton, and from the Federal
doctrines, as so taught, Mr. Kent never varied even in
thought.
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So struck was Mr. Hamilton by the power and even at
that time remarkable learning of his young acquaintance
that he introduced him to the notice of John Jay, and his
future rapid advancement in his profession was largely
owing to the kindness and patronage of the future gov-
ernors of the State. In 1790 a division occurred in
the Democratic party, then largely in the ascendant in
Dutchess County, and to the astonishment of every one
the Democratic County Convention nominated Mr. Kent,
the open and avowed Federalist, as candidate for the
State Assembly.

He accepted the nomination with the distinct under-
standing that he was not expected to vary a hair’s-breadth
from his political creed. The Federal candidate imme-
diately withdrew, and Mr. Kent was unanimously elected,
and served two terms in the Assembly, then holding its
sessions in the city of New York.

Mr. Kent took high rank among the members of the
Assembly, being at once placed on several important com-
mittees, but as a public speaker he was unsuccessful.
His voice was feeble, and his manner devoid of any grace
of oratory, although he was singularly clear and logical
in his argument.

During the session of 1793 occurred an event which
excited the feelings of the rival parties in the Assembly
to the highest pitch. The State canvassers had destroyed
the votes of an entire county (Otsego), and in so doing
had changed the election, placing in the executive chair
the candidate of the minority.

During the examination by a committee Mr. Kent was
the avowed leader of his party in the House. By him
were conducted all the examinations of witnesses, and he
moved the resolution declaring the right of the House to
impeach the canvassers, should the result of the exami-
nation justify the belief that they had been guilty of
malpractice or corrupt conduct. Nor was this all: he
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advanced his views in a series of essays, in which he
placed before the public the acts of the men whom
he reprobated.

So popular did he become with his party that, in the
same year, he was nominated to represent the County of
Dutchess in Congress by the Federalists, but was defeated
by a small majority.

Acting on the advice of some of his best friends, Mr.
Kent decided to sever his connection with Dutchess
County, and practise his profession in the city of New
York. His success was marked. He was in 1794 offered
the Professorship of Law in Columbia College, and in 1796
made a Master in Chancery, then a lucrative office.

In the succeeding year Governor Jay appointed him
Recorder of the city, and in 1798, a vacancy having
occurred, the Governor raised him to the office of Asso-
ciate Justice of the Supreme Court. This appointment
in a pecuniary sense was a loss to him, as by the kindness
of Governor Jay he had been allowed to unite the offices
of Recorder and Master in Chancery, of which latter
there were only two in the city. But a high judicial
station had been the just aim and ambition of his life
since his first entry into his profession. Mr. Kent
therefore accepted the appointment; and after a brief
residence in Poughkeepsie removed to Albany, where
he continued to reside during the remainder of his ju-
dicial career.

The Supreme Court of the State had been formed upon
the model of the King’s Bench. The five justices rode
circuits, as well as sat in bench to hear and decide ques-
tions of law. To the work before him Mr. Justice Kent
devoted every effort of his mind. Every case not imme-
diately decided on the hearing was carefully studied, and
a written decision was read to his associates when they
met for consultation. The effect was instantaneously felt.
His associates were compelled to follow the same course,

B e A DU U e



JAMES KENT 71

unless they were prepared to surrender the control of the
court into the hands of the youngest of their number.

It was not only on the bench that his labors were felt.
As a member of the Council of Revision there was hardly
a bill introduced into the Legislature which escaped his
clear, critical investigation. The temper of political par-
ties ran high. Mr. Kent was firm in the political principles
which he had embraced; but no student who reads the
reports of the action of the Council can fail to be struck
with the calm legal structure of his mind, and how per-
fectly he was unswerved by the passions of the hour.

Chief Justice Lewis was elected in 1806 to the office of
Governor. An ardent Democrat, both his election and
nomination had been opposed by his associate. One day
in chambers Chief Justice Lewis said, ¢ Kent, if you will
vote for me I will make you Chief Justice.” ¢ No, sir,”
was the reply. ¢ Personally I respect and admire you,
but I detest your political principles.”

What was Mr. Kent’s astonishment to find himself nom-
inated to the vacant Chief-Justiceship!

What a beautiful commentary on the conduct of the
two men,—the one in seeing only the high integrity
and almost matchless learning fitted to do honor to the
ermine, the other in refusing to give to personal friend-
ship what he deemed political principles denied !

During the twelve years Mr. Kent remained on the
bench of the Supreme Court he won for that body the
highest position in the land. The writer of this article
disclaims any invidious comparisons when he claims the
first rank for its illustrious Chief Justice.

¢In strength and perspicacity of intellect, in the power
of close and luminous reasoning, and in a profound knowl-
edge of the common law he was probably equalled by at
least two of his associates, Ambrose Spencer and Smith
Thompson.” Such was the verdict of perhaps the most
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brilliant of his contemporaries.* But in deep and varied
learning, in the study of the French Jurists, in the knowl-
edge of the Institute, Pandects, and Code of Justinian, to
which he had been stimulated by the friendship of Ham-
ilton, he stood and perhaps still stands unrivalled in
America. Were this written for the lawyer, I need but
quote the case of Cortilyon ». Lansing, as to whether the
pawner has a right to sell the pledge without a demand
of payment and notice to redeem. The positions which
Mr. Kent defined are now elementary rules with which
any student is familiar. But then it was otherwise. All
was vexed and uncertain. The law in America was in a
chaotic state, as the English law had left it.

Mr. Kent saw and felt this difficulty, and he sought light
in quarters hitherto unknown to the student. He ex-
hausted the authorities from their infancy to the day on
which judgment was given. Satisfied that many of the
decisions were erroneous and differing from what was
founded on true principles, he turned to that inestimable
system of Jurisprudence, to the Digest, and the Code, to
the modern civilians, to Domat and Huberus and Perezius,
and from them formed the wise and equitable rules which
are now accepted as law.

In 1814 Mr. Kent was nominated as Chancellor. Was
it to be wondered at, if for the moment he hesitated in
accepting the office ?

A Court of Chancery there was, but a Court of Equity,
in its full, perfect, and complete significance, had no exist-
ence.

To the superficial observer it may seem that Chancellor
Kent had only * obsequiously to follow ” in the footsteps
of Hardwick and Eldon, and their illustrious predecessors.
To the student how different are the facts! A great
nation had sprung fully born into existence, without pre-
cedents, with new principles, and with doctrines which had

# John Duer.
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not as yet been tested by the lapse of ages. May we not
rather say of him, in the words of Blackstone, speaking
of the greatest of England’s equity lawyers (Notting-
ham), “that in the course of nine years he built a system
of jurisprudence and jurisdiction upon wise and rational
foundations.” And how was this accomplished ? Let me
again quote from his ablest biographer: “His great merit
was the penetrating sagacity, the admirable prudence, and
the comprehensive wisdom that he displayed in the selec-
tion of those principles, and in adapting them to form a
government and state of society, to institutions, laws, and
manners widely different from any that prevailed in the
countries in which they had been originally established.”
This power he drew from his profound and intimate
acquaintance with the Roman and civil law.

Mr. Kent was essentially and notably conservative, not
only of the principles of true government, but of the
integrity of the Federal Union. In no respect was this
more fully shown than in the last decision of his judicial
career. It was a question of the paramount authority of
the Supreme Court of the United States.

“There must be somewhere,” he says, “in the organiza-
tion of every political institution, a paramount power, or
there is no government. The Supreme Court of the United
States on questions within its cognizance is that power,
and if the State Courts should undertake to disobey or
elude its decisions the consequences must be discord and
confusion, and in the result a dissolution of the national
compact. .

In 1821 a convention met in the city of Albany to
amend the Constitution of the State, and Chancellor Kent
was a delegate.

The rapid spread of Democracy threatened to sweep
away many of the landmarks of history. It was in vain
that the learning of Van Vechten, the silver-tongued
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eloquence of Williams, the calm logic and argument of the
Chancellor, were exerted to prevent the granting of uni-
versal suffrage. Every conservative barrier was removed,
and the Court of Chancery itself was only spared out of
personal respect to its incumbent. The Chancellor was
declared incapable of holding the office after reaching the
age of sixty, and in 1823 he retired fromn the bench. He
soon took up his residence in New York, and resumed the
practice of his profession.

He was a second time made Professor of Law in Colum-
bia College. The success of his first course of lectures,
which were attended by most of the leading lawyers in
the city, induced him to publish them under the title of
“ Commentaries on American Law.” The first volume
was followed by three others, and in them is embraced
the labor and learning of a life. Any one who attempts
to write the life of this great lawyer will find his materials
in his library. He read with his pen in his hand. There
is not a volume which is not full of note and annotations.
Books were his friends, and shared with his family his
affections and his time.

To a verbal memory so remarkable that it caused the
wonder of his acquaintances must be added an accuracy,
a truthfulness, equally as astonishing. He was intolerant
of exaggeration.

Simple in his tastes, frank and cordial in his manners,
he never had a personal secret. He never did anything
which the whole world might not have known and seen.

Proud of the success of his only son as a lawyer,
happy in the affection of his wife and daughters, inde-
pendent although not wealthy, respected and admired by
his fellow-citizens, the kind, good old man sank peacefully
to his rest on the 12th of December, 1847.

A firm believer in the truths of revelation, he received
the blessed promise of eternal life with the trusting sim-
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plicity of a child. How well the writer of this article
remembers the effort which Chancellor Kent made, a few
days before his death, to note down the reflections of the
hour! The pen fell from his feeble fingers, and “the
lamp which his hand had so diligently trimmed gave no
more light.”

A few months before his death, April 26, 1847, he was
admitted to honorary membership in the New England
Historic Genealogical Society.
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TiMoTHY PITKIN, born at Farmington, Connecticut, on
the 21st of January, 1766, was the son of the Rev. Timo-
thy Pitkin, Pastor of the Congregational Church in that
town, and grandson of the Hon. William Pitkin, who was
Governor of the Colony from 1766 to 1769. His mother,
Temperance Clap, was daughter of the Rev. Thomas Clap,
President, or, as then styled, Rector of Yale College. He
was in direct descent from William Pitkin, founder of the
family in this country, who came from London, England,
and settled in Hartford, Connecticut, in 1657.

The family, in the first three generations, held many
offices of trust. The first William Pitkin, made King’s
Attorney for the Colony in 1664, represented Hartford
from 1676 to 1690, except during the period of Major
Andros’s usurpation; was member of the Colonial Council
from 1690 till his death; became Treasurer of the Colony
in 1676, and the same year was appointed, with Major
Talcott, to negotiate a peace with the Narragansetts, and
other Indian tribes. On the arrival of Governor Dongan
at New York, in 1683, he was one of the deputies to settle
the boundaries between the two Colonies; again, in 1693,
when the Governor of New York claimed command of the
militia of New England, and Governor Winthrop was
despatched to England to lay the case before the King,
Mr. Pitkin was selected to make terms with the Governor
(Fletcher) respecting the militia till the King’s pleasure
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should be further ascertained. For many years he rep-
resented Connecticut at the meeting of Commissioners
of the Colonies to devise means against their common
enermies.

The second William Pitkin, son of the foregoing, born
1664, was for twenty-six consecutive years one of the
Council of the Colony; was one of the Commission to re-
ceive the Earl of Bellomont on his arrival in New York;
was one of the Council of War in 1707; was Judge of the
County Court, and also Probate Judge, from 1702 to 1711;
was made Judge of the Court of Assistants in 1703, and
upon the establishment of the Superior Court in 1711 was
appointed Judge, and in 1713 Chief-Justice of this Court.
His son, William Pitkin, born April 30, 1694, represented
the town of Hartford in the General Assembly from 1728
to 1734, was Speaker of the House of Representatives from
1732 to 1734, when he was chosen Assistant. He pre-
sided as Judge of the County Court from 1735 to 1762,
was made Judge of the Superior Court in 1741, and
Chief-Justice, and also Deputy-Governor, in 1754. In
this year, while Lieutenant-Governor, he was. appointed to
meet Commissioners from other Colonies at Albany, to
form a plan of union among the Colonies, and was one of
a committee of six, Benjamin Franklin being chairman, to
prepare such a plan. The plan of this committee, though
not adopted, was the germ of the old Articles of Confed-
eration, and of the Constitution of the United States. He
was chosen Governor in 1766, in the discharge of which
office he died October 1, 1769.

Timothy Pitkin, son of the foregoing, born in 1727, after
graduating at Yale College, studied theology, and became
pastor of the Congregational Society in Farmington, which
office he held till his death in 1812. He was one of the
members of the Corporation of Yale College from 1777 to
1804. His son, the subject of this memoir, received the
rudiments of his education in his native town. The only
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books then in use in the district schools were the Bible,
Dilworth’s Spelling-Book, and the New England Primer,
but his teacher, who was in advance of his time, introduced
Lowth’s English Grammar. He prepared for Yale College
under his father and his brother-in-law, the Rev. Nathan
Perkins, of West Hartford, was admitted in 1781, and was
graduated with the highest honors of his class. President
Stiles, in a letter of introduction addressed to ¢ Governor
Jefferson, Secretary of State, Philadelphia,” thus describes
him in 1792: “There are some young characters so in-
genious and inquisitive, and promising to rise into future
figure in the political world, as to become worthy of the
favor and patronage of those who have already arrived at
the summit of human greatness in society, and who take
pleasure in cherishing those who may in time, like them-
selves, ascend to the superior improvements in political
life. Of this number is Timothy Pitkin, Esq., a son of one
of the Fellows of this College, and grandson of the late
President Clap, whose genius and literary abilities he in-
herits. Educated at this College, he became one of its
most excellent scholars in the classics and the sciences,
especially mathematics and natural philosophy and astron-
omy. Impelled by an ardent thirst for literature and
by assiduous application, he has added to these a good
knowledge of the belles lettres and history. He is a most
promising, worthy young character, designed for the career
of civil and political life. He is continually imbibing wisdom
from observing human life and manners, and the spirit and
genius of government. Should you condescend to honor
him with a little literary notice, you would cherish an inge-
nious mind which in time may do honor to his patrons and
to his country.” During his college course Mr. Pitkin
calculated and projected all the eclipses for each year up to
180C, and among these was the famous annular eclipse of
the sun in 1790. He had afterwards the satisfaction of
learning from actual observation that it had been calcu-
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lated with entire accuracy. He determined at an early
period upon the profession of law, and after spending one
year as an instructor of Latin and Greek at the acad-
emy at Plainfield, Connecticut, he put himself under the
instruction of Oliver Ellsworth, Esq., of Windsor, in the
winter of 1786-87, and afterwards under that of Major
Judd, of Farmington. He was admitted to the bar in
Hartford County in 1788. Mr. Ellsworth was distinguished
as a statesman as well as a jurist; he had been a member
of Congress during the great struggle for Independence,
and from him Mr. Pitkin received that bias towards politi-
cal action which influenced himn through life. From him,
also, he learned some of the secret political movements of
that time, and particularly that in the early period of this
struggle the Court of France encouraged the Americans
- to persevere, by furnishing them with military stores
and money through its secret agent Beaumarchais, under
the fictitious name of Hortales & Co. He availed him-
self of this information afterwards, when he was in Con-
gress, in resisting what is known as the Beaumarchais
claim. In 1790 he was chosen a representative from Far-
mington to the General Assembly of Connecticut, and from
this time, being then twenty-four years old, he was fairly
launched upon political life, representing, with few inter-
missions, his native town till the year 1805. During the
latter part of this period he was several times Speaker of
the House. :

In 1805 he was elected one of the representatives in
Congress, and continued in that capacity every year until
1819, when, in consequence of a change in the politics of
the State, he and his colleagues were superseded. He
was in Washington during the last four years of Jeffer-
son’s administration, the eight years of Madison’s, and two
years of that of Monroe. During this period he made
himself conversant with the political transactions of the
American government in relation to the non-importation
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law, the embargo, and non-intercourse systems, and the
war against Great Britain which followed. He made it
his business to collect public documents and state papers,
and, with pen in hand, he made constant memoranda of
passing events, especially of the confidential communica-
tions made to the House of Representatives by the Execu-
tive. Aswar was declared with closed doors, the opponents
of the measure, of whom Mr. Pitkin was one, had no op-
portunity in debate of presenting to their constituents the
reasons for their opposition, and they resolved, therefore,
to address them directly on the subject. The Hon. Josiah
Quincy prepared the draft of this address, but at his re-
quest Mr. Pitkin furnished that part of it which treated
of the commerce which was allowed us by the French
government, and whether it was worth a war in order to
secure it, and whether it could be secured by war. This
part was accordingly inserted in the address.

During the years 1816 and 1817 Mr. Pitkin published
the first and second edition of the ¢ Commercial Statistics
of the United States.” Of the second edition two hundred
and fifty copies were taken by Congress for the use of the
Government. After leaving Congress Mr. Pitkin was en-
gaged in his professional pursuits, and in preparing a
Political and Civil History of the United States from 1763
to 1797, or the close of the administration of Washington.
This history was published in two volumes in 1828. In
1835 he published a third and enlarged edition of his Sta-
tistics, including some account of the banks and manufac-
tures of the country. From the time of his leaving Con-
gress he was annually chosen to the Connecticut Legisla-
ture from Farmington until 1830, when he was elected a
Senator from District No. 3, established under an amend-
ment of the Constitution. He was a member of the Con-
vention which framed the new Constitution of the State.
From 1830 he declined all public business, and soon after
relinquishing his professional pursuits he devoted his time
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to a careful revision of his private papers and public docu-
ments, and in reviewing the writings and correspondence
of Washington, Jefferson, Jay, and others, together with
the diplomatic correspondence of the United States. In
addition to this he prepared sketches of some of the politi-
cal transactions during the administrations of the elder
Adams, of Jefferson, and Madison. These sketches, which
are in the form of letters to his sons, and are in fact a con-
tinuation of his Political and Civil History of the United
States, have not been published.

Though retired from active life, he retained his interest
in passing political events, and wrote occasional articles
for the North American and American Quarterly Reviews.
He was much excited by a statement that appeared in
the “ American Gallery of Portraits,” reflecting on the life
and character of his grandfather. The writer of a sketch
of Jonathan Trumbull in the above-mentioned work had
ventured the assertion that Trumbull had superseded Pit-
kin because the latter had grown old and timid, and had
failed to meet the requirements of the times in resisting
the Stamp Act. It is a sufficient answer to the statement
that Governor Pitkin died in office ; but Mr. Pitkin, enter-
ing with zeal into the defence of his grandfather, showed
that Governor Pitkin owed his office as governor to his
resistance of the Stamp Act. The act was passed in 1765,
when Fitch was governor, Pitkin lieutenant-governor, and
Trumbull a member of the Council of the State. Fitch
and certain of the Council thought it their duty to take
the oath required; but Pitkin, with certain others, includ-
ing Trumbull, refused, and actually left the Council
Chamber when the oath was taken by Fitch and those
who agreed with him. At the next election, in 1766,
Pitkin was chosen governor in place of Fitch, and Trum-
bull lieutenant-governor. At the death of Governor
Pitkin in 1769, Trumbull succeeded him as Governor of

Connecticut. :
6
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Mr. Thurlow Weed, in a letter published in the ¢ New
York Tribune,” August 31, 1878, writes as follows: “In
1835, sitting on the after deck of a New Haven steamboat,
I found myself near an old gentleman with whom I entered
into conversation. It required but a few minutes to show
that I had made the acquaintance of a gentleman of more
than ordinary acquirements and experience. Our conver-
sation was interesting and protracted. When the subject
of slavery was introduced, the gentleman said that, regard-
ing it as a most important and embarrassing as well as a
most alarming question, he had devoted much time and
thought to its consideration; adding that he had a plan,
which, if it could be fairly presented by the President or
through Congress to the people, would accomplish the
gradual extinction of slavery. ¢We have,’ the gentleman
proceeded, ¢ extinguished the national debt with the sur-
plus proceeds of the public domain. That surplus, for
which we have no further use, is rapidly increasing, so
rapidly as to occasion uneasiness in Washington. The
public domain will prove an enduring and inexhaustible
source of national wealth ; it belongs to the whole people,
and seems to have been providentially reserved to effect
a great and beneficial purpose. My plan is to ask the
legislatures of border slave States to pass laws authorizing
the purchase of one day’s freedom in each week of all
slaves, their value to have been appraised by a disinter-
ested tribunal; that, two years after, another day’s free-
dom should be purchased in like manner; and that each
following two years the purchase should be repeated, until
their full freedom should have been effected. Congress,
meanwhile, should pass a law appropriating so much of
the surplus of the public domain as the emancipation thus
effected called for.” The gentleman believed that Dela-
ware, Maryland, and probably Kentucky would promptly
and cheerfully consent to sell their slaves at a fair valua-
tion, and that Tennessee, Virginia, and North Carolina
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would, erelong, follow ; and that, ultimately, the Govern-
ment would be able to offer compensation liberal enough
to tempt even the cotton States. While this process was
going on, he proposed that the Federal government should
further assist emancipation by establishing commercial
- relations with Hayti and St. Domingo, and in planting
colonies in Africa, for the development of her gold dust,
ivory, and other resources, offering aid and facilities to
such freedmen as might choose to accept it. Another
and most important advantage of this scheme was, that
in its progress partially ransomed slaves would gradually
learn the value and uses of freedom, so that after twelve
years of training they would be better qualified to enter
on their newlife. . . . The gentleman who conceived this
idea was Timothy Pitkin, one of the many distinguished
sons of Connecticut, who rendered important service to
the country during the first half of the present century. . . .
His plan for emancipation was broadly statesmanlike. It
was alike just, wise, and practical. I first mentioned it to
Mr. Seward, whose warm approval confirmed my own im-
pressions. In the course of my conversation with Mr.
Pitkin, he suggested Mr. Clay as not only the best man to
introduce the subject to Congress, but the one who, from
his known sentiments and sympathies, would be most
likely to think favorably of it. I availed myself of an
early opportunity to submit Mr. Pitkin’s plan to Mr. Clay,
who expressed his regret that it had not been suggested
before the idea of distributing the surplus fund among the
States had taken such a strong hold of the public mind.
I conversed with Mr. Webster, Senator Mangum of North
Carolina, Governor Clark of Kentucky, and John M. Clay-
ton of Delaware, each of whom, but for the reason as-
signed by Mr. Clay, would have given his earnest support
to Mr. Pitkin’s project. Governor Seward was so strongly
impressed, that, but for the circumstance that he was drawn
into an exciting conflict with the Governor of Virginia
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upon the Fugitive Slave question, he would have made it
the leading feature in his message to the Legislature of
New York. The distribution of the surplus proceeds of
the public domain, after a four years’ struggle, was carried,
in 1831, through Congress over General Jackson’s veto. It
took the form of a deposit to be repaid to the General
Government, but no demand has ever been made for it.
New York’s quota alone would have purchased all the
slaves in the State of Delaware and the District of Co-
lumbia. I assume, therefore, that if Timothy Pitkin had
remained in Congress a few years longer, there would
have been a peaceable solution of the slavery problem.”

In 1801 Mr. Pitkin was married to Elizabeth Hubbard,
daughter of the Rev. Bela Hubbard, D.D., who for more
than forty years was Rector of Trinity Church, New Ha-
ven, Conuecticut. He resided in his native town till the
year 1840, when, giving up the cares of housekeeping, he
divided his time between his daughter in Utica, New
York, who was married to the Hon. Hiram Denio, for
many years Judge of the Court of Appeals in the State of
New York, and his son, the Rev. Thomas Clap Pitkin, D.D,,
at New Haven, who was associate-rector with the Rev.
Harry Croswell, D.D., of the same church over which
Dr. Hubbard had presided for so many years. He died
at New Haven at his son’s residence, December 18, 1847,
and was buried from Trinity Church in that city, of which
church he had been for some years a devout communicant.
His religious opinions were pronounced and definite, but
were held in a spirit of charity. Not long before his death
he wrote as follows: “ For several years past I have spent
no inconsiderable portion of my time in the study of the-
ology; and the more I have studied the Bible and the
various commentaries upon it, the more am I convinced
that it can be none other than the word of God, and
that it is the only sure guide to happiness both here and
hereafter.”



TIMOTHY PITKIN 85

In 1837 Mr. Pitkin, at a general meeting of the “Société
Francgaise de Statistique Universelle,” held at the Hotel
de Ville in Paris, was awarded a medal of honor, with a
letter from the President, Le Duc de Montmorenci,
acknowledging his valuable contributions to Statistical
Science, and soon after received from Le Comte de Bussy,
the Secretary, a diploma, making him a corresponding
member of the same. On the 25th of May, 1847, he was
admitted an honorary member of the New England His-
toric Genealogical Society.
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SamueL HuBBARD, youngest child of William Hubbard
and Joanna Perkins, was born in Boston, June 2, 1785.
He was descended in a direct line from the Rev. William
Hubbard of Ipswich, the historian, who was born in Eng-
land, and was graduated at Harvard College in 1642.
His son was John. This John married Ann, daughter of
John Leverett, Governor of Massachusetts. He had a son
John, who was graduated at Harvard, 1695, was a Congre-
gational clergyman, settled as pastor over a Presbyterian
church in Jamaica, Long Island. John married Mabel,
daughter of Rev. Daniel Russell of Charlestown, Massa-
chusetts. He was the father of Daniel (posthumous),
born 1706, graduated at Yale 1727, afterward tutor,
settled as a lawyer in New London, Connecticut, where
he died 1742, leaving a widow and five children. His
widow (née Coit) afterward married Thomas Greene,
merchant, in Boston, and brought her children to live
with her. Her youngest son William was the father of
Samuel. This William married, first, Lydia Coit, of Nor-
wich, Connecticut, and lived there during their married
life. He married, second, Joanna, daughter of James Per-
kins, merchant of Boston, and Joanna Mascarene. This
Joanna was daughter of Jean Paul Mascarene, a Huguenot
refugee. He was born in Castres, Languedoc, France,
1684 ; fled to Geneva, 1696, afterwards to England ; there
he was naturalized, and made a lieutenant in the army in
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1706. As early as 1714 he was settled and married in
Boston, where he had a house in School Street. He was
afterward made Commander-in-Chief over the Province
of Nova Scotia, and died in Annapolis, Nova Scotia, 1760.
The Mascarene was an ancient family in the South of
France, whose members were either in the law or the
army. Jean Paul left four children ; the second daughter,
Joanna, and her husband, James Perkins, lived in an old-
fashioned house on Common Street, where the Tremont
House now stands. Here her little grandson, Samuel
Hubbard, with his sister Elizabeth, came to live after their
mother’s death in 1786.

The old house, the old grandfather, the old servants,
the long-haired dog, made delightful stories in after days
for Mr. Hubbard’s children. The boy was under the care
of his aunts until he was eight years old, when he was
sent to a school in Wethersfield, Connecticut, where he
lived in the family of the Rev. John Marsh, D.D.

His father married a third time, November 1, 1789,
Mrs. Alice (Skinner) Deming, and removed to Colchester,
Connecticut. Later this spot became the home of Samuel,
and he spoke with affection of Colchester as long as he
lived. After his school life in Wethersfield, he spent a
year at school in Billerica, Massachusetts.

He was about twelve years old when he went to Plain-
field, Connecticut, where he fitted for college under the
care of Calvin Goddard, Esq., afterwards Judge of the
Supreme Judicial Court of Connecticut. He entered Yale
College, January, 1799. In the following March, John
Adams, the President of the United States, passed through
New Haven and spent a night. It may not be uninterest-
ing to give an extract from a letter which Samuel, now
thirteen, wrote his father on the occasion, ¢ Received
March 25, 1799.”

“This night I had the satisfaction of beholding and
conversing with our excellent President, who arrived here
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late this afternoon; in the evening seven of my class
assembled at my instigation, and went down to behold
that great personage. He was extremely polite, invited
us in, treated us with wine, conversed very freely with us,
and especially with me, as I was more inclined to chat
than the rest. He talked considerably concerning college,
and some on politics; he is a short man, very fat, round
face, bald on the top of his head, hair as white as Captain
Babcock’s; he was attended by a private secretary; he
sets out for Hartford to-morrow.”

Though very fond of fun and frolic, and at times too
much given to amusement, he was on the whole a diligent
scholar. In 1801, his junior year, he lost his father. He
was graduated in 1802. He studied law with Judge
Charles Chauncey of New Haven for about two years;
then came to Boston, where he completed his legal studies
with the Hon. Charles Jackson. Towards the close of the
time spent in Mr. Jackson’s office many perplexing ques-
tions arose about his future course. His first desire was
to travel abroad ; this he could not afford to do. Next,
he says, his secret wish was to stay in Boston. But
society had such strong attractions for him that he feared
he might neglect his studies, become idle, and perhaps
dissipated. The judgment of his uncles agreeing with his
own, he determined to leave the city. He was admitted
to the Bar in 1806. In the summer of that year he took
an exploring ride with a friend,* who had been studying
in the same office with himself, through the district of
Maine, and chose Biddeford as the place most favorable
for success. It was during this jaunt that he wrote his
college' friend, Mr. Thomas Burrall, a letter dated August
24, 1806, which shows his appreciation of poetry.

“I took Burns with me on my journey, and read him
with great pleasure while sailing along the banks of the
Penobscot. His poems seemed to meliorate the rude

# Benjamin D. Guild, Esq., of Boston.
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wildness of the scene and to soften the roughness of un-
cultivated nature. There is a mellowness and accuracy
in his descriptions which I in vain look for in other poets,
with perhaps the exception of Thomson. But Thomson
with as much delicacy has less enthusiasm. The anima-
tion, the fancy, of Burns is like the magic of the fairies; a
new creation springs up at his touch, and the heaths of
Scotland bloom like the primeval Eden. With such a
companion who can be lonesome ? I pity the man whose
soul Burns cannot move.”

For several years his letters to his classmates and early
friends were very numerous. He copied them into a large
book ; many are surprisingly long. They are sprightly
and entertaining, and often contain racy descriptions of
character.

The following extract gives a good idea of them:
“ Biddeford, November 15, 1809. Our Supreme Court at
this time is perhaps as learned and in as high repute as
any in the United States. It is not, to be sure, filled with
poets and bookmakers and statesmen, nor has it more
heads than the hydra, but it has a Parsons for a Chief
Justice, who is of himself a host, a Sedgwick, who is deeply -
versed in the ancient common law, a Sewall and a Parker,
who are well read in the customs and usages of mer-
chants, and a Thacher, who is as deep a metaphysician as
any of the Peripatetics of Connecticut.

¢ Judge Thacher has for some years tried the issues in
the United States Courts in the District of Maine, but it
was suggested that a change for once would be agreeable,
and accordingly this fall Judge Sedgwick came down East
and held the courts in the various counties. He has
given very general satisfaction to the various suitors in
court from his uniform patience and strict impartiality.
The Judge is a sound, well-read lawyer, and is fond of
displaying his knowledge, and it is therefore profitable
for young men to attend his court, for a good deal of

— N A . _ -
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principle and practice may be learned. In private circles
he is as vain at the bottom as our quondam AMaister,
though he has more, I think, of what is called knowledge

- of the world. His constant theme, after himself, is the

great men of New York, whom he calls the finest fellows-
in the world and his very best friends. He is much given
to the use of the superlative degree, all things being with
him infinitely good or infinitely bad. He is fond of
making impressive charges and of giving elaborate
opinions to raise his character as a judge. He was
violently offended that he was not appointed Chief Justice
on the resignation of Judge Dana, und when Judge Par-
sons was appointed he is said to have declared that there
was no man in the State he would sit under but him. If
you own the Massachusetts Term Reports, and have read
his opinions, you will easily perceive the characteristic
traits of the man. With more of legal arrangement than
Chauncey, with more of knowledge and talent than
Humphreys (Count Merino), and with more of politeness
and affability than Dwight, he is, however, of the same
school with them ; the same preposterous and overweening
vanity, the same childish fondness of their own doings,
mark the men. Yet Sedgwick is a good Judge, and as to
the main things of life, I have no doubt, a very good man.
Speaking in his way he declared our docket the most un-
yielding one he ever met in his life, — one cause took up
a part .f three days, and one or two others a day each,—
they were all land causes.”

In September, 1806, Mr. Hubbard began the practice of
law in Biddeford, Maine, and continued there with good
success for several years. At the outset of his career he
said: “I determined to be so accurate in all my state-
ments that my word should be as good as my oath.”
“Early in 1811 he returned to Boston and formed a pro-
fessional connection with his instructor, which continued
until the appointment of Mr. Jackson to the Bench of the
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Supreme Court in 1813. Mr. Hubbard soon rose to the
highest rank in the profession, both as a counsellor and
advocate, and became engaged in the most extensive and
laborious practice.” *

Mr. Hubbard was a man of a commanding presence,
a handsome countenance, and attractive manners. His
black hair showed a little gray where it curled about his
temples. He had a keen dark eye, which required a truth-
ful answer to the questions which he knew how to put.
He was great in his power of observation, and wonderfully
retentive and exact in his memory of facts. A proof of
his keen observation is shown in a case where he was cer-
tain that the chief witness perjured himself, and he saw
no way of proving his falsehood. After long and careful
examination it occurred to Mr. Hubbard to hold an im-
portant paper relating to the case against the window,
when he discovered that the water-mark bore a date
several years later than the deed. When asked the
next morning at court whether he had any further reply
to make, he said, “ Will your Honor please look at this
paper?” The Judge held the paper to the light, and
read the date aloud. The opposing counsel said, “I yield
the case.”

Mr. Hubbard’s local memory and attachments were
strong. For twenty-one years he lived in a house at
the head of Bumstead Place (the spot is now one of
the entrances to the Music Hall). From the parlor was a
pretty view of the Brookline hills. This view was cut
off by the shed fence of his neighbor, the Hon. Josiah
Quincy, who was kind enough to have the fence hinged in
sections and laid down except on Mondays, when it was
put up for the protection of the drying clothes. Some-
times the servants forgot to lower it, and a courteous
request would be sent that the fence might be dropped,

* Extract from the remarks of Charles G. Loring, Esq., before the Supreme
Judicial Court.
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and a polite apology came back and the fence was low-
ered.

During his early married life Mr. Hubbard spent the
summer months in the country, and gratified an ardent
love of Nature by daily walks in the garden, the fields,
and the woods. The birds were his companions; the
varied tints of their plumage delighted his eye, and he
wished that like rich and harmonious coloring might ap-
pear in the dress of his family and the adornments of his
house. In all his habits he was neat and orderly, and his
rare taste combined with his courteous manners made him
a general favorite. The society of ladies was especially
attractive to him, and the virtues and talents of woman
ever found in him a loyal advocate. No slander or gossip
was tolerated in his presence. His temper was fine, a
delicate vein of humor was often apparent in his conver-
sation, and his good-nature was almost imperturbable.
He was naturally averse to beginning study or work, and
thought his love of ease— or sloth, as he called it— his
greatest weakness; at the same time he was a very indus-
trious man, and few have the power to accomplish so
much hard work as he could do when he once set about
it. He had also great facility in throwing off the care
of business while he was with his family, and he amused
himself at table by asking his children questions, and
drawing out their knowledge and stimulating them to
get more.

The legal business of Mr. Hubbard brought mercantile
business in its train. At the organization of the Suffolk
Bank, in 1818, he was made one of the Directors. He
continued in this office for twenty-four years, and during
this time was the legal adviser of the bank. He was also
President of the bank for a short time, from April, 1825,
until November of the same year.

Mr. Hubbard was a member of the Massachusetts House
of Representatives in 1816-18, 1820, 1821, and 1831,
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and of the Senate in 1823 and 1824, and also in 1838.
He was also a member of the State Convention called to
amend the Constitution after the separation of Maine in
1820.

He gave much time and labor to educational and re-
ligious societies. His mother and all her family were
Episcopalians. While a child he attended Trinity Church
with his grandparents, and on his return to Boston after
leaving college he still went there. In 1821 he joined
Park Street Church, and from that time identified himself
with the Congregationalists.

For twenty-two years, from 1821 to 1843, he was a
member of the Prudential Committee of the American
Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions, and for
nine years was the Chairman of that Committee. He
sustained this relation till his appointment to the bench
of the Supreme Court made it necessary to resign the
office. During these years he devoted every Tuesday
afternoon to the duties of that Committee.

He was a Trustee of the Phillips Academy and Theo-
logical Seminary, Andover, Massachusetts, from 1823 to
1843.

From 1829 until his death he was a member of the
Corporation of Dartmouth College.

On the organization of the American Society for the
Promotion of Temperance in January, 1826, the Hon.
Marcus Morton was chosen President; the Hon. Samuel
Hubbard, Vice-President. Mr. Morton resigning in 1831,
Mr. Hubbard was made President. This society came to
an end in 1836, and was merged in the American Tem-
perance Union.

He was President of the American Education Society
for sixteen years, from 1827 until 1843, and one of the
original founders of the American Tract Society, and
Vice-President for the years 1839-42 inclusive. He was
also a member of the Bible Society.
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He was Vice-President of the American Home Mission-
ary Society from its commencement until his death. On
the 28th of May, 1847, he was chosen an honorary mem-
ber of the New England Historic Genealogical Society.

During the years so crowded with business, Mr. Hub-
bard’s fine constitution enabled him to study late at night
without impairing his health. The spare minutes in the
morning, while he waited for the family to assemble for
breakfast, which, in the shortest days of winter, was always
before eight o’clock, he employed in reading. In this
way he read many works. His library of English litera-
ture for size and value ranked among the first private
libraries in the city. The Hon. Rufus Choate said of
him that the reason why Mr. Hubbard could do so much
work was because he had his Sundays. But Sundays
were busy days, for two Bible-classes and the diligent
study of the Scriptures in preparation for them took
many hours. In the summer vacations Mr. Hubbard was
in the habit of taking a journey with his wife and some
of his children. Often a party of friends chartered a
stage-coach and travelled in company. Many pleasant
acquaintances were formed in 1834, when he went as
far as Detroit, then considered a long distance from
Boston. In 1835 he took a trip to the Provinces of New
Brunswick and Nova Scotia. ‘

In a second trip to Michigan and Western New York
he caught the fever and ague, and an attack in the autumn
of 1838 and a longer one in the spring of 1839 impaired
his constitution, and laid the foundation of the disease
which caused his death.

Mr. Hubbard’s very large family did not prevent the
exercise of hospitality. Never were master and mistress
of a household more hospitable, more cordial in welcoming
their friends and making them at home. Mr. Hubbard
was an affectionate husband and an indulgent parent.
In the latter years of his life his little boys went into his
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room early in the morning to hear him tell stories. These
tales grew day by day, and sometimes lasted for weeks.
His Bible stories were as interesting as fairy-tales. He took
great interest in his sons’ occupations and amusements,
and, with the help of his youngest daughter, devoted
much time to the oversight of a little paper called the
Gleaner, which three of his sons edited, printed, and cir-
culated among their friends for four years. He occasion-
ally wrote for it, and aided them in the selection, spelling,
and punctuation of their pieces. For the last twelve
years of his life he kept a journal called the Family Book,
in which he noted the daily events which were of interest
to the household.

He had the happy faculty of attaching dependents and
servants to him. He took a warm interest in their wel-
fare, and was always courteous in his treatment and
address.

Any notice of Mr. Hubbard would be incomplete with-
out a mention of his great modesty with regard to his
own gifts, personal and mental. If there was one thing
he was proud of, it was of his Huguenot ancestry.

In December, 1832, Gardiner Greene, Esq., died, leaving
a great estate, one of the largest at the time in New
England. Mr. Hubbard was the principal trustee. The
speculations of 1834 and 1835 and the reverses of the
two following years brought heavy losses. Mr. Hubbard
was not so successful in managing a large property as he
was in his legal pursuits. He resigned his trusteeship in
1849. At this time he lost the greater part of the prop-
erty which he had acquired for himself, and ever after-
ward felt straitened in his circumstances. During these
years he relinquished the active practice of the law,
though he was still consulted on important business by
private individuals.

In 1842 he was appointed by Governor Davis to succeed
Judge Putnam as one of the Justices of the Supreme



96 SAMUEL HUBBARD

Judicial Court of Massachusetts. Shortly after this ap-
pointment he was made LL. D. by Harvard College, 1842,
having received the same honor from Yale in 1827.

Before entering upon the duties of his office he made a
record of his feelings with regard to it, and in this record
is found a prayer, of which the following is a brief ex-
tract: “In the fear of my God and Saviour I undertake
the duties of this office; I cast myself on Him, I look to
Him for wisdom and strength, I pray Him to give me skill
to discern and integrity to judge right. I pray for indus-
try and promptness that I may be enabled successfully to
resist sloth and procrastination, to overcome the fear of
man, to avoid prejudice, to favor no one from a desire
to obtain or to continue his favor towards me. I pray for
patience to hear, and an ability to keep my thoughts on
the subject presented to me for decision. I pray for
courtesy and Christian kindness towards my respected
associates on the bench, towards the members of the bar
and the officers of the court, towards jurors and suitors
in court, and towards the whole community.”

Mr. Hubbard resided in Boston from 1811 until April,
1843, when he changed his residence to Dorchester. In the
autumn of 1844 he returned to the city, where he passed
the remainder of his life. Tn September, 1847, he went
to the western part of the State to hold court. While at
Northampton he was taken ill. On his return home, the
1st of October, it soon became apparent that the disease
would prove fatal. His illness was attended with great
debility and languor, but with little pain, and he was able
to ride out every day in an open carriage. His serenity
and cheerfulness were remarkable, and he was much
gratified that little incidents which commonly irritated
persons in sickness had no power to annoy him. In fact,
he generally enjoyed life in a remarkable degree. At
first he read interesting books, but, finding that his time
would be short, the books were laid aside, and he busied
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himself with looking over and destroying old papers and
arranging his affairs. His friends crowded to see him,
sometimes in such numbers that he appeared to be hold-
ing a levee. He enjoyed their society as much as ever,
and was not tired by their company. On Thanksgiving
Day, November 25, his children, for the first time in their
lives, all met together and dined at their father’s house.
Though he was not able to be at the table with them, he
conducted the family worship, as he did to the last evening
of his life. His disorder terminated much sooner than
was expected, and he died quite suddenly, December 24,
1847. His funeral was on the 27th, and he was buried
in Mount Auburn.

Immediately after his death Judge Hubbard’s friends,
wishing to testify their love and esteem, made a gift to
his widow of $10,000 for the education of his sons.

His funeral sermon was preached, January 2, 1848, by
the Rev. Silas Aiken, pastor of Park Street Church. Mr.
Aiken mentions Mr. Hubbard’s Bible-classes as some of the
most interesting of his religious labors. In October, 1831,
he began a Bible-class for young men, who met at his
house every Sunday for two years. Park Street Sunday
School was formed in 1833; then Mr. Hubbard’s Bible-
class was united with it. As long as he was able to attend
church he instructed this class, which numbered in all one
hundred and ninety-four regular members. In February,
1832, he began a young ladies’ Bible-class, which met at
his house weekly, with few interruptions, until April,
1843, when he removed from the city. One hundred and
twenty young ladies at different times belonged to this
class. He was also for a time a Sunday-school teacher in
the State Prison at Charlestown, Massachusetts.

The following remarks are extracted from an address
before the Supreme Judicial Court made by Charles G.
Loring, Esq., on the occasion of the death of the Hon.
Samuel Hubbard. Speaking of his character as an advo-
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cate, he says: “In the management of trials before the
jury, Mr. Hubbard was distinguished for his minute and
careful knowledge of every fact and circumstance and
every point of law and evidence that could be anticipated
to arise; for a peculiar, penetrating sagacity in seizing
upon the weak positions of his adversary’s case and the
strong ones of his own, for the clearness and discrimina-
tion with which he arrayed his points of law and fact,
and the adroitness and honest earnestness of conviction
with which he pressed them upon the jury, rather than
for great powers of generalization, or comprehensive
scope of argument, or verbal eloquence; although at
times, when under excitement in the belief that he was
contending with false testimony or intended wrong, his
appeals to the mind and heart might be ranked among
the happiest efforts of eloquent men.

¢ His arguments to the Court in Bench were character-
1zed by entire mastery of the learning applicable to the
subject, perfect apprehension of the turning-points of the
case, and clear, sagacious, truthful, and ingenious appli-
cation of the principles upon which its decision should
depend.

“ After a long and most honorable and successful career
in the practice of the law, he had in a great measure
retired from it for a few years preceding his elevation to
the Bench in 1842. The term of his service has been
indeed of short duration, but sufficient to evince the
wisdom of his appointment, to establish his claim to be
ranked among the most wise, accomplished, faithful, and
popular of judges, to impress upon the profession and
the people an affectionate and reverential regard for his
name, and to strengthen and elevate the highest judicial
tribunal of his native State; while the reports of his
judicial opinions will hand down to posterity the charac-
teristic traits of his mind as illustrated in his professional
career, though they can do nothing to perpetuate those
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graces of the heart and life which made him so dear to
his contemporaries. '

“In his social relations it is difficult to speak of the de-
ceased in terms that shall not be accounted the exag-
gerated eulogium of bereaved friendship. But we may
speak of his prompt and efficient services in the legislative
halls of the State when duty called him there ; of his ever
wise and active benevolence abroad ; of his unostentatious
charity to those who sought his aid in counsel or in alms;
of his unwearied services in the great causes of religion
and moral reformation, as a leading member and officer of
many public and private associations for these purposes;
the weight of his influence and example as a member of '
the Christian Church, and of the never-failing fulness of
mind and heart and simplicity of manner that shed such
sunlight upon the social circle or friendly interview ; — of
these we may speak, not, however, in the language of re-
pining sorrow or unmanly grief, but in thankfulness that
they have been vouchsafed so long, and in the happy con-
fidence that their influences shall never die.”

After various resolutions of respect and honor were
offered, Chief Justice Shaw made the following re-
sponse : —

“Judge Hubbard was remarkable among his contem-
poraries for his power of patient and thorough investiga-
tion which enabled him to unravel the most complicated
cases, and to point out clearly to others the true points
on which the merits of an intricate controversy turned.
Practising in a mercantile community in a time when
great interests growing out of commerce and navigation
were brought into controversy, his mind was thoroughly
imbued with a knowledge of mercantile law; not merely
the municipal law which governs one State or one country,
but that qualified international law which for gerferal
convenience, and almost by general consent, governs the
commercial world. He could readily bring to his aid, in
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questions arising out of either foreign or domestic com-
merce, that mass of usages and customs founded in con-
siderations of right and expediency, and sanctioned and
confirmed by the frequent decisions of courts of justice,
designated as the law merchant. His knowledge in these
respects and his practical skill in accounts, applied under
the aid of well-known and well-settled rules of law, fa-
miliar to his mind, gave him a pre-eminence in this class of
legal investigations which was felt and acknowledged by
those who were associated with him, as well as by the
courts and juries to whom they were presented. In the
discussion of legal questions his arguments were marked
by legal discrimination and a fulness of authorities which
indicated that no industry had been spared in bringing to
the support of his cause all the aid which books could
furnish. The example may be justly held up for imita-
tion, especially to young men looking forward to success
in the legal profession.”

Thursday, June 8, 1815, Mr. Hubbard was married to
Mary Ann, daughter of Gardiner Greene, merchant of
Boston, and Elizabeth Hubbard. (Mr. Greene and his
wife were second cousins, as were Mr. Hubbard and his
wife.) She died July 10, 1827. Their children were:
Elizabeth Greene, born February 11, 1817; Joanna Per-
kins, born September 26, 1818, died August 4, 1862;
Mary Ann, born September 7, 1820, died July 25, 1864;
Gardiner Greene, born August 25, 1822; Caroline, born
May 11, 1826, died November 15, 1868.

He married, second, Mrs. Mary Ann,widow of Rev. Henry
Blatchford, daughter of Elisha and Rebecca (Manwaring)
Coit, of New York City, October 28, 1828. She died in
Liverpool, England, July 20, 1869. By her he had Sarah
Wisner, born August 16, 1829, died February 26, 1856 ;
Samuel, born June 18, 1831; Henry Blatchford, born
January 8, 1833, died February 13, 1862; William Coit,
born September 23, 1834, died January 3, 1865; James
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Mascarene, born August 15, 1836; Charles Eustis, born
August 7, 1842. ‘

The following epitaph, though never engraven on his
monument, is a beautiful tribute to his memory : —

OF AN ANCIENT FAMILY:
OF COMMANDING PRESENCE:
OF URBANE MANNERS AND A
KINDLY HEART:
LEARNED IN THE INSPIRED
ORACLES A8 WELL AS IN HUMAN LAW:
A SOUND DIVINE NOT LESS
THAN A JUST JUDGE:
ACTIVE A8 A PHILANTHROPIST
BECAUSE EARNEST AS A
CHRISTIAN ; HE MOVED
WITH AUTHORITY AMONG MEN,
AND WALKED WITH GOD, AND WAS
NOT, FOR GOD TOOK HIM,



JOHN QUINCY ADAMS

JoEN QuiNcy ApawMs, the son of

JOoEN ApaMs and ABIGAIL SMITH.

named from his mother’s grandfather,

Joux Quincy, who was dying at the time of his birth.

born 11th of July, 1767, at Braintree, in Suffolk County, Colony of
Massachusetts Bay.

SN

It may fairly be said that from the date of his birth to
that of his death he followed closely, though on an in-
finitely wider scale, the example of the person after
whom he had been named. Hence it was that the earliest
impressions of the child, carefully nursed by his parents
as he grew, combined with his native vigor to make him
what he proved to be. For it may truly be said of him
that from education, in its ordinary sense of continuous
systematic instruction, he never had even the common
advantages. In his seventh year the family were driven
out of Boston by the war then impending, and instead of
learning he only gathered, from the heights behind the
home at Braintree, the booming of cannon and the glare
of the distant conflagration of Charlestown, fearful warn-
ings of the conflict of forces that was to follow. The
next year he had learned enough of the fortunes of war
to send to his father at Philadelphia a letter announcing
the evacuation of Boston by the British. That letter has
not been preserved, but its nature may be gathered from
this answer to it: —
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John Adams to his Son.
PHILADELPHIA, April 18, 1778.

My pEAR SoN,—I thank you for your agreeable letter of
the 24th of March. I rejoice with you that our friends are
once more in possession of the town of Boston, and am glad to
hear that so little damage is done to our house.

I hope you and your sister and brother will take proper notes
of these great events, and remember under whose wise and kind
Providence they are all conducted ; not a sparrow falls nor a
hair is lost but by the direction of Infinite Wisdom. Much less
are cities conquered and evacuated. I hope that you will all
remember how many losses, dangers, and inconveniences have
been borne by your parents, and the inhabitants of Boston in
general, for the sake of preserving freedom for you and yours,
and I hope you will all follow their virtuous example if in any
future time your country’s liberties should be in danger, and
suffer every human evil rather than give them up. My love to
your mamma, your sister and brothers and all the family.

I am your affectionate father,
JOHN ADAMS.

The evacuation of Boston referred to in this letter
presently put an end to all further féars of personal
danger in Massachusetts. But if this change was com-
forting to the mother, who stayed at home quietly on one
side, a new event on the other came to try her in a dif-
ferent fashion. The Congress at Philadelphia, rendered
uneasy by the reckless conduct of Silas Deane, who had
been sent as one of three Commissioners to France with
a view to conciliate the government there, fixed upon
John Adams as a trusty person to go out and correct pos-
sible errors. The mission was not without its hazards,
and he had little fancy for it. But he was not of the sort
to make excuses, and readily undertook the trust. One
of the few armed vessels belonging to the Congress, called
the Boston, then lying in the harbor of that town, was
assigned to take him over the sea. A grave question then
presented itself to his mind, in regard to the disposal of
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his wife and four children, the eldest not ten years old.
Here it was that the heroism of the wife shone out. She
declared herself ready either to go with him and brave
all hazards, or else to stay at home alone with all the
children, as he might judge most expedient. After anxious
consultation it was determined that only the eldest son,
John Quincy, should go with his father, whilst the other
children should remain under the protection of their
mother, and the relatives and friends within her reach.

This important question once settled, the next event
was the separation. On the 13th of February, 1778,
usually the roughest portion of the winter in New Eng-
land, the youth, then ten years old, stepped after his father
into a light open boat sent to receive them, and the party
" pushed off from the shore of their kinsman, Norton
Quincy of Mount Wollaston in Boston Bay, where they
had taken breakfast, to make the best of their way to a
small frigate lying out in the harbor. Captain Tucker,
the commander of the vessel, had been especially instructed
by the Navy Commissioners to take charge of this party,
and he went personally to perform the service. Many
years after this event, when it had become matter for
history, he presented to the younger passenger, who had
then risen to the highest office in the gift of the nation,
the original log-book kept by him during this hazardous
voyage. It tells of much severe weather as well as con-
stant alarms from vessels suspected to be British cruisers;
but nothing actually happened to prevent the ultimate
gafe arrival of the ship at Bordeaux on the 1st of April,
after the lapse of forty-six days.

Four days later the son addressed the following letter
to his mother at Quincy. He was then ten years old.

Paris, April the 12th, 1778.
Hox® MaMMA, — Having now a good opportunity I cannot
let it slip without writing a few lines To you as it is not
often that I have that pleasure, and so I must not let slip one
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opportunity in writing to so kind and tender a mamma as you
have been to me, for which I believe I shall never be able to
repay you.

I hope I shall never forget the goodness of God in preserving
us through all the dangers that we have been exposed to in
crossing the seas, and that by his Almighty power we have
arrived safe in France after a troublesome voyage. We arrived
at Paris on Wednesday evening at about 8 o’clock; when we
procured a lodging which we found difficult to get—but after
going to 2 or 3 places we found a place that we could hire for
2 days; where we lodged. The next morning we went to find
Dr. Franklin, where we found him at a place called Passy about
2 Leagues out of the city.

I am, with my love To my sister and brother,

Your dutiful son,
JOHN QUINCY ADAMS.

Eight days later he writes thus from Passy: —

I now sit down to write a few lines to inform you that I am
now at a school which I like very well. I will now give you
an account how we live here. At six o’clock in the morning
we get up and go into school and stay till half after eight when
we breakfast and play till 9, when we go in and stay till 12,
when we dine. After dinner we play till 2, when we go in and
stay till half after 4, when we come out and play till five, when
we go in and stay till half after 7, when we sup. After supper
we go up and stay about an hour, and go to bed.

I suppose before this reaches you, you will hear of the Treaty
concluded between France and America which I believe will
rouse the hearts of the Americans exceedingly, and also of the
desire of the English to make peace with us, and of the Com-
missioners despatched from England for that purpose.

Give my duty to my grandpapa and my love to all friends.

I am your dutiful son,
JOHN QUINCY ADAMS.

Here begins the political education. The commission
referred to was probably that consisting of Lord Carlisle,
Governor Johnstone, and Mr. Eden, sent from Great
Britain about this time, but which brought nothing to
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pass. On the other hand, that to which Mr. Adams had
been sent at Paris he found in little better condition.
Hence he was not long in making up his mind to recom-
mend to the Congress to reduce the number of three
Commissioners to one, and that the one should be Dr.
Franklin. As a consequence his place would be not to
dally in France, but to return home forthwith. The
French Ministry, pleased by his deportment while there,
and just then fitting out an armed vessel to take the
Count de la Luzerne in the capacity of an Envoy to the
new nation in America, on learning Mr. Adams’s decision,
liberally extended to him an invitation to go likewise in
that ship. This offer was accepted, and in accordance
with it he took leave of the government and embarked
with his son John at L'Orient in the French frigate ¢ La
Sensible,” on the 17th of June, 1779. The voyage proved
highly favorable, and brought the wanderers safely home
to Braintree, after an absence of more than seventeen
months, on the 2d of August, 1779.

Thus ended the first voyage of the youth, then near
the close of his twelfth year.

But he had scarcely enjoyed the first hours of recreation
at home, with the mother whom he so deeply cherished,
when a new and wholly unexpected event came to inter-
pose a second separation.

The report made by John Adams to Congress of the
state of things at Paris, consequent upon the dissensions
that had sprung up among the various delegates who had
been sent there, had the effect of impelling those mem-
bers of the Congress who represented the Northern
colonies to go to the other extreme, and, instead of
multiplying agents, to concentrate their trust in a single
person. That person proved to be Mr. Adams. The
consequence was that by this decisive act a new Com-
mission was created, and he was elected the sole person
to fill it.
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This act met with the approbation of the French Envoy.
The French frigate “La Sensible,” which had brought
both of them over, was still lying in the harbor awaiting
orders, and the Count Luzerne lost no time, after learning
the result of the choice, in offering to Mr. Adams an
immediate passage in her back again. Hence it followed
that, after an interval of rest not much exceeding three
months, Mr. Adams was summoned once more to embark
in the Sensible. But this time he took with him not
only his son John, but a younger brother, Charles, nine
years old, as well as a trustworthy Secretary, Mr. Thaxter,
a very necessary appendage to such a Commission. There
he found also Mr. Francis Dana, chosen to act as his
Secretary, and several other countrymen fellow-passengers
on board.

It is from the date of this ship’s sailing from Boston
that the first attempt was made by John Quincy Adams,
now a boy of twelve years old, to keep a diary of events,
an undertaking in which he persevered for nearly
seventy years. There was nothing remarkable in the
voyage, excepting the fact recorded by the youth that
the frigate sprang a leak serious enough to require even
the passengers to take their part daily at the pumps, four
times a day, struggling with this difficulty. On the 8th
of December they finally made out to reach the harbor of
Ferrol in Spain. The youthful journalist thereupon
records on the 9th of December the following entry : —

«This morning my pappa, Mr. Dana, Mr. Allen, Mr. Thaxter,
Sammy Cooper and myself came on shore and we all, but pappa,
went and dined at Colonel Fleury’s lodgings which are at a
French tavern, the master of which was born in South Carolina.
At half after six o’clock we went to the play and came back at
ten.”

The frigate was found to require so long a time to
repair that the voyagers decided not to wait for it. The
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alternative was to proceed to France by land. Accord-
ingly on Wednesday, the 15th of December, the whole
party started in carriages and on mules from Ferrol to
cross the mountains.

A brief specimen of the journal of the youth during
this trip will suffice. John Quincy was then in his twelfth
year:—

“ This morning at 5 o’clock the Consul’s servant came and
waked us up. We dressed and drank a cup of chocolat. After
breakfast the Consul came and told us he was ready. We then
went down to the wharf and on board a boat, to cross over the
other side of the bason. When we arrived, the muleteers were
not quite ready, but we soon got ready and then set out like so
many Don Quixotes and Sancho Panchas or Hudibras and
Ralphos. We were eleven in company, and in this order: 1st,
the Consul; 2d, my Pappa; 8d, Mr. Dana; 4th, Mr. Allen;
5th, Mr. Thaxter; 6th, Mr. Sam Cooper; Tth, my brother
Charles, and 8th, myself, who made the centre; 9th, the Con-
sul’s servant; 10th, Mr. Dana's servant; 11th and last, the
muleteers who brought up the rear. We passed several bridges
and amongst the rest one of a mile long which they call Devil's
Bridge, and another at which we dined, which was called Hog’s
bridge — Droll names for bridges, I think. The French Consul
provided our dinner, and we were glad of it, for we found noth-
ing at all that was eatable at the tavern. He said that they
found nothing ; but some of the gentlemen asking for water,
Ah, says he, as to water you may find enough of that in Spain.
We also passed a river and a number of prodigious high moun-
tains. The ground is in general well cultivated, corn, turnips
and all other vegetables stand in the ground in the month of
December uncovered, all about, with a sweet verdure and all
appears like the month of May. We arrived at Corunna and
took our lodgings. The city of Corunna appeared to me to be
better built and handsomer than that of Ferrol; the streets are
larger but I entered it in the night and therefore could not
observe anything well.”

On the 26th of December the party left Corunna, and,
passing through a large number of places, were so delayed
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that it was not until the 29th of January, 1780, that they
arrived at Bordeaux. In other words, this trip over the
mountains in Spain absorbed as much time as either of
the passages made over the ocean, whilst the fatigue was
infinitely greater.

With this arrival terminates the first specimen of the
diary of John Quincy Adams. It may be added that on
the outside covers are drawn a variety of sketches of
military forts, and lines of soldiers in single file, marching
with cannon to the attack, betraying a lively sense among
the youths of the perils they had anticipated. But they
were doomed to disappointment. The party arrived for
the second time safe and sound at Paris in the first days
of July. The boys were soon put to school; but not to
remain anywhere very long. On Thursday, the 27th of
the month, John Quincy, who had been duly notified, was
ready to set out with his father and brother to Holland.
They went accordingly to Amsterdam, where he entered
the public Latin school. Here he appears to have met
with a teacher who, failing to understand American habits,
evoked a spirit of resistance which, if once raised, might
easily have passed into something more serious. The
storm was averted by his father’s withdrawing him forth-
with. He was immediately transferred to the University
of Leyden, where all went smoothly and successfully as
possible. It is here that he began a practice of copying
into small paper books every passage that he found strik-
ing in the works of noted poets and prose writers in
various languages. He was industriously at work in this
way when still another event interposed to change the
direction of his thoughts.

It has already been noted that among the passengers
in the frigate Sensible had been Francis Dana, of Mas-
sachusetts, selected by Congress to act as the Secretary
in Mr. Adams’s mission; but in the event of any prospect
of a recognition of the new country by the Empress
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Catherine of Russia, he was authorized to take measures
to obtain an official recognition as a minister at that Court.
In July, 1781, the appearances seemed so favorable that
Mr. Adams urged the prosecution of the experiment as,
at least, worth trying. Accordingly Mr. Dana made his
preparations for the journey, but, finding himself in need
of a Secretary to aid him, he proposed to young Adams to
serve in that capacity. This once more broke up the
youth’s regular schooling, and he never resumed it until,
some years after, he got home to an American College.
The party started from Amsterdam on the 17th of July,
but did not reach St. Petersburg until the 27th of August,
being about forty days on the way, riding day and night.

Here he remained for a period of fourteen months. A
single letter of his to his father on his arrival at St. Peters-
burg may suffice to explain his own feelings at this time.
He was now passing his fourteenth year: —

J. Q. A.to J. A.

St. PETERSBURG, August 81st, 1781.
To MY FATHER:

HoNOURED SiR,— We arrived here on Monday the 3$th in-
stant, having left Amsterdam the Tth of July N. S. and rode the
greatest part of the way day and night. The distance is about
two thousand English miles.

The first place of any consequence we stopped at was Berlin,
the capital of the King of Prussia’s dominions— This is a very
pretty town much more so than Paris or London, as Mr. Dana
says, but it will be still more so, if the present King’s plan is
adopted by his successors — For wherever there is a row of low
small houses, he sends the owners out of them, has them pulled
down and has large elegant houses built in the same place, and
then sends the owners in again. But notwithstanding this, he
is not beloved in Berlin, and everybody says publicly what he
pleases against the King — but as long as they do not go any
further than words he don’t take any notice of it; but says that
as long as they give him all he asks they may say what they will.
But they have great reason to complain of him, for he certainly
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treats them like slaves. Among other things if a farmer has
two or more sons, the eldest inherits all the land, and all the
others when of age, are soldiers for life at a gros and a half per
day, which is about two pence sterling, and they must with that,
find their own provisions. If a farmer has but one son, he
inherits his land. Whenever a vacation* happens in any regiment
he chooses one of his subjects to fill the place, and this subject,
from that time becomes a soldier for life. Everybody that is
tall enough is subject to this law.

In peace time the native troops are disbanded. Nine months
in a year, and in all that time their pay ceases, and they must
get their living as they can.

There is nothing very remarkable in Dantzic, Konigsberg, or
Riga; in coming to this last we passed through Courland, a
province which does, strictly speaking, belong to Poland, but
Russia has much more influence there than Poland itself. In
that province all the farmers are in the most abject slavery.
They are bought and sold there like so many slaves, and are
sometimes even changed for dogs or borses. Their masters have
even the right of life and death over them, and if they kill one
of them they are only obliged to pay a trifling fine — They may
buy themselves, but their masters in general take care not to let
them grow rich enough for that. If anybody buys any land
there, he must buy all the slaves that are upon it.

Narva is the last place we stopped at before our arrival here.
It is a small town, but although insignificant will be always
famous for the battle fought there.

As to this place I have not been here long enough to know
much about it ; but by what I have seen of it, I think it is still
handsomer than Berlin. The streets are large and the houses
well built, but it is not yet half finished, and will take another
century to be rendered complete.

Just before we got to Berlin, by the carelessness of the pos-
tilion, our carriage overset and broke, so that Mr. Dana was
obliged to buy another there — but luckily nobody was hurt by
the fall. Nothing else extraordinary befell us on our journey.

I am your dutiful son,
J. Q. ADAwMs.

* ]d est, vacancy.
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The time had not arrived when the Empress Catherine
could see her way to make any overtures to American
rebels without hazarding her good understanding with the
British authorities. There was nothing, therefore, for the
youth to do but to study German, read the Orations of
Cicero, translate the Latin authors, and copy largely from
books of the British poets. Fourteen months thus passed
without a prospect of release through the return of Mr.
Dana, so he tired of his studies and made up his mind to
go back to his father at Paris. A solitary journey wholly
through strange countries by a youth of barely fifteen, in
the depth of winter, was no trifling undertaking, but he
decided to make it. On the 30th of October, 1782, he
left St. Petersburg alone for Stockholm, which he reached
in twenty-three days. From thence he went to Copen-
hagen, taking five weeks. Thence he was detained on his
way by so many delays that he did not get back to his
father at The Hague until the 20th of April, 1783, a period
of very nearly six months.

But in the interval occupied by this journey a great
change had been going on in public affairs. Great Britain
had come to the conclusion that the recovery of the
American Colonies was hopeless. A resort to negotiation
had been had, and the place for it fixed at Paris. Hence
John Adams was not the less pleased to have his son with
him, ready to go to that city. Meanwhile his wife and
daughter had crossed the Atlantic, and the family found
themselves once more together after this separation of
five anxious and painful years.

The Peace was made in 1783, and John Adams, after
having acted as one of the ministers in the negotiations,
was commissioned by Congress to pass over to Great
Britain and present himself to the King as the first diplo-
matic representative of the emancipated nation. The
change of place was agreeable to all the members of the
family but one. John Quincy was now in his eighteenth
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year, and it was high time for him, if he meant to do any-
thing at all, to prepare himself for action in a different
sphere. He had helped in the details of the negotiation,
and the temptation to remain with the family in England
was not trifling. Had he yielded, this would probably
have been the end of his career. He decided to tear
himself away and return alone to try his fortune in a de-
serted home. It was the turning point of his life.

At this stage it may not be without its use in the study
of character to look back for a moment at the nature of
the preparation which he had made at the time when he
decided to apply for admission as a student at Harvard
College. In the interval of his absence in Europe he had
been more or less transported from place to place over a
large portion of Europe, and that in a manner very un-
propitious to the prosecution of any continuous study.
First in France, then in Holland, thence for a few months
in St. Petersburg, after which passing rapidly through
Norway and Sweden, again to Paris, it would be natural
to infer that he could have accomplished little or nothing
in the line of study or education. Whether at Passy, or
Paris, or Amsterdam, or Leyden, or St. Petersburg, it
might be assumed that no opportunity for thorough study
in any branch of knowledge could have been secured be-
tween these various points. Yet from an examination of
the papers left by him during this same period it appears
that he studied, and in many instances translated into
English or into French, very numerous extracts from
Pheedrus, Nepos, Virgil, Horace, Lucretius, Tibullus, Ovid,
Tacitus, Suetonius, Caesar, and Cicero, all of which yet
remain among his papers, together with other works of
the same kind made afterwards. Under such circum-
stances it is not surprising that on his application for
admission at Cambridge he was at once admitted to ad-
vanced standing in the junior year, so that his residence
at the College did not much exceed one year. In a letter

8
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to his mother announcing his admission he adds that he
could have entered even in the senior year, but he pre-
ferred to get the training afforded by a longer stay with
his associates.

In 1787, at the age of twenty years, he issued from the
College with high honors. The next thing to do was to
choose a profession. He did not hesitate a moment. He
applied to Theophilus Parsons, then rising to distinction
in the practice of the law, who readily opened the way
for him, and on the 15th of July, 1790, at the age of
twenty-three, he appeared before the then small world of
Boston as a citizen seeking his fortune with his own hands,
whether for evil or for good, like everybody else.

Yet, whilst patiently waiting for business, he was not
inattentive to the political movements of the country, and
especially to the discussions springing from the overthrow
of the French monarchy, in which Edmund Burke and
Thomas Paine had drawn so largely upon the popular
attention in both hemispheres. Stimulated perhaps by
the attacks made by Paine on some abstract speculations
on government published by his father, the young dis-
putant, in 1791, boldly came forward in the Boston news-

papers with a series of papers in reply to him, which; at s

once attracted attention, not merely at home in America
but in Great Britain, France, and other countries of
Europe.

One of these productions, when printed in the news-
papers of America, met the eyes of President Washington,
and touched him to such a degree that he marked the
writer as a person fit for confidence in any emergency in
the service abroad. This was followed quickly by his
selection of him as Minister Resident in Holland, in May,
1794. On the 17th of September Mr. Adams embarked
for the third time on the ocean, and on the 15th of the
next month entered London, from which place he lost no
time to pass over to Holland, and reach his place of
destination on the last day of the year 1794.
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A diplomatic post at The Hague is rarely one in which
any Envoy from America, since the first one, could expect
to gather much direct information or exercise a happy
influence. Mr. Adams remained there quietly, with no
interruption excepting that created by the arrival and
presence of the Representatives of the French Convention
detailed to accompany and observe the officers of their
armies. But it was not long before a sudden call came
from his own government to change the scene. The
American Minister at London, Mr. Thomas Pinckney, had
been called to Spain just at a time when the exchange
was to take place of the ratification of the much belabored
Treaty so universally known as Jay’s Treaty. Mr. Adams,
as the nearest person at hand, had been sent for to do
that duty in Mr. Pinckney’s place. But he had been de-
tained so long by the obstacles of a winter passage across
the Straits that when he arrived he found the work had
already been done, with the assent of the British author-
ities, by Mr. Deas, the Secretary of Legation. The ex- -
perience he went through with Lord Grenville, then the
Foreign Secretary, has already been laid before the public
in the publication of his Diary. It is sufficient here to
say that he acquitted himself of a delicate task without a
mistake. This was the first trial in that line of life which
he had embraced, and he passed it safely.

In 1797 two events happened to Mr. Adams which sud-
denly changed the course of his life. The first was the
succession of his father to the Presidency of the United
States; the second was his own marriage. Before going
out of office President Washington had transferred him
from his place in Holland to a similar one at Lisbon in
Portugal. On leaving office he had gone so far as to
write a letter to his successor, earnestly soliciting him,
without regard to his relationship, to retain his son in
public life, as being likely, if continued, to prove himself
the ablest man in the diplomatic corps. That successor was
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his father, John Adams, who, mindful of the injunction, '
did no more than to transfer his place of destination from
Portugal to Prussia, the difference being chiefly that there
would be something for him to do in one place rather than
nothing in the other. The Treaty made with Prussia at
the close of the Revolution, limited to ten years, was
about to expire, and it was deemed of importance to ob-
tain modifications of its terms in case of renewal. After
some hesitation these considerations seem to have pre-
vailed in the minds of the ratifying Senate, and the nom-
ination was accordingly confirmed.

The other event was his marriage to Louisa Catherine,
daughter of Mr. Joshua Johnson of Maryland, a person
who had been sent out to France in the early days of the
Revolution, in the capacity of Consul, for the purpose of
settling the public accounts there, and had been subse-
quently transferred to London in the same capacity, as
soon as the new government had been acknowledged by
" Great Britain. The married couple now took their de-
parture from London on the 18th of October, 1797, in a
vessel which landed them at Hamburg on the 26th. From
thence they proceeded by land to Berlin, which they
reached in safety, by the slow progress of those days, on
the 7th of November.

Mr. Adams remained at Berlin for a period of nearly
four years, in the course of which he succeeded in arrang-
ing a modified extension of the old Treaty about to expire
by its own limitation. Having abundant leisure left on
his hands, and his wife’s health being very delicate, he
spent a portion of time in brief excursions over other
parts of Germany, noting the results of his observations
in private letters addressed to his relations at home.

Just at the same moment Mr. Joseph Dennie, an in-
timate acquaintance of his brother then residing in Phila-
delphia, was projecting the publication of a weekly
magazine still remembered as the Portfolio; and the idea
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of appropriating these letters, which he read as they
arrived, to aid his project, at once occurred to him.
Scarcely had this feat been performed, without the con-
sent of the author, when another person pounced upon
the sheets, transferred them from Philadelphia to London,
and published them there in a volume, in 1804, under the
title of « Letters on Silesia by His Excellency John Quincy
Adams, &c.” The very next year saw them transferred
with as little ceremony into German by one Friedrich
Gotthelf Friesc, with comments by Friedrich Albert Zim-
merman, and published at Breslau; and, last of all, they
were passed into French in the same surreptitious manner
by one J. Dupuy, and published by Dentu at Paris in
1807, he having the courage to threaten prosecution for
any abuse of the copyright, all of which happened without
a single whisper of the news coming to the legitimate
owner until many years afterwards.

On the 4th of September, 1801, Mr. Adams landed in a
vessel at the wharf in Philadelphia, after his second ab-
sence from home, which had lasted seven years. He at
once proceeded to Massachusetts, and resumed his pro-
fession in the yet comparatively small town of Boston,
just as if nothing had happened. Yet the country had
taken many steps in the interval in its political advance.
The Federal party, which had earned the credit of organ-
izing an effective system of government, had become a
minority in the country at large, and after a close contest
had given way to what was then called the party of
Republicans, with Mr. Jefferson at their head, established
in the chair of the Presidency. Yet it still retained its
hold upon a large part of the population, especially
Boston and the States of New England. At the next gen-
eral election Mr. Adams was returned as one of the four
Federal Senators elected from the town of Boston. Later
in the same year he was put up, without any agency of
his, as a candidate for Representative to Congress, in oppo-
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sition to the sitting member, and he lost the election by a
difference of fifty-nine in a sum total of nearly four thou-
sand votes. The Legislature assemnbled soon after, and
Mr. Adams took his seat in the Senate of the State on the
13th of January. But he had held it barely three weeks
when another election of far more importance came up
for settlement by that body. This was the choice of a
Senator of the United States for a term of six years. On
this occasion the first symptoms of a difference of senti-
ment in the party ranks began to show themselves. In
the popular branch of the Legislature it was found impos-
sible to concentrate a majority upon Mr. Pickering, the
favorite of the more vehement politicians, so that after
three trials they yielded, and Mr. Adams was elected by a
majority of one vote over all other candidates. In the
Senate the Federal vote for concurrence was not divided,
so that the election thus became complete.

On the 21st of October, 1803, Mr. Adams took his place
in a wholly new field of action, the Senate of the United
States at Washington. Not long afterwards Mr. Pickering
was chosen to fill the vacancy occasioned by the with-
drawal of the other Senator. Considering the past rela-
tions of that gentleman with his father whilst in the
Presidency, it was scarcely to be expected that any cor-
diality could be felt between them. This state of things
gradually assumed a more positive shape as public events
of the most grave nature followed each other. The differ-
ences chiefly grew out of the foreign policy adopted by
President Jefferson,— a policy not favored by the majority
of the people of Massachusetts. Towards the close of the
period of his term, the Legislature then in being having
thought it proper to pass in advance some resolutions
reflecting upon his conduct, Mr. Adams promptly replied
by a letter, conveying an immediate resignation of his
post.

As very often happens in the stormy conflicts of political
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life, an attempt on the part of one party to throw out a
public man of recognized power, holding strong opinions,
immediately rouses the sympathy of the other side, and a
corresponding earnestness to sustain him. It is not at all
unlikely that this was the leading motive of Mr. Madison,
then succeeding to the Presidency, in establishing a new
and responsible office and offering it to Mr. Adams at that
moment. Certain it is that, without any agency on the
part of Mr. Adams, the President sent to the Senate a
nomination of him as Minister to Russia. - This was a re-
newal of the unsuccessful attempt made twenty-five years
before in the case of Mr. Dana. For a moment the Senate,
stirred by the successor of Mr. Adams, opposed the con-
firmation, and the motion was carried by a majority of
two. But it proved labor in vain. A few weeks later
Mr. Madison renewed it, fortified this time by reasons,
and on the next day it was confirmed by the large
majority of nineteen out of twenty-six Senators.

On the 5th of August, 1809, Mr. Adams, with his wife
and his youngest child, embarked on board the ship
Horace, a merchant vessel then fitting out, at the wharf
in Charlestown, Massachusetts, by William Gray, for St.
Petersburg. The trip proved long and stormy. He did
not reach his destination until the 23d of October, making
seventy-five days.

And here it should be remembered what a change had
come over his country as well as himself since that first
visit to St. Petersburg. He had been there when almost
a boy, twenty-six years before, acting as the Secretary of
Francis Dana, then sent by the American Congress in the
hope of gaining some favor from the Empress Catherine
to promote the great object of national independence.
Failing in this at that time, no further effort had
been made until now, when overtures seem rather to
have originated from the other side, inviting the very
relations that had been then declined. The change,

e < N N e i\ (N — ——



120 JOHN QUINCY ADAMS

coming as it did, in the midst of the confusion prevailing
among the nations of Europe, and the climax of the dom-
ineering spirit of Great Britain over the seas, was not a
little significant. Hence it happened that in the very
same splendid mansion in which young Adams had been
before invited to the table of the Envoy of Louis XVI.
as a mere mark of sympathy to soothe an adverse re-
sponse to the American prayer, the matured statesman
was now formally ushered to partake, on an equal footing
with all other diplomatic Envoys, including that of Great
Britain, of the hospitality of the first Minister of the
Empire. In this position Mr. Adams remained for nearly
six years, a close observer of the fearful struggle,
so nearly successful, of the desperate expedition of Napo-
leon Bonaparte. It seemed as if war had become the
ruling passion of all Europe, and had at last spread itself
over the farthest seas as well as all the land. Great
Britain, not satisfied with its share of the great conflict in
Europe, entangled itself so far with America that it trans-
ported armies and navies to maintain a vigorous assault
even on the people of the United States. Mr. Adams
could only be, from a long distance, an anxious spectator
of this scene.

It was just at this crisis that the confidence which Mr.
Adams had inspired in the mind of Count Romanzoff by
his previous relations with him, led him to suggest the
possibility of interposing the friendly hand of Russia
towards a reconciliation between the two countries. This
proposition was of course met by Mr. Adams in the spirit
in which it was intended, though without the assumption
ol any authority to act in the premises. It was forwarded
in course to America, and the offer was accepted. Such
was the origin of what proved to be the Joint Commission
of Negotiators respectively appointed by Great Britain
and the United States to negotiate a peace. Of that
Commission, on the part of the United States, Mr. Adams
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was one among five persons selected by the President for
the duty. ,

Such was the origin of what was called the Mediation
Mission, which ultimately resulted in the assemblage of
Negotiators of the respective parties in Europe to secure
a peace. The place ultimately selected was Ghent in
ancient Flanders, and the time fixed the early part of
August. The session commenced on the 8th of that
month, and after earnest contention both within and
without the Commission, a Treaty was happily completed
by the respective parties on the 24th of December, 1814.
Of the details of this negotiation it is not necessary to
say more than that Mr. Adams may justly claim his full
share of honor as an active member in securing the happy
result. This duty performed, he repaired to Paris, whence
he immediately wrote to his wife at St. Petersburg his
decision not to return, and his wish that she should leave
that city as soon as possible and come by land to join him.
She accordingly, in the depth of winter, set off from that
capital in a carriage and post-horses, with one child, the
writer of these lines, and only two servants to accompany
her the whole way. She happily met the trial even of
passing alone through the ranks of the French army on
their way to test the last chances of their great leader,
and joined her husband at Paris on the 23d of March,
1815.

Peace being once more restored to the exhausted nations
of the civilized world, Mr. Adams received despatches from
home apprising him of his appointment to the post of
Minister to the Court of Great Britain. Accordingly he
at once took the necessary steps to transfer himself to
London, which place he reached on the 26th of May, 1815.
His residence there was, however, eventless and short,
little exceeding two years. At that period the term of
. Mr. Madison’s Presidency expired, and Mr. Monroe suc-
ceeded to it. His advancement vacated the place of
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Secretary of State, which led to a change in the Cabinet,
and the selection of Mr. Adams to succeed to that post.
On Sunday, the 15th of June, 1817, he, with all the mem-
bers of his family, embarked from Cowes in the Isle of
Wight, on board of the ship Washington bound for New
York. On the 6th of August the ship arrived, and Mr.
Adams landed on American soil after a fourth absence,
never again to leave it. KEight times had he crossed the
ocean, and nineteen years of his life had been spent, more
or less of it, in the foreign service of his country.

His career had thus far been largely connected with
the great events which had been agitating the most
powerful communities of the globe. From this date to
the end of- his life it becomes as closely connected with
the peaceful direction of public events at home. On the
20th of September, 1817, he arrived at Washington, and
reported himself to the State Department ready to assume
the duties to which -he had been called. The President
being absent from the city, he immediately applied himself
to such work as he found assigned to him. One subject
early presented to his attention was a resolution of the
House of Representatives, drawn out by the last message
of President Madison, reminding Congress that no adequate
provision had yet been made for securing uniformity of
weights and measures, as proposed in the Constitution, and
suggesting some action on the subject. This was in a
measure a novel topic, though not quite unknown to Mr.
Adams by reason of his acceptance of a similar suggestion
previously offered by President Jefferson; and much study
and experiment of the matter in Russia. In fact, the work
occupied him for a considerable period of his official term.
This report was not made to the Senate until February in
the year 1821. It has ever since occupied much of public
attention in both hemispheres, and has been reprinted by
Professor Davis as forming the best treatise on the sub-
ject for the use of schools.
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But it was not merely in abstract treatises that Mr.
Adams confined himself during the eight years that he
occupied that high office. The relations with foreign
countries were carefully watched, especially the misunder-
standings growing out of adjoining limits of territory.
Those with Spain especially, not entirely clear in the
definitions of boundary, had been suddenly complicated
by arbitrary proceedings, in certain cases, of the chief
military officer commanding in the South, General Andrew
Jackson. In the controversy which ensued between the
Secretary of State and Don Luis de Onis, the Envoy of
Spain, the duty of defending him fell upon the former,
and he did it successfully in a national point of view. But
the most effective triumph was the successful negotiation
of a Treaty ceding the whole territory of Spanish Florida
to the United States. Thus was an end put to all future
danger to the peace of the country flowing from disputed
questions of title in that section of the Union. The foreign
service had thus become more clear of clouds than at any
previous moment of the history of the nation; on the
other hand, however, new troubles were slowly rising in
the interior of the country. The election of Mr. Monroe
as President of the United States by a large majority at
the first period, was marked with entire unanimity the
second time. A single vote had been excepted, and that
only out of complimentary regard for Mr. Adams. No
sooner had this ceremony passed away than it became
clear that many others than he were in contemplation as
candidates during the period of the next struggle, four
years later. Their respective partisans became bitter and
vindictive to a degree never before witnessed. Mr.
Adams, as being perhaps thought the strongest in popular
favor, became early an object of assault. Four persons
were prominent in this contention, — William H. Crawford
of Georgia, then Secretary of the Treasury, Henry Clay
of Kentucky, and General Andrew Jackson of Tennessee,
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besides Mr. Adams. The struggle was purely personal,
there being little or no difference in the respective views
of the policy to be continued. When the election took
place it turned out that no one of the candidates had the
requisite number of electoral votes. Asa matter of course
the provision of the Constitution came into play, which
referred the choice to a majority of the members of the
House of Representatives, voting by States. The election
took place in the prescribed form, and by the influence
exercised by the friends of Mr. Clay, who held the balance
in their hands, in 1824, the lot fell upon Mr. Adams, and
on the 4th of March of the next year he became President
of the United States. He had been elevated by the con-
current action of his own friends and those of a candidate
belonging to the Western States, and it very naturally
followed that the administration thus coming into power
should depend mainly upon a thorough union of the forces
which had effected the result. Mr. Henry Clay was,
therefore, selected as the fittest person to succeed Mr.
Adams in the Cabinet, and offers were made to the exist-
ing members of it to continue in their places. All of
them assented but Mr. Crawford of Georgia, himself a
rival candidate representing the Slaveholding States, but
unfortunately invalidated by mortal disease. Thus it was
that the new Administration was launched. Its success in
acquiring the necessary strength to support it was to
depend purely on its own merits, and the chances of gain-
ing the confidence of more or less of the friends of the
candidates who had failed. Time soon developed a ten-
dency to concentration in opposition, mainly composed of
the slaveholders, which, joining with a preponderating
division of the Northern States, and uniting in the popular
support of General Jackson, carried everything before it
at the ensuing election in 1828.

This union, assuming the name of the Democratic party,
exercised for many years a powerful sway over the policy
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of the country. Neither would it have ceased to exist to
this day but for the resistance resolutely carried on in
every step of its progress by a popular counteraction
raised in the free States against the source of this great
power, the development of slavery. The share which Mr.
Adams took in initiating that struggle embraces much the
larger, as it is the most brilliant, portion of the history of
his life.

On the 4th of March, 1829, Mr. Adams, on taking leave
of the highest station which the country had to give, ap-
peared at the time to be only following the example set
by all his predecessors, of retiring to entire privacy. He
had been engaged in the public service in one shape or
another for five and forty years, with few and brief inter-
missions, and it seemed to others as well as himself as if
he might accept of an exchange of the toil and trouble of
that long period in the great world for a green old age at
home. All his predecessors had carefully followed the
example set by Washington of close retirement. For
about a year and a half Mr. Adams seems himself to have
had no other idea. Then the suggestion of any return to
public life came upon him most unexpectedly. It had so
happened that the Representative in the Congress of the
United States for the district in which he lived in Massa-
chusetts, a most respectable clergyman, belonging to a
neighboring town, called on him one day to say that he
had no desire to continue in the place he held, and further
to intimate a wish that he, Mr. Adams, might be induced
to consent to succeed to it. Very shortly afterward this
suggestion appeared in the columns of a newspaper noted
singularly enough for its steady and long-continued abuse
of him. No preceding President after retiring had ever
thought of accepting a purely political nomination of any
kind. Mr. Adams had been the only President who did
not close his term at the age of sixty-six, that mystical
number around which had terminated the career of all
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preceding Presidents, and which until then seemed to be
hardening into a rule of retirement from public life almost
as firm as if enacted by law. Nevertheless, the hint thus
suggested in the newspaper was quietly taken up by
residents in the district, and Mr. Adams shortly received
applications from various quarters to know whether he
was ready to break the spell and accept a nomination.
On his part he had no hesitation. The call was made and
promptly accepted. The consequence was the election of
Mr. Adams, at the election in November, 1830, and his
continuous service in the House of Representatives for a
period of seventeen years until the 23d of February, 1848,
when the angel of death struck him prostrate as he was
rising to take part in debate.

Mr. Adams was elected an honorary member of the
New England Historic Genealogical Society on the 20th
of February, 1845, being the first honorary member
chosen. His letter of acceptance is dated August 1, 1845.

Of his services to the country in the long struggle
carried on by him, almost alone, for the maintenance of
the great principles of human liberty, at one period almost
entirely neglected if not forgotten, there is no space here
to discourse. For a great while it seemed as if he led a
forlorn hope. The combinations formed at the time of "
the Presidential defeat in 1828 had, under the strong will
of General Jackson, so fastened their powers over the
legislative and executive branches of the government
that any efforts to break through them seemed next to
hopeless. The combat continued, with little or no cessa-
tion, under the form of resistance to all effort to suppress
liberty of speech. Neither were the fruits of the victory
gathered until many and long years had passed after Mr.
Adams’s death. It was with the inauguration of Abraham
Lincoln, and the fearful conflict of force that followed,
that the true principles of a free country regained their
vigor, and the progress of liberty was laid open in con-
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junction with all other avenues of power on the globe.
The right of personal freedom now spread hand in hand
among the denizens of all civilization, and the share which
John Quincy Adams took in that advance in his own day
will remain to fix him in the memory of mankind long
after the rest of his brilliant career may have waned into
the distant mythology of the past.

It may indeed be that, after this extended view of the
public character of Mr. Adams, a want should yet be felt
of some acquaintance with the interior of his life. With
many who knew him only at a distance and merely as a
public character, an impression certainly prevailed that he
had a more or less repellent manner, calculated to give an
impression of indifference, if not of moroseness, in his
relations with general society,and even with his family at
home.

In this respect nothing could be more mistaken. In
the midst of the most critical portions of his public life it
was not unusual with him frequently to diverge from the
gravest forms of his public controversy, and discourse
with his children or chance strangers, especially on literary
or historical questions, and most of all on poetry, to the
culture of which he was devotedly attached all his life.,
Many of his smaller productions are yet to be found
in print, especially his versions of some of the Psalms, as
well as a great many contributions to ladies, young and
old, who earnestly sought to enlist his pen in their books
of albums. Few public men had labored so long and so
constantly in the study of versification, and especially the
art of combining light humor even with serious subjects.
A very large number of his productions still remain as
they were left by him long before his death. He trans-
lated into verse the whole of Wieland’s German poem of
“Oberon,” and would probably have published it had it
not been that Sotheby just then had anticipated him; and
Lord Byron’s fascinating versification in his humorous
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though wicked poem of “Don Juan” so enchanted him that
it at last tempted him to a production himself of a poem
entitled ¢ Dermot McMorrough,” in the same measure
and style,— a work which would probably have met with
a better reception from the public had the expectation
been less high, and its model not have overshadowed it
altogether.

Singularly enough, however, the same tendency led to
another production in the same style which was greedily
received by the public at the outset, and ultimately became
the most popular of all his writings. Copies of it are
eagerly sought for even to this day.

The origin of this little work was this: On Monday,
the 18th of May, Mr. Adams, being in the room of the
Committee on Manufactures in the House of Representa-
tives, set out to go from there to the Chamber of the
House. The House had adjourned,and was nearly empty.
Not observing the presence of a new kind of matting
which the men had been spreading on the floor, his foot
was caught in it, and in the effort to save himself he fell
and dislocated his right shoulder. The consequence was
a confinement at home for a tedious period. Turning in
his mind what to do, he recollected that an application
had just been made to him by General Ogle, a member of
the House from Pennsylvania, for his autograph, on behalf
of several ladies of his family. It occurred to him that he
could do something to help the tedium of his confinement
by furnishing what might at once serve the purpose in
hand, and likewise afford some innocent indulgence in
this favorite recreation.

Such was the origin of the poem which afterwards
received the title of “The Wants of Man.” No sooner
was it sent to the ladies who had drawn it forth than
requests were made to them for copies, and they, in their
turn, spread it in various and distant quarters. As he has
himself remarked in his Diary, ¢ Nothing that he ever
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wrote was half so popular. It soon got into the news-
papers, but in a variety of mangled shapes. In progress
of time the author had added here and there a few
stanzas until it reached the number of twenty-five. Im-
mediately after his death, and eight years after it had
been written, this poem and a few more of his productions,
previously printed, were gathered together by a publisher
in New York, and surreptitiously issued from the press
under the title of “Poems of Religion and Society, by
John Quincy Adams, with Notices of his Life and Char-
acter.” Since then this leading poem has been inserted
by Mr. Emerson in his volume entitled “Parnassus;” but
it there appears with errors, and shorn of five of the
stanzas. It is also to be observed that even down to a
late date applications have been occasionally made from
the distant regions of the North and West for copies as
well as earnest calls for a republication.

In consideration of these circumstances, and especially
as drawing out what will appear to many as a new side to
the author’s character,— his tendency to the humorous, —
it has been thought best to close this notice with a truly
correct version of that poem.
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THE WANTS OF MAN

I

“ MAN wants but little here below,
Nor wants that little long.”

T is not with ME exactly so,
But ’t is so in the song.

My wants are many, and if told
Would muster many a score;
And were each wish a mint of gold,

I still should long for more.

II.

‘What first I want is daily bread,
And canvas-backs and wine,
And all the realms of nature spread
Before me when I dive.
Four courses scarcely can provide
My appetite to quell,
‘With four choice cooks from France beside,
To dress my dioner well.

ITL

‘What next T want, at heavy cost,
Is elegant attire, —

Black sable furs for winter’s frost,
And silks for summer’s fire,

And Cashmere shawls, and Brussels lace
My bosom’s front to deck,

And diamond rings my hands to grace,
And rubies for my neck.

1V,

And then I want a mansion fair,
A dwelling-house in style,

Four stories ligh, for wholesome air, —
A massive marble pile,

"With halls for banquets and for balls,

All furnished rich and fine,
With stabled steeds in fifty stalls,
And cellars for my wine.
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V.

I want a garden and a park
My dwelling to surround, —
A thousand acres, (bless the mark!)
With walls encompassed round,
Where flocks may range and herds may low,
And kids and lambkins play,
And flowers and fruits commingled grow
All Eden to display.

VI

I want, when summer’s foliage falls,
And autumn strips the trees,

A house within the city’s walls,
For comfort and for ease.

But here, as space is somewhat scant,
And acres somewhat rare,

My house in town I only want
To occupy — a square.

VIIL.

I want a steward, butler, cooks;
A coachman, footman, grooms ;
A library of well-bound books,
And picture-garnished rooms, —
Correggio’s Magdalen and Night,
The Matron of the Chair,
Guido's fleet coursers in their flight,
And Claudes, at least a pair,

VIIL
I want a cabinet profuse
Of medals, coins, and gems;
A printing-press for private use,
Of fifty thousand ems;
And plants and minerals and shells;
Worms, insects, fishes, birds,
And every beast on earth that dwells
In solitude or herds.

IX.
I want a board of burnished plate,
Of silver and of gold ;
Tureens of twenty pounds in weight,
With sculpture’s richest mould ;
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Plateaus, with chandeliers and lamps,
Plates, dishes—all the same;

And porcelaiu vases with the stamp
Of Sevres, Angouléme.

X.

And maples, of fair, glossy stain,
Must form my chamber doors,

And carpets of the Wilton grain
Must cover all my floors;

My walls, with tapestry bedecked,
Must never be outdone;

And damask curtains must protect
Their colors from the sun.

XI.

And mirrors of the largest pane
From Venice must be brought;
And sandal-wood aud bamboo cane
For chairs and tables bought ;
On all the mantelpieces, clocks
Of thrice-gilt bronze must stand,
And screens of ebony and box
Invite the stranger’s hand.

XII.

I want (who does not want?) a wife
Affectionate and fair,

To solace all the woes of life
And all its joys to share;

Of temper sweet, of yielding will,
Of firm yet placid mind,

With all my faults to love me still,
With sentiment refined.

XITI.

And as Time’s car incessant runs,
And Fortune fills my store,

I want of daughters and of sons
From eight to half a score.

I want (alas! can mortal dare
Such bliss on earth to crave?)

That all the girls be chaste and fair —
The boys all wise and brave.
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XI1v.

And when my bosom’s darling sings
With melody divine,

A pedal harp of many strings
Must with her voice combine.

A piano exquisitely wrought
Must open stand, apart,

That all my daughters may be taught
To win the stranger’s heart.

XV.

My wife and daughters will desire
Refreshment from perfumes,

Cosmetics for the skin require,
And artificial blooms.

The civet fragrance shall dispense,
And treasured sweets return;
Cologne revive the flagging sense,

And smoking amber burn.

XVL

And when at night my weary head
Begins to droop and dose,

A Southern chamber holds my bed,
For nature’s soft repose ;

With blankets, counterpanes, and sheet,
Mattress and bed of down,

And comfortables for my feet,
And pillows for my crown,

XVIL
I want a warm and faithful friend
To cheer the adverse hour,
Who ne’er to flatter will descend,
Nor bend the knee to power,—
A friend to chide me when I’m wrong,
My inmost soul to see;
And that my friendship prove as strong
For him as his for me.

XVIII.

I want a kind and tender heart
For others’ wants to feel ;

A soul secure fromn Fortune’s dart,
And bosom armed with steel ;
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To bear divine chastisement’s rod,
And mingling in my plan

Submission to the will of God
With charity to man.

XIX.

I want a keen, observing eye,
An ever-listening ear,

The truth through all disguise to spy
And wisdom’s voice to hear ;

A tongue to speak at virtue’s need,
In Heaven’s sublimest strain;

And lips the cause of mnan to plead
And never plead in vain.

XX.

I want uninterrupted health
Throughout my long career,

And streams of never-failing wealth
To scatter far and near,

The destitute to clothe and feed,
Free bouuty to bestow,

Supply the helpless orphan’s need,
And soothe the widow’s woe.

XXI.

I want the genius to conceive,
The talents to unfold,

Designs, the vicious to retrieve,
The virtuous to uphold.

Inventive power, combining skill,
A persevering soul,

Of human hearts to mould the will,
And reach from pole to pole.

XXII.

I want the seals of power and place,
The ensigns of command,

Charged by the people’s unbought grace,
To rule my native land.

Nor crown nor sceptre would I ask
But from my country’s will,

By day, by night, to ply the task
Her cup of bLliss to fill.
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XXIII.

I want the voice of lhonest praise
To follow me behind,

And to be thought in future days
The friend of human kind ;

That after ages, as they rise,
Exulting may proclaim,

In choral union to the skies,
Their blessings on my name.

XXI1V.

These are the wants of moral man ;
I canoot want them long,

For life itself is but a span,
And earthly bliss a song.

My last great want, absorbing all,
Is, when beneath the sod

And summoned to my final call,
The mercy of my God.

XXV.

And oh, while circles in my veins
Of life the purple stream,

And yet a fragment small remains
Of nature’s transient dream,

My soul, in humble hope unscared,
Forget not then to pray

That this thy WANT may be prepared

To meet the JupgGMENT DAY

—_ ————— V——— . _ i -
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MEerriTT CALDWELL was a son of William and Nancy
Caldwell, born in Hebron (now Oxford), Maine, November
29, 1806. His mother’s name before marriage was Wood-
ward. He prepared for college under the instruction of
his eldest brother Zenas, and was admitted to the Sopho-
more class in Bowdoin College in 1825. He was elected
Principal of the Maine Wesleyan Seminary in July, 1828,
and was graduated Bachelor of Arts in the following Sep-
tember. Soon after assuming the principalship of the
Maine Wesleyan Seminary, he was elected a member of
the Board of Overseers of Bowdoin College. In 1834 he
was elected Professor of Mathematics in Dickinson College,
Carlisle, Pennsylvania, and two years later was transferred
to the chair of Metaphysics and Political Economy, to
which Elocution was added a few years later.

Professor Caldwell was a member of the following-
named societies: The Calliopean Society of the Maine
Wesleyan Seminary ; the Athenzan, Eyigma, Euphe-
mean, Caluvian, and Theological Societies of Bowdoin
College; the Phi Beta Kappa, Alpha of Maine; the
American Temperance Union ; corresponding member of
the Society for the Promotion of Liberal and Common
Education in the Methodist Episcopal Church; New Eng-
land Historic Genealogical Society; Union Philosophical
Society of Dickinson College ; Natural History, Peitha-
logean and Philorhetorian Societies of the Wesleyan
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University ; the Associated Alumni of Waterville College
(now Colby); and the Society of Equal Rights of Car-
lisle, Pennsylvania.

Professor Caldwell was deeply interested in the earliest
movements to organize an Evangelical Alliance, and
visited Europe in 1846 to attend the first meeting of the
Alliance at London. At the same time he attended as a
delegate the first World’s Temperance Convention- in
that city.

He published, in 1837, “ A New Conjugation of the
English Verb, and a New Arrangement of English Syn-
tax.” In 1838 and 1839 he wrote “ Christianity tested
by Eminent Men : Brief Sketches of Christian Biography.”
This was published after his death. In 1845 he pub-
lished “ A Manual of Elocution;” in 1847, ¢“ The Phi-
losophy of Christian Perfection.” The origin of this
work was as follows: In 1841 Dr. J. P. Durbin pub-
lished, in the “Methodist Quarterly Review,” an article
on “ The Theory of Christ’s Temptation.” This was
severely criticised by some of the Methodist papers,
especially by Dr. Abel Stevens, who was at that time
editor of the Wesleyvan journal published in Boston. In
January, 1842, Caldwell published an article in the
“ Methodist Quarterly Review” in support of Dr. Durbin’s
theory. Dr. Stevens replied in a subsequent number of
the same review ; and other articles from Professor Cald-
well followed in July, 1843, and July, 1844. Having
examined the subject thus far, he desired to put his
matured thoughts in a permanent form, and ¢« The Phi-
losophy of Christian Perfection” was written and pub-
lished.

In addition to these books, he published the following-
named pamphlets: ‘“ An Address before the Readfield
Temperance Society at its First Anniversary, July 4,
1832 ;" “An Address before the Trustees and Students
at the Annual Commencement of Dickinson College
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July 16, 1835.” This was published in the ¢ Methodist
Quarterly Review” in 1836.

He also made the following contributions to periodical
literature : « Historical Sketch of Dickinson College,”
published in the ¢“ American Quarterly Register,” Novem-
ber, 1836 ; * Eloquence,” in the ¢ Methodist Quarterly
Review,” July, 1841 ; also numerous articles in the
church and secular papers on temperance and other sub-
jects.

The following are among his unpublished papers :
“ An Address on Education,” before the Kennebec County
Association, at Vassalboro’, Maine, in 1831; an Address
before the Associated Alumni of Waterville College,
July 3, 1833 ; “Science of the Human Mind,” a lecture
at Shippensburg, Pennsylvania, March, 1836 ; “ Objects of
Education,” delivered at Shippensburg, and afterwards at
Carlisle, December 30, 1839 ; two lectures on « Sleep and
Dreaming,” before the Equal Rights Association, Carlisle,
February 19 and 26, 1839 ; “ Wealth,” a lecture before
the students of Dickinson College, December 10, 1842 ;
“ What are the True Objects of a Collegiate or Liberal
Education?” Baccalaureate Address at Dickinson Col-
lege, July 13, 1842 ; ¢ Four Lectures on the English
Language ;” “ A Lecture on the Temperance Movement
in its General Bearing and Influence on the Scholar and
Education.”

His funeral sermon was preached by the Rev. B. H.
Nadal, at Carlisle, Pennsylvania, July 9, 1848. It was
published in pamphlet, and is incorporated in the Biog-
raphy of Dr. Nadal, late President of Drew Theological
Seminary, written by Professor H. A. Butts, D. D.

A memoir by the Rev. S. M. Vail, D.D., was published
in the “Methodist Quarterly Review,” October, 1852.
Obituary notices were published in the “Ladies’ Repos-
itory,” in all the church papers, and in many of the
secular papers.
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Dr. Nadal spoke of the following-named prominent
traits of Professor Caldwell’s character: moral and physi-
cal courage, active philanthropy, moderation, prompt-
ness, punctuality, evenness of temper, words, and actions,
depth of religious principle, and strong Christian faith.

Twenty-two years after Professor Caldwell’s death,
William H. Allen, President of Girard College, spoke of
him from personal recollection, before the literary societies
of Dickinson College, as follows: —

“ The mind of Caldwell moved with moderation, but
with strength and solidity. He was a deep thinker, a
tireless worker, conscientious in the discharge of every
duty, punctual as the sun, a faithful instructor, a wise
counsellor, a trustworthy friend, an honest man. In his
department of instruction, he sought diligently for those
principles which form the basis of a true philosophy of
the mind, and was laying a broad foundation on which,
had life been spared, he would have built a monument to
perpetuate his name in that branch of science.

“ With less religious enthusiasm than many others pos-
sessed, his piety burned with a serene and steady light.
As a class leader in the Methodist Episcopal Church, he
manifested a breadth and depth of Christian experience
which enabled him to guide the penitent, to comfort the
desponding, to strengthen the weak, to admonish the err-
ing, and, with words fitly spoken, to encourage all who
were trying to make progress in the Christian life. While
he studied the ¢ Philosophy of Religion,” he never con-
founded religion with philosophy. He recognized phi-
losophy as the handmaid of religion, but refused to make
the servant the equal of her mistress. Still less would he
countenance the Rationalistic school, who mutilate Chris-
tianity that it may fit some Procrustean bedstead of their
philosophy.

“As a philanthropist, he was alive to all movements
which promised to make men better and happier; but he
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was especially earnest in behalf of temperance. Not a
few persons are still living in Cumberland County, Penn-
sylvania, who remember that after his college work for
the day was done, he would often drive to some village or
neighborhood to organize a temperance society or deliver
an address, and that no inclemency of cold or snow could
induce him to fail in an engagement. He did not hesi-
tate to risk his health in combating a habit which is a
most fruitful source of poverty and crime.

“ Cool and self-reliant in every emergency, undismayed
in danger, never disconcerted, never carried away by ex-
citement, his calm judgment maintained its even balance
when more impulsive natures were swayed by the passions
of the hour.”

Professor Caldwell was married, January 29, 1833, to
Miss Rosamond, daughter of Samuel and Betsey Rich
Cushman, of New Gloucester, Maine. His children were
Rosamond Ursula, born November 13, 1833 ; Samuel
Cushman, born April 10, 1836 ; Anna Clark, born Sep-
tember 14, 1840, and died October 9, 18.19.

Professor Caldwell died at Portland, Maine, June 6,
1848. He was admitted a corresponding member of the
New England Historic Genealogical Society, October 5,
1847. _

For most of the facts and dates in this memoir, I am
indebted to Mrs. R. C. Caldwell, the widow of Professor
Caldwell, and to S. Cushman Caldwell, his son, of New
York; also to Rev. Dr. Ridgaway, of Cincinnati, who is
married to his daughter, and to Dr. E. Clark, of Portland,
his brother-in-law. My thanks are due, and are herewith
tendered, to these persons for their full and satisfactory
replies to my questions in regard to their distinguished
relative.
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Tae Hon. Nathaniel Morton Davis was born in Plym-
outh, Massachusetts, on the 3d of March, 1785. The dis-
tinguished family to which he belonged was not, in the
male line, of New England ancestry. His father, the
Hon. William Davis, an intelligent and successful mer-
chant, was born in Plymouth in 1758, and died there in
1826. His grandfather, Thomas Davis, was born in Al-
bany, New York, in 1722, and, after passing a portion of
his boyhood in Edenton, North Carolina, came to Plymouth
on board of a vessel, while yet a youth, as early as the
year 1742, and died there in 1785, leaving a competent
estate gained in navigation and in mercantile pursuits.
The father of Thomas Davis is believed to have been
born in England, and to have married Miss Catherine
Wendell, of Albany, removing thence to North Carolina.
Thomas Davis, the grandfather of the subject of this
notice, married, in 1753, Mercy Hedge, of Plymouth,
whose ancestry is traced to Governor Bradford, Elder
Brewster, and others of the earliest Pilgrims, Their chil-
dren were: Sarah, born in 1764, died in 1821; Thomas,
born in 1756, died in 1805; William, born in 1758, died
in 1826 ; John, born in 1759, died in 1847 ; Samuel, born
in 1765, died in 1829 ; Isaac P., born in 1771, died in
1855; Wendell, born in 1776, died in 1830.

Of the brothers, one who knew them well has said : —

¢ There were six brothers in the family, all of whom held
offices of public trust under the State and United States govern-
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ments, with the exception of one only. They have all passed
away, and their memory is held in high regard and honor; par-
ticularly the late Thomas Davis, a former Treasurer of this
Commonwealth, and the late Judge Davis, so well known as
the learned and upright Judge of the United States District
Court.

“ William, another of the brothers, was extensively engaged,
in his native town of Plymouth, in mercantile pursuits, and was
much regarded for his general knowledge, intelligence, and
probity. He was frequently chosen a representative in the
State Legislature. Samuel, another of the brothers, was a man
of retiring habits and a most modest demeanor, very curious in
antiquarian and genealogical research, and dealt largely in the
chronicles of former times. It was always perfectly safe to
quote him in matters of fact. Wendell, the youngest brother, a
graduate of Cambridge, became a member of the Senate of this
State at a time when political excitement ran very high. He
was esteemed a ready and sharp debater, and distinguished him-
self by his apt rejoinders to his opponents. He afterwards held
the office of Sheriff of the County of Barnstable.” *

The Hon. William Davis, mentioned in the above cita-
tion, one of the children of Thomas Davis, and the father of
Nathaniel Morton Davis, married Rebecca Morton, daugh-
ter of Nathaniel Morton, a great-grandson of Ephraim
Morton, who was brother of Nathaniel Morton, the well-
known author of the ¢ New England Memorial,” and
Secretary of the Colony. Secretary Morton was also a
direct ancestor of the subject of this sketch, through his
eldest daughter, Remember. Indeed, Mr. Nathaniel Mor-
ton Davis reckoned among his ancestors no less than six
of the name of Nathaniel,—so great was the respect
entertained by the posterity of the Secretary for his name
and fame. Mr. Davis was descended from Governor Brad-
ford by the seventh generation; and by the sixth gener-
ation from Thomas Clark, who came in the ¢ Ann” in
1623, and who has been supposed to have been the mate
of the “Mayflower.”

* Proceedings of the Mass, Hist. Soc. for May, 1869, pp. 94, 95.
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Mr. Davis was prepared for college by the Rev. Zede-
kiah Sanger, D.D., of Bridgewater, Massachusetts, enter-
ing Harvard University in 1800, where he graduated in
regular course in 1804. He ranked high in a large class
containing scholars of marked ability. He studied law
with Theophilus Parsons,—then an eminent counsellor
in Boston, — was admitted to practice, and settled in his
native town. His father died soon afterwards, leaving
him a competent estate, —indeed, what in that day was
regarded as a large property; and he never pursued the
practice of the law to any extent after that event.

“ Connected as he was with so many of the Pilgrims,
and living on the spot consecrated by their remains, he
was early led to turn his attention to their history, with
which he became familiarly acquainted. His taste for
these pursuits was much encouraged by his intercourse
with his uncles, Samuel Davis and Judge Davis, well
known for their antiquarian knowledge and researches.
He imbibed much of Samuel Davis’s interest in the local
history of Plymouth, and there was no one probably so
well versed in this matter as he was. His acquaintance
with Old Colony genealogy was also very accurate and
extensive.” *

His style of writing was clear and attractive. He was
frequently called upon to deliver orations and addresses
on public occasions, and always sustained himself with
credit. He delivered the address of welcome at Brain-
tree in September, 1842, upon the reception by his
constituents of John Quincy Adams on his return from
Congress. It was spoken of at the time as unusually able
and felicitous. These occasional productions of his pen
have never, it is believed, been published in a permanent
form.t His excellent judgment, his thorough knowledge

# See a notice of Mr. Davis, by the Hon. Nahum Mitchell, in 4 Mass. Hist. Coll.,
1V. 492-04.

t The proceedings of this reception, including Mr. Davis’s speech and Mr.
Adame’s lengthened address, were published at the time in a pamphlet form.
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of men, his brilliant colloquial gifts, made him an agree-
able companion and a welcome guest among a most culti-
vated and intellectual society. He had a large circle of
relatives and acquaintances who shared his hospitality,
which was dispensed with liberality and with the graces
which characterized the gentleman of the old school.*

¢ His fine powers of mind,” says Judge Mitchell, *“ and
the respect and confidence which his integrity inspired,
would have raised him to eminence in his profession or in
public life, had necessity compelled him to exertion. But
he was not ambitious of professional or political distinc-
tion. He lived, therefore, the quiet and retired life of a
country gentleman. He discharged with great credit
such trusts and public duties as were from time to time
imposed upon him. He was Chief Justice of the old
Court of Sessions, a member of each branch of the Legis-
lature, and for several years one of the Executive Council.
He was President of the Plymouth Bank, of the Plymouth
County Agricultural Society, and of the Pilgrim Society
at Plymouth.”

Mr. Davis was a kind, indulgent, and affectionate hus-
band and father, very domestic in his habits, and devoted
to his family. He was conservative in politics, belonging
to the Federal party while it existed, and afterwards to
the Whig party. In religious belief he was a Unitarian,
and a constant attendant upon, and supporter of, religious
worship.

He married Harriet, the daughter of Judge Nahum
Mitchell, of East Bridgewater. She died a few years only
before her husband. They had children, all of whom
survived them. They were Abby Mitchell, William, and
Elizabeth Bliss. His sister, Betsy Davis, became by a

Mr. Adams himself gives a long account of this meeting in his Diary (XI. 250-
258). Mr. Davis’s glowing tribute quite overwhelmed the venerable patriot, ac-
cording to Mr. Adams’s own record.

* I am indebted to William H. Whitman, Esq., of Plymouth, for some of the
materials of this sketch.
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second marriage the wife of the Hon. George Bancroft.
Mr. Davis was elected a member of the Massachusetts
Historical Society, 30th July, 1840, and of the New Eng-
land Historic Genealogical Society on the 3d of February,
1848. He died suddenly at the United States Hotel in
Boston, 29th July, 1848, of inflammatory sore throat,
while engaged in the settlement of the estate of his
uncle, Judge John Davis, of whose will he was the
executor. ‘

10



HARRISON GRAY OTIS

THE subject of this sketch was a descendant in the sixth
generation from John Otis, who came from Hingham in
the County of Norfolk in England, and arrived here in
June, 1635. He took the ¢ Freeman’s Oath’’ the 3d of
March following. His son, John Otis, Jr., married Mary,
a daughter of Nicholas Jacob.

The third in descent was Judge John Otis, a man held
in high repute for his legal knowledge in those times.
He married Mercy Bacon. His son, Colonel James Otis,
also a distinguished gentleman of his day, married Mary
Allyne. Their son, Samuel Allyne Otis, was the first
secretary of the Senate of the United States, and married
Elizabeth, daughter of Harrison Gray, a gentleman who,
though a loyalist, was much respected by both parties,
having been Treasurer of the Province before the Revolu-
tion. Their son, Harrison Gray Otis, was borr .n Boston,
October 8th, 1765.

Colonel Thomas Handsyde Perkins, who was his most
intimate friend for eighty years, thus describes him as a
boy : —

“J remember Harry Otis as long as I can remember
anything. We played together when we were mere
babies ; our fathers and mothers being great friends, and
my father, Mr. James Perkins, having an unbounded
admiration for his uncle, James Otis, the patriot. Harry
Otis was always the handsomest, brightest, and most
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charming boy of all our companions. Everything he did
was better dome than any of the rest of us could do it.
Whilst during the siege of Boston my mother, then a
widow with her children, was living at the Bacon Farm
in Barnatable, under the care of Squire Bacon, Harry
Otis was often with us. In vacation and on Saturdays
during the fishing season we used, with my brother James,
to go trout-fishing in Mashapee and Santuit Rivers with
great success. We never kept trout much under a pound
in weight, putting the smaller ones back into the stream.
Although we were so young, we were allowed to use guns;
my mother saying that she did mot know but that we
might be called upon some day or other to fight for our
country and she wished us to understand the use of a
gun. Sometimes we joined the deer-hunts on the hills, or
during the autumn shot flight-birds on Barnstable Great
Marshes. I remember that on ene occasion—but this I
think was during a visit which we made a few years later
to Barnstable — Otis and I went out on the marshes to
ghoot against one another, he going to the north toward
Sandwich and I keeping to the south. At the end of the
day I brought in some seventy large birds, half of them
killed by single shots with a gun having but one barrel
and a flint lock, and was delighted to find I had beaten
Harry, who had, however, killed but a very few birds less
than I had.

¢ After the evacuation of Boston by the British my
mother returned to her house in State Street. Harry and
I, who had been prepared for college together, used often
to talk of our future prospects; for my mother had decided
that, owing to her losses during the war, she could not
afford to send me to Cambridge, and therefore I was to
be placed in a counting-room and he went to the univer-
gity.

“One day, just before Otis was examined for college, we
went together to the old mill-pond in Boston for a swim,
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as was our custom during the summer months. While
we were swimming about I heard a cry of distress from
Harry and saw him go down. At first I thought he was
at play, as he was a very perfect swimmer, but on going
towards him and seeing that he did not come up, I dove,
and found him under water and dragged him to the sur-
face as soon as possible. Fortunately there was a large
spar floating near us, to which I bore him and on which I
placed him, for he was quite unable to help himself. I
then pushed him and the spar to the shore, where, some
men coming to our assistance, he was saved and taken
home.” Here the old Colonel remarked, with a twinkle in
his eye, ¢ After that I think I was a greater favorite with
the Otis family than ever. Harry always said he had en-
joyed many good times in this world owing to my getting
him out of that pond.”

What seems curious to us now is that Colonel Perkins
said, he and Otis, after their return from Barnstable, used
to go shooting for Teal in August in a creek which must
have been near where Dover Street now is; and that he
had shot snipe where the playground on the Common is
now, at the foot of the hill on which stands the Soldiers’
Monument.

Mr. Otis well remembered the morning of the 19th of
April, 1775 ; for on leaving his father’s house to attend
the Latin School as usual, he found the whole of what is
now Tremont Street lined by the brigade commanded by
Lord Percy, afterwards the Duke of Northumberland.
The . troops were drawn up from Scollay’s Square to far
beyond School Street, and he was not allowed to pass into
School Street, so, going round by that square, he reached
the school in time to hear Master Lovell give the order,
“ Deponete libros.” There were no lessons on that day,
and Lord Percy marched out and covered the retreat of
the King’s troops on the road from Lexington.

In the year 1848, soon after the death of Mr. Otis, the
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reverend and learned Dr. Lothrop, minister at Brattle
Street Church, preached a funeral sermon on his life and
character from Isaiah iii. 1, 2 and 3. ¢ For behold the
Lord hath taken away from Jerusalem the stay and the
staff. The prudent and the ancient; the honorable man;
the councillor and the eloquent orator.” Dr. Lothrop has
in this sermon drawn the life and character of Mr. Otis
in so vivid and charming a manner, so truly and so forcibly,
that now, after the lapse of thirty years, it seems impos-
sible to improve upon it, and this writer has, therefore,
with the permission of Dr. Lothrop, copied the largest
part of the remainder of this article from that sermon.

“Mr. Otis was,” says Dr. Lothrop, “prepared for college
partly in Boston, and partly at Plymouth and Barnstable,
passing a portion of his boyhood at school in these latter
places. In one of Mrs. Otis’s letters to her father, Hon.
Harrison Gray, she thus speaks of her son: ‘I shall en-
close you a letter from Harry of his own writing and
inditing, which will enable you to form some judgment of
his genius which his tutor tells me is very uncommon.’
He was graduated at Cambridge at the age of eighteen,
in 1783, receiving the first honors of a class in which
were several other men who subsequently became eminent
in public and professional life. Among them were the
late William Prescott and Artemas Ward of this city,
Ambrose Spencer of New York, and William King Atkin-
son of New Hampshire. At college he was distinguished
for his ready acquisition of some of the more abstruse
departments of knowledge, for his rich attainments as a
classical scholar, and also for his very brilliant and grace-
ful oratory. Even thus early it was said by his young
friends that the mantle of his eloquent uncle, James Otis,
had fallen upon him; a declaration which was subsequently
confirmed in the judgment of those who in their youth
heard the one and in their age listened to the other.

[¢ When peace came in 1783, says President Samuel
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Eliot in the Harvard Book, page 44, ‘the first class of
the victorious nation received their degrees from President
Willard, and their first scholar, Harrison Gray Otis, spoke
of the future as it opened before him and his contem-
poraries. It would be natural to presume,” he said, half
a century later, ¢that an event adapted to kindle enthu-
siasm in an orator of the gravest character and age would
stimulate the fervid imagination of eighteen to paint in
sonmewhat gorgeous colors the prospects unfolded to our
country by this achievement of its liberties and its prob-
able effect on the destinies of other nations. I remember
that I did so, and indulged the impulse of a sanguine tem-
perament in building what doubtless seemed to others,
and perhaps to myself, castles in the air. But had it been
in my imagination to conceive and in my power to de-
scribe what we now know to be reality, I should have
been considered as ballooning in the regions of bombast,
and appeared to be ridiculously aiming to be sublime.’]
Upon leaving college Mr. Otis determined to devote
himself to that profession which has given so many noble
minds to the world, — the profession which, in its high
purpose, aims to be the voice of calm reason, arbitrating
among the concerns of men, a power to separate the prob-
lem from its accidents, to discern the principle amid the
circumstances which obscure it, to ascertain and determine
justice and right in the conflicts between man and man,
— a profession which, for its best exercise and fulfilment,
requires a rare combination of mental and moral qualities,
and a complete command and frequent application of
every intellectual faculty. The fact that Mr. Otis pursued
his studies for this profession under the direction and
influence of that distinguished patriot and jurist, the late
Judge Lowell, is a sufficient evidence both of the thor-
oughness with which he studied law, and of the high con-
ceptions he entertained of the character, the duties, and
obligations of his profession; and were other evidence of
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this wanting, it would be found in his early professional
eminence. Almost instantly upon coming to the bar,in a
profession whose early paths are proverbially rugged and
thorny, and the asocent slow and difficult,. his eminent
talents, aided undoubtedly by the favorable circumstances
of the times, gave him a rank among the very first; and
at an age when young men of the preseat day are well
content to get any business at all, he was employed as
senior counsel and advocate in many of the most import-
ant causes that came before the courts. Ir conducting
these causes he displayed an extent and thoroughness of
legal knowledge, a logical vigor and acumen, which sus-
tained and constantly added to his reputation as a young
man of talent; while his winning and persuasive eloquence,
investing the dry details of argument with a charm of
classical illusion and appropriate ilustration, made him a
favorite with the people and gave him great popular
influence. TIn alluding to this early period of his life as
compared with his political career, I have heard him ex-
press the passing regret that he had not kept strictly
within the walks of his profession, and sought there an
eminence and usefulness that might well satisfy the noble
ambitien of a noble mind. But this was probably only a
momentary feeling. His country, then a young republic,
just launched into being, needed the services of all who
could help to mark out and guide her course; and what-
ever was the result of those services in his own case, he
could not and did not, on deliberate reflection, regret that
be had rendered them. He resisted, however, for several
years the repeated solicitations that were made to him to
be a candidate for political office, and yielded to them at
Jast in obedience to convictions of duty.

[Mn 1796 Mr. Otis was appointed United States District
Attorney for this district, and his commission from Presi-
dent Washington, together with many other valuable
papers, is in the possession of President Samuel Eliot.]
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In 1796 he was nominated one of the seven Represent-
atives which Boston then sent to the Legislature of the
State, and was returned by a large majority.

Previous to his election to the Legislature, there are
two incidents in his life worthy of notice. One of these
indicates the public estimation in which he was early held,
the other gives some intimation of his own moral prin-
ciples and feelings at that time. In 1788, three months
before he was twenty-three years of age, Mr. Otis was
appointed to deliver, before the authorities and citizens of
Boston, the Fourth of July oration. No one, I believe,
has ever been called to perform this service in this city
at so early an age. At that critical period in our history
the oration on the Fourth of July was regarded as a much
more important matter than it is now. It was, in fact,
more important. It was a great occasion, and afforded
one of the most direct and powerful means of influencing
bath the opinions and the feelings of the people on sub-
jects of public and political interest.

The appointment of Mr. Otis to this service, at so early
an age, is conclusive evidence, not only of the public
respect for his talents, but also of the public confidence in
his sound judgment and principles. In the winter of
1791-92, an effort was made to repeal a statute then
existing, which absolutely prohibited theatrical entertain-
ments and exhibitions. Some of the most popular and
influential men of the town were advocates for the repeal.
Mr. Otis, with the venerable Samuel Adams and others,
made strenuous efforts to resist and prevent the repeal,
and they were successful in postponing it for several
years.

In 1796 Mr. Fisher Ames, who had represented this
district in Congress from the adoption of the Constitution,
having expressed his determination to retire at the close
of his term, Mr. Otis was chosen to succeed him. It is no
disparagement to the many able and distinguished men
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then living in this district to say that one more worthy or
better fitted to fill the place of such a man as Mr. Ames
could not have been found. Questions of great moment
agitated the public mind. The opinions, principles, and
policy of the two great political parties that had grown
up under the Constitution, and, in some measure, out of
the Constitution, had become more distinct and more at
variance. While neither party was void of anxiety or
deficient in zeal, the Federalists especially felt the necessity
of selecting their very ablest men to take part in the
national council, and help sustain the policy disclosed
and the measures pursued by Washington.

Upon the maintenance of this policy and adherence to
these measures they believed the peace and prosperity
and glory of the country to depend. It was, therefore,
no ordinary honor, no small distinction, that, at such a
critical period, at the early age of' thirty-two, Mr. Otis
should have received this mark of public confidence and
been clothed with the high trust of representing, in the
Congress of United States, one of the most important
commercial districts in the Union. That confidence was
well repaid in the ability, firmness, and independence with
which he fulfilled his trust.

He was among the most efficient members of the House
during the time he held his seat. On retiring from
Congress he resumed the practice of law in this city, and
devoted himself assiduously to professional duty for several
years. The political excitement and violent party spirit
that prevailed over the land during the first fifteen years
of the present century were so great that no man, how-
ever disposed to be quiet, could avoid participating in
them to some extent. The state of the country was too
critical and the measures pursued and the questions at
issue too important for any good citizen, who felt his
responsibilities, to remain an inactive and indifferent spec-
tator. During all these years, therefore, whether in or
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out of office, Mr. Otis was active in political affairs. He
was often a member of the Massachusetts Legislature,
where he exerted a large influence upon the political
action of the State. At different times he was repeatedly
chosen Speaker of the House of Representatives and
President of the Senate. We can readily believe the
declaration that he discharged the duties of presiding
officer with an ease, urbanity, promptness, and impartiality
that have seldom been equalled and never surpassed. He
often left the chair to participate in debate, and thrill the
assembly by an eloquence as manly and vigorous as it
was polished and graceful.

Among those with whom he sympathized and in con-
junction with whom he acted at this period, were such
men as Theophilus Parsons, Nathan Dane, Fisher Ames,
Rufus King, George Cabot, Thomas Davis, Christopher
Gore, Samuel Dexter, William Prescott, John Brooks, John
Phillips, Timothy Bigelow, [and Thomas Handsyde Perkins.]
It would be much to say of any man, and is just and true
to say of Mr. Otis, that he possessed the confidence and
friendship of these men. They put him forward as a
leader on many important occasions. They had the high-
est respect for his intellectual ability, his wisdom and
judgment as a statesman, his patriotism and his integrity.

The important event in his life during this period —
the first fifteen years of the present century — was his
connection with the convention which met at Hartford,
in December, 1814. Of this body he was a prominent
member, and in the popular mind at the present day his
name is more intimately associated with it than that of
any other man. Without discussing the wisdom or ex-
pediency of the measure, I will briefly say, in justice to
the motives and the memory of as patriotic and upright
statesmen as ever trod the soil of New England, and as an
expression of individual opinion, founded upon a some-
what thorough and impartial study of the history of that
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period, that I believe the object of that convention to
have been to allay excitement among the people of New
England, not to increase it; to check any desire or ten-
dency towards disunion that may have existed, not to
encourage or promote it; to protect the rights, the prop-
erty, the interests, and the homes of the people of the
Northerh and commercial States, through the Govern-
ment, acting in its legislative channels, and not to array
these rights and interests against the Government, and
thus bring in anarchy, rebellion, and disunion. To this
conclusion, I suppose, candid and intelligent men of all
parties of the present day are fast approaching, if they
have not already reached it. The wisdom and policy of
the measure will always admit of question, but the time
will come, probably, as the objects.contemplated .are better
understood, when to have been a member of this conven-
tion shall no longer be adduced as a stigma and reproach,
but an honor; and it shall be generally admitted that if
censure and disgrace belong anywhere, they rightfully
attach to those who, clamorous for the thing before it was
held, were the first to cry out against, and the most per-
severing in their attempts to cry down the men who
personally took part in it.

In 1814 the Legislature, to facilitate the administration
of justice, instituted a new court, specially for the County
of Suffolk, called the Boston Court of Common Pleas.
Mr. Otis received the first appointment of judge of this
court, and took his seat on the first Tuesday of May in
that year. He remained on the bench nearly four years,
resigning in April, 1818.

In 1816, when Governor Strong signified his intention
to retire from the chief magistracy of the Commonwealth,
it was the wish of his friends to nominate Mr. Otis as his
successor. But the war had terminated, peace was re-
stored, and no particular emergency in the affairs of the
conntry or the Commonwealth existed. He would not
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permit his friends, therefore, to bring forward his name as
a candidate.

In 1817 Mr. Varnum’s term in the Senate of the United
States expired, and the Legislature by a strong vote chose
Mr. Otis to represent the State in that high council of the
nation. Here he fully maintained and added to the repu-
tation he had acquired as an able statesman and a most
eloquent orator. His speech in reply to Mr. Pinckney, in
the debate on the Missouri question, abounds in all the
elements of the highest eloquence, and is on a level with
the noblest speeches that have ever been made in that
august assembly. In his office of Senator, while he was
faithful to all the broad, general concerns of the nation,
he was particularly faithful, energetic, and independent in
watching over the interests of this Commonwealth, and in
pressing its claims for compensation for expenses incurred
during the war of 1812.

He resigned at the expiration of the fifth year of his
senatorial term, and, on the retirement of Governor Brooks
from the executive chair in 1823, he became the candi-
date of the Federal party for the office of chief magis-
trate. His competitor was the late Dr. Eustis.

The election was closely contested, with considerable
party excitement. Mr. Otis failed, a small majority of
the popular vote being in favor of Dr. Eustis. In con-
versing with him once about this portion of his life, he
said, My failure in the gubernatorial election of 1823
was a mortification and a severe disappointment to me at
the time, but I look back upon it now without regret. I
regard it now as the most fortunate event of my life. I
have been a happier and better man since I was thrown
out of political life than I should ever have been had I
remained in it.’

After this election Mr. Otis retired from public life,
save that he held for two or three years the office of
Mayor of the city. For the last eighteen ycars he lived
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wholly in the retirement of private life, in the enjoyment
of a green old age and the society of his friends, in the
exercise of a large, refined, and graceful hospitality,— the
pride, the ornament, and the charm of the social circles in
in which he mingled. As a citizen and a man he always
retained his interest in public affairs and whatever apper-
tained to the good of this city, the Commonwealth, and
the country at large, and through his pen and the press
he has occasionally given to the public his thoughts and
opinions upon various subjects of public interest. His last
act of this kind was his letter upon the presidential election
then pending, published just before his death. There will,
of course, be differences of judgment as to the conclusions
reached in this letter, and some dissent from them, but all
will admit that it shows an unabated vigor of intellect, an
undiminished ardor of patriotism, and is altogether an ex-
traordinary production to come from the pen of any man
at eighty-three years of age. This effort hastened, per-
haps, an event that could not have been far distant.
Sudden, unexpected, and sad bereavement also helped to
accelerate it. His strength failed rapidly, and without
any marked disease or severe suffering he gently passed
away, so calmly, so peacefully, that we may apply to him
the words of the poet so often applied to the death of the
aged: —
¢Of no distemper, of no blast he died,

But fell like autumn fruit that mellowed hung,

E’en wondered at because he dropped no sooner;

Fate seemed to wind him up to fourscore years,

Yet freshly ran he on three winters more,

Till, like a clock worn out with eating Time,
The wheels of weary life at last stood still.’

Such, my friends, is a brief outline of the life of one
widely known and highly honored, who has departed from
among us. It would be difficult to fill up the sketch and
make it a full picture by a just analysis of powers and a
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faithful delineation of his character. I shall not attempt
it. One or two things I feel prompted to say.

There was so much grace, polish, and beauty in every-
thing Mr. Otis said and wrote, that some, I think, have
failed to do justice to his intellectual ability, have over-
looked the vigor, grasp, comprehensiveness, and acute
penetration of his mind. The action and play of his
mental powers were so easy that one was apt to forget the
profound and subtile nature of the subjects with which he
was dealing. His power of nice analysis and sharp dis-
crimination was extraordinary, and the broad and deep
wisdom of his thought was often as remarkable as the
language in which he clothed it was brilliant and beautiful.
It is worthy of observation that the great men of a city,
those who are distinguished and influential in their day,
are seldom persons born in it. They are persons born in
the country, reared under other influences, and attaining
distinction by force of character which may be chiefly
traced to these influences.

Among the sons of Boston, those born within its limits,
reared and educated under its influences, Mr. Otis, in the
brilliancy and versatility of his talents, in his various
accomplishments as a scholar and an orator, in all the
attributes of a great mind, stands in the very first rank.
It would be difficult to say who could rightfully stand
before him.

Again, there was so much courteousness and urbanity
in his manners that many who did not see him often and
know him well might be led to do injustice to his sincerity
and t tlie real goodness and kindness of his heart.

The manners are in general an index of the heart. In
Mr. Otis that courteousness which an apostle enjoins was,
to a large extent, the fruit of that love and good will
which the Saviour inculcates. He was a sincere man.
He never forgot or deserted a friend. He never cherished
and perpetuated an enmity. He was just and charitable
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in his judgment of others, and in his demestic relations
an example of all that was kind, tender, and affectionate.
There is one strong manifestation of his sincerity in the
undeviating uprightness and firmness of his public career.
In this respect that career was one of which no man need
be ashamed. His ambition was not stronger than his
principles, nor his love of office greater than his love of
consistency and integrity. It is not too much to say of
Mr. Otis, at least it may be regarded as probable, that if
at any time between 1800 and the close of the war of
1812 he had deserted his party and changed his political
relations, abandoned his former political opinions (the
temptation to do which was at one time presented to him
in an alluring form), his ability, talents, manners, and
many popular qualities were such that he might have
secured almost any political office he desired, might have
gratified his highest ambition, might have reached, per-
haps, the first and most august honor in the gift of the
nation. But he would not do it. Through evil report
and good report, through honor and dishonor, he clung to
his political faith and principles, and in so doing a dis-
tinguished name, which was identified with the cause of
American liberty in its early struggle, has been left by
him unsullied, to extend its inspiring influence to many
generations yet to come.”

Harrison Gray Otis died October 28th, 1848. He was
admitted an honorary member of the New England His-
toric Genealogical Society, March 10th, 1846.

Harrison Gray Otis married, May 31st, 1790, Sarah Foster. Their
children were Harrison Gray, married to Eliza Bordman, who was dis-
tinguished for her philanthropic labors, her literary ability, and who was
for many years the most prominent leader of society in Massachusetts ;
Allyne, who was drowned when but & youth; James, who married Martha
C. Church; William F., who married Emily Marshall; a second Allyne,
who died unmarried, and George, who died young; and four daughters,—

P — N
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Elizabeth, who married George Lyman, Sarah, who married Israel Thorn-
dike, Sophia, who married Andrew Ritchie, and Mary, who died young.

The family of Mr. Otis was remarkable for great intelligence and per-
sonal beauty. I well remember numerous parties at the fine old mansion-
house in Beacon Street, with its spacious hall and three beautiful rooms
en suite, decorated with pictures by Copley, Blackburn, and Smybert,
which threw over the place the air of good old colony times. There Mr.
Otis, surrounded by his children and grandchildren and their friends,
moved, the ruler of the revels. He always remembered all our names,
and had a kind word and often a pat on the head for each of us.

After an experience of more than forty years in such matters, I have
never seen Mr. Otis surpassed in the perfection of his dress, his equipage,
his entertainments, or his manners. He always reminded me of a fine
old French nobleman, one of those we read of as uniting wit with learn-
ing, and great elegance with profound acquirements,



BENJAMIN FRANKLIN THOMPSON

TaE historian of Long Island, was born at Setauket in
Suffolk County, Long Island, May 15, 1784, the oldest son
of Dr. Samuel Thompson and Phebe Satterly. Having
received a suitable education, he entered Yale College, but
did not graduate. He studied medicine with Dr. Ebenezer
Sage of Sag Harbor, and having practised it for about ten
years he abandoned it for the law. On June 12, 1810,
he married Mary Howard, daughter of the Rev. Zachariah
Greene of Setauket, and had four children, viz.: (1) Henry
Rutgers, born March 17, 1813, died October 15, 1842;
(2) Mary Greene, born June 20, 1815; (3) Harriet Sat-
terly, born November 9, 1818, married Jacob T. Vander-
hoof; (4) Edward Zachariah, born September 2, 1821, and
married Elizabeth Lush, July 10, 1843.

In 1811 he gave the 4th of July oration at Setauket
before the members of the Tammany Society or Columbian
Order.

In 1812 and in 1816 he was elected a member of As-
sembly for Suffolk County. In 1814 he served as Deputy
Collector of Internal Revenue.

In 1824 he removed to Hempstead and opened a law
office and soon had a good practice. From 1826 to 1833
he was the District Attorney of Queen’s County, and after
his declination of that office was subsequently appointed
by the governor a Master in Chancery.

Mr. Thompson had for some time William H. Barroll

as a law-partner. His fondness for historical pursuits so
1
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grew on him that he gradually allowed his practice to
pass from him, as he had already acquired a comfortable
support for himself and family.

His fame rests on his History of Long Island. He took
Wood’s history for his basis and enlarged it by additions
drawn from his own original researches. He grew enthu-
siastic in his work, visiting personally the clerks’ offices of
all the towns on the Island, extracting the most important
parts, especially the lists of first settlers. He also called
on the old residents and gathered from their lips a great
deal of family tradition and details of genealogy. He has
thus preserved from oblivion a good store of folk-lore that
but for him would have been for ever lost. He is known
to have quoted from records and documents that cannot
now be found.

His mind being well stored with varied knowledge from
his miscellaneous reading, he often interjected extraneous
matter, especially in the notes to his History.

This History is the only one we have. We owe a debt
of gratitude to him who was so far ahead of his contem-
poraries, a pioneer in historical pursuits; for it should be
remembered to the honor of Thompson’s memory that
those revelations had not yet been made at Albany of
long-hidden Dutch and English manuscripts that have
gince been published as the Documentary and Colonial
History and the Revolutionary Papers, and others indexed
as the calendar of Dutch and English Historical Manu-
scripts.

In 1839 he published his first edition of the History of
Long Island in an octavo volume of 636 pages. In 1843
he published a second edition, greatly enlarged, in two vol-
umes octavo, of 511 and 554 pages. He was making
preparation and had actually purchased the paper for a
third edition, yet in possession of his family waiting for
a publisher, when he was unexpectedly cut off by death.
He was sitting at the tea-table of his daughter in New
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York, when, feeling unwell, he rose from the table and
laid himself on the sofa, and suddenly he ceased to
breathe. It was an affection of the heart. On hearing of
Mr. Thompson’s death, the Queen’s County Bar met and
passed resolutions expressing their “ sense of his legal and
literary attainments, his amiable character, and his un-
blemished integrity, which had secured him the respect
and regard of all who knew him.” They also compli-
mented him as “a historian who by his annals had con-
ferred additional distinction on the island of his birth.”

His portrait was painted by Mount and engraved for
the History. It is an excellent likeness.

He was buried at Hempstead.

Mr. Thompson became a member of the New England
Historic Genealogical Society, July 15, 1845. He died
March 22, 1849.



LOT EDWARD BREWSTER

THE subject of this sketch was a direct descendant of
Elder William' Brewster, through Love,® William,> Wil-
liam,* Ichabod,® and Ichabod.®* He was born at Lebanon,
Connecticut, August 15, 1792, in the old homestead, which
in 1843 had been in the possession of the family one hun-
dred years, and died at Cincinnati, Ohio, June 21, 1849,
of Asiatic cholera, being one of its earliest victims in that
city. He was the son of Ichabod (born March 6, 1753)
and Lucy, daughter of Colonel Moses Clark. His parents
were married November 16, 1772, and were blessed with
ten children, of whom Lot Edward Brewster was the
youngest.

After school days the task of teaching in the towns of
Hebron and Colchester in his native State engaged for
some time his attention. Subsequently he entered mercan-
tile life under the guidance of his uncle, Mr. Nathan Mor-
gan, at this time an importer of silks and other costly
fabrics at Hartford. Mr. Brewster remained with Mr.
Morgan a few years, when, with a Mr. Holmes of Lynch-
burg, Virginia, he commenced business on his own account
in the city of New York, his residence being at Brooklyn.

Subsequently he removed to Newcastle, Pennsylvania,
and thence to Cincinnati in 1831, where he continued to
reside until his death — still engaged in the wholesale and
retail dry goods business.

The following estimate of his character is from the pen
of one who knew him well, Mr. Josiah Drake, of Cincin-
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nati: “ He was a Puritan in principle, action, and habits.
He was firm and decided, yet quiet and retiring; if he
made a promise it was as good as a bond, no security was
needed. He was truthful and could be implicitly relied
upon. Honesty and integrity were the principles which
governed his course through life. Like his ancestors of
old, if he had an opinion, it was hard to convince him that
it was wrong.”

Mr. Brewster was a Master Mason; member of a Lodge
in New York city; was a member of the City Council of
the city of Cincinnati, being three times elected, in 1841,
1844, and 1845. He was admitted a member of Harmony
Division, Sons of Temperance, May 18, 1847. He married
Elizabeth Rich Hubley, daughter of Colonel Bernard
Hubley, of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, January 27, 1822,
at Lancaster, Pennsylvania. They were married by the
Rev. Dr. Muhlenberg of the Episcopal Church. They had
four children: Angelina Clark Brewster, Elizabeth Hubley
Brewster, Charles Morgan Brewster, Emma Cora Brewster.

Angelina Clark Brewster, through whom much infor-
mation of Mr. Brewster has been obtained, married W. C.
Mellen, of Holliston, Massachusetts, and resides in Hamilton
County, Ohio. She states that she now has in her pos-
session a deed of land in Duxbury, dated August 15,
1734, signed by William Brewster, her great great grand-
father. She also has a book,— Bunyan’s “Holy War;”
it was the property of William Brewster 3d, printed in
London, Golden Bell, Duck Lane, 1721: also a silver
spoon owned by her great great grandmother, handed
down from generation to generation until it came into
her possession by the death of her father, L. E. Brewster,
in 1849. ,

Mr. Robert Hosea, of Cincinnati, offers the following
tribute to his memory: —

“ My personal acquaintance with Mr. Brewster who, at the
time of his death, was the honored President of the New Eng-
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land Society of this city, was chiefly through our intercourse as
officers of the society, but I very soon learned to love him for
his strict integrity and his precision in all matters connected
with his duty as an officer.

* These admirable qualities of earnest devotion to principle,
strict integrity, and a careful precision, in even small matters,
which so eminently distinguished him, came very naturally from
his great ancestor, ¢ Elder William Brewster,” whose name ap-
pears the third upon that memorable ¢covenant and compact’
signed on board the Mayflower by the Pilgrim Fathers before
landing at Plymouth in 1620, creating the first ¢ civil dody politic,’
so far as known, in the history of mankind.

“Lot E. Brewster was one of the founders of the New Eng-
land Society of this city. He was deeply interested in its
organization, and though engaged in the commission business as
a member of the firm of ¢ Brewster and Woodruff’ he found
time to devote to its interests. His name appears in the list of
signers to the Constitution and Charter in the same order as
that of his great progenitor in that of the Mayflower, — the third
from the top.

¢« He filled at different times the offices of Secretary, Treas-
urer, and President, and was an active member of most important
committees. His books, while Treasurer, were kept with the
most scrupulous exactness, and this quaint preface in one of
them indicates something of the old Elder’s blood : —

“¢ MEMORANDUM.

“¢For all sums of money received by L. E. Brewster from sundry
members of this society for dues, initiation-fees, &c., he left (with such as
paid) a bill of particulars, signed with his own name, which voucher of
course corresponds with the collection made as entered in this book.

“¢In case any member alleges hereafter that he paid L. E. B. more-
than is credited to such member, then he must exhibit said voucher to
prove his assertion true or false.’

““ He was greatly interested and instrumental in collecting a
library of books appertaining mainly to the early History of
New England, which at his death amounted to about 250
volumes of rare old books now in charge of the ¢ Historical and
Philosophical Society’ of this city. At the last meeting of the
New England Society before his death, at which he presided,
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he directed the attention of the board to certain missing books,
and ordered a correspondence with the Smithsonian Institution,
requesting a copy of their publications for the library.

“No higher eulogy can be paid to any man than Lot E.
Brewster is entitled to: ¢ That he lived and died a Christian
gentleman.’”

At a meeting of the Board of Directors of the New
England Society, of Cincinnati, held a few days subsequent
to his death, the following preamble and resolutions were
unanimously adopted : —

“ Whereas, this Society has heard, with profound regret, of
the sudden death of Lot E. Brewster, the late President of the
Society, at his residence in this city, on Thursday evening, 21st
instant, an active and most efficient officer of the same, and
whereas, his zeal in behalf of the object and interest of the
association from its foundation, his upright and benevolent
character as a man and neighbor, were justly appreciated by
the members of this Society, as well as by all who knew him, —

“ Wherefore, resolved that, as a mark of respect for our de-
ceased brother, the members of the New England Society be
requested to attend his funeral.

* Resolved, That we sympathize deeply with the family of
the deceased and extend to them our heartfelt commiseration,
and that a copy of these proceedings be entered upon the
records of the Society and published in the prints of the city.”

And still later, at the annual meeting in December,
resolutions were passed which say of him:—

““He had been long favorably known in this city as an up-
right and worthy man, illustrating in his life the distinguishing
principles of the New England character.”

Mr. Brewster became a member of the New England
Historic Genealogical Society October 16, 1845. He was
warmly interested in the objects of this society. Having
been engaged several years in collecting materials and
putting in form a genealogical history of his ancestors and
several collateral families, he realized how much more can
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be accomplished in genealogical research by co-operation
and organization than by individual effort.

The facts in this sketch have been derived from
materials furnished to the committee by Messrs. Josiah
Drake, Robert Hosea, and Albert H. Hoyt of Cincinnati,
and from a letter of Mr. Brewster, dated August 4, 1845,
to the corresponding secretary of the New England His-
toric Genealogical Society.



THEODORE LYMAN, J=

THEODORE LYMAN, JRr., was born February 20, 1792,
and was of the sixth generation from Richard the Pilgrim,
who was baptized at High Ongar, Essex County, England,
October 30, 15680, and, with his family, came to New -
England in 1631, in the same ship with John Eliot.
Richard’s son John, who was also born in England, in
1628, married Dorcas Plum, January 12, 16564, and settled
in Northampton, where his son Moses, born February 20,
1662, also lived. His son, of the same name, was born
in 1689, and married Mindwell Shelton, December 13,
1712. Despite the burden of ten children, he evidently
throve on the ancestral acres of Northampton; for his son
Isaac (born February 25, 1725) was sent to Yale College,
where he graduated in 1747. He married Ruth Plummer,
of Gloucester, April 24, 1750, and was settled over the
parish in Old York, Maine. He remained there the rest
of his life ; and there his son Theodore was born, January
8, 1763. Theodore moved to Boston, and became a suc-
cessful merchant. For his second wife he married, Janu-
ary 24, 1786, Lydia Williams, a niece of Colonel Timothy
Pickering. The subject of this memoir was the second
son of this marriage. It is an illustration of the health
and fruitfulness of these seven generations in direct male
descent, that their average age was sixty-six and one-half
years; and, although only one of them was married twice,
the average number of their children was eight.
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Theodore Lyman, Jr., received his early education
at Phillips Exeter Academy, and graduated at Harvard
College in 1810. His strong literary taste was wisely
fostered by his father, who, in 1812, sent him to Edin-
burgh to study at the University. He remained about
two years, living in the family of the Rev. Robert More-
head,* a learned graduate of Oxford. The following
letter, sent after he had left Edinburgh for the Continent,
shows how affectionately he was remembered, and paints
the quiet life of an old-fashioned scholar, who took young
men to “read” with him: —

Harron House, August 12, 1814.

My pEArR LymanN,—1I have often blamed myself much in
being so long of writing you, even before I received your last
kind letter by the Alisons,} who brought it in safety, and the
guperb lace, with which Mrs. Morehead was much flattered, and
at the same time discomposed that you should have sent her so
valuable a present. In consequence of my delay in writing,
I can, however, now inform you that about six weeks ago
Mrs. M. brought me a little boy, and has since recovered well.
Moreover, about a week ago, your fair countrywoman, Mrs. Jef-
frey,} bad a little daughter, and everything promises well with
her too; so that here are two loads of anxiety off our shoulders.
We had all come out to Hatton, when Mrs. Jeffrey was hur-
riedly obliged to make her retreat back again into Edinburgh
for the purpose above-mentioned, and Mrs. M. has gone to
attend her. Mr. John Jeffrey and all the children are here
with me, and I go in and out of Edinburgh as I used to do last
summer when you were with us. We live much the same kind
of life; and if you were among us again, you would almost for-
get that you had seen French marshals, philosophers, and ladies,
none of whom, I hope, are making inroads upon your virtue.

#* He was the playmate and lifelong friend of Francis Jeffrey, whose first wife
wag Mrs. Morehead’s sister. Mr. Morehead, at that time settled in Edinburgh, was
afterwards rector of Ensington, where he died, December 13, 1842.

t The family of Archibald Alison, author of the “ Essays on Taste,” and father
of Sir Archibald Alison, the historian.

$ Wife of Francis Jeffrey, the reviewer and jurist. She was an American,—a
Miss Wilkes.
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I am glad you meet the Alisons occasionally. It would help to
keep up your recollection of Edinburgh, which I am happy to
see is not likely to be soon worn out. Indeed, my dear Lyman,
it is very pleasing both to my wife and myself to perceive that
among so many interesting objects to fix and employ your
thoughts, you have not forgotten us,and the little domestic scenes
in which you passed your time here. There are with me two
new youths, who give me no sort of trouble, and are quite in-
offensive in their conduct; one of the name of Colston,—who, I
think, had not been mentioned to me before you went away, —
who now occupies your little turret, and reads as close at some-
thing or other as you used to do at Grotius. He is exceedingly
good-natured ; but he is not Mr. Lyman, and I do not think
Isabella* pays him so many visits as she used to do to you.
She bids me tell you that if yon come back to see her, she will
not refuse you as many kisses as you please. She is in excellent
health, and is just going to be conveyed to Glasgow. There she
will be some months with Dr. Brown, one of whose daughters is
coming to us in exchange. Poor little Lockhart is not quite so
stout, but she preserves all her spirits and good-humor. My
other youth is Scudamore, of whose approach you heard. He is
likewise very tractable, and is fond of nothing so much as a
horse, which he has just bought, and for which he possesses the
Anglomanie. 1 was much delighted a few days ago, while I
was working at my old seat where you stormed the fortress of
wasps, with the appearance of Hyett, who came out here for
quarter of an hour. He came with Archibald Alison,f who
took him up at Gloucester on his way home. You see I write
you absolutely nothing, but this is what you will best like to
read. You know I give myself very little concern with state
affairs, or any affairs except those that pass before my eyes.
1 sometimes, however, have a hankering after Paris; but, even
under your sage conduct (for I would make you my Mentor),
I fear my morale would be in danger in that profligate metropo-
lis. I should be ready to scale the Alps with you, but I doubt
much whether I shall ever get out of this little contemptible
island. It is really a hard thing in a man’s lot to be tied by the

* A little girl, the daughter of Mr. Morehead. She still lives, as Lady Lowther
of Wilton Castle. The Rt. Hon. James Lowther, Chief Secretary for Ireland un-
der the Beaconsfield ministry, is her son.

t Afterwards Sir Archibald.
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foot in such a place. By the way, Leslie* is in Paris, living
with Berthollet, Cuvier, and the Lord knows who. I wish you
would find him out. I had put down his address for you, but I
have lost it. I can only tell you that it is at a bookseller’s in
Rue Voltaire ; so that, if you call at all the booksellers in that
street, you will hit upon him at last. Tell him to take you to
the place where Rousseau wrote his « Héloise.” You know we
were much amused with Leslie’s sensibility on the occasion. It
will give me much pleasure to hear from you often,-— from
France, or Italy, or wherever you may be. In the open state of
the posts, a letter will find me, I suppose, without any doubt,
with my address in Edinburgh. You must contrive to come to
us again before you bury yourself on the other side of the
Atlantic. Jeffrey took your letter very kind ; I suppose he will
take some occasion or other of writing you. I have no doubt
I have omitted fifty things which I ought to have told you.
S. has gone, and does not return; he got into a foolish love-
affair. Fanson left me about ten days ago; him I expect next
winter.
Ever, my dear Lyman, most affectionately yours,
RoB. MOREHEAD.

In France Mr. Lyman found himself at a moment of
great public excitement. It was the spring of 1814, when
the first restoration of the Bourbons by the Allied armies
took place. He there spent several months, and pub-
lished in the autumn, just after his return to America, a
spirited account of his observations, entitled “ A Few
Weeks in Paris,”t which called forth this wholesome
criticism from Dr. Morehead : —

“] was much pleased with your little lively book on that
same city (Paris), which contained some very good pictures (I do
not mean the city, but the book, — although the city contained
once some very good pictures too; but, alas for the glory of
France! they are gone); and I should think, if you would
look into your memory or your journal, you might make the

* Sir John Leslie, the physicist.

t A Few Weeks in Paris during the Residence of the Allied Sovereigns in that

Metropolis. ‘Boston, 1814. 12mo. It has a preface dated “ London ;” but only one
edition was published, and that one in America.
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book a little better still by adding to its stores. If you ever
think of republishing it, it might perhaps be worth your while
to alter the mode of expression in some instances where it comes
too close upon the manner of Sterne,— an author who has never
been well imitated, and, indeed, would never have been toler-
ated had not his singularities an appearance of nature in him
self, and are the vehicle of so much wit and sentiment.”

As a souvenir of his stay in Scotland, Mr. Lyman pub-
lished two Letters from Edinburgh (North American
Review, Vol. I. pp. 183, 338), in which may be found a
lively description of the mode of life, and short sketches
of several remarkable men, including Scott, Playfair,
Leslie, and Alison.

His Edinburgh friends still remembered him across the
water, where he was followed by a letter from Mrs. More-
head, worth transcribing as the composition of a thrifty,
educated, quick-witted Scotchwoman.

EpiNBURGH, October 24, 1814.

My DEAR MR. LYMAN,— You must think me a very ungrate-
ful woman never to have written a single line since you left us,
not even to thank you for the beautiful lace you sent me from
Paris. The truth is, the lace rather vexed me. Every proof of
kindness and affection from you I feel very deeply, but you
might have shown me kindness at much less expemse. You
know my love of economy is great, much greater than my
love of lace. But I need not scold you any more about this,
as it will be a long time before you are at Paris again to be
tempted to send French lace to your friends. I cannot tell you
how much I have felt the want of your society, and how long
I have continued to miss you. I had such comfort in talking to
you at the fireside, and such reliance on your good sense and
prudence, that I was always at my ease with you. And then
you understood my character better than most people do, for-
gave my faults, and never took offence at the inconsiderate
things I am apt to say. Mr. Morehead is grown a much better
talker. Now that I have few male friends constantly with me,
he is rather getting more interest in the passing scene. I force
him to listen to me; and if I find that he has not been attend-
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ing to what I said when I imagined he was, I abuse him so
much that he is obliged in self-defence to listen. Still, he
wanders a little occasionally, and I have no doubt is much re-
lieved when he gets into his dark den, with a great Greek or
Latin book before him.

I am just returned from Glasgow, where I was seeing my
darling Bell, whom they say we have spoiled by giving her
tastes unsuitable to her years, and taking too much notice of her,
and making her of more consequence than a little, insignificant
girl ought to be. God help us! how we do go on blundering
and thinking ourselves so wise! Poor baby! I have been vexed
about her; but I dare say we have done wrong (Mr. J.* is the
great offender in this business), and it is to keep her out of his
clutches we have let her remain all winter in Glasgow, as we
reckon by that time his own little girlt will be near ready to be-
gin to spoil. William and Charles are at school. Neither of them
promises to be a genius.f But I don't care about that; all I want
is decent, respectable men, which I trust and hope they will be.
You cannot think what a dear little creature Locky is, with her
red curled hair, and her eyes as pale as possible; and yet she
is not ugly. She is a great pet; but, to avoid falling into the
same error with her as with Bell, we keep her more in the
nursery. Robby cannot speak a word, and, except with Peggy.
is not very popular. There is another little boy since you left
us ; all that can be said of him as yet is, that his eyes are blue
and his cheeks are fat. I, of course, have fifty fancies about
him ; but, as you are not here to be told about them, I will not
tease you by writing about them. The lectures begin to-
morrow. Timson is not yet returned ; but we have three youths
besides him, all very good-natured and tractable. Two of them
have been six months with us; one of them only ten days.
I think we will probably have a very quiet winter. S. does not
return. His heart was rather too much softened with the charms

* Francis Jeffrey.

t She married Professor W. Empson, June 27, 1838, and brought Jeffrey the
grandchildren of whom he speaks so affectionately.

t Her estimate of their powers was too modest. Both rose to distinction in the
Indian service. William, who died in 1863, held many important offices; among
others that of Governor of Madras, and member of the Council. Charles, who is
now living in honorable retirement at Edinburgh, was long Principal of the Bom-
bay Medical College.
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of a Hebe in Queen Street; in short, it was thought prudent
to keep him this winter in Derby. You know Mr. M.’s senti-
ments and mine on this tender subject; so you may believe, as
soon as we knew what was going forward, we did all in our
power to put a stop to it. The youth was in despair, of course.
Time will show what he owes to us,—gratitude or resentment.*
He behaved very well indeed, and was more reasonable than
most youths of nineteen in love. This gave us a good deal of
pain. I think the fair one’s cheeks grow of a deeper crimson
when she sees me, whether with shame or anger I don’t know.
Of course, I did not appear in the business, but I dare say they
suspected I acted as chamber-counsel. I don’t think there are
any of your friends either married or given in marriage. Here
is your young fair friend in Castle Street, with her eyes as
bright, her cheeks as red, and her smiles as ready as ever. But
all in vain, to say nothing of the help of four new dresses
suited to the four seasons. That is one of the great uses of the
change of seasons, I observe. The widowed mother, dressed in
pale blue satin bonnet and spencer, with a countenance suited
to the gayety of the color, cannot extort a compliment from
Mr. J. J., though she recalls the days of his youth by talking
to him of her own. Even this agreeable picture brought him
has no effect, and she cannot obtain a compliment either for
past or present charms. . ..

The Jeffreys are still at Hatton, but they return to-morrow
for the season. Mrs. J. looks thin and pale, but perhaps, after
the baby is weaned, she will get stouter. Her health is quite
good. Mr. J. boasts of his talent for managing the child ; some-
times he and I differ on the subject, as we occasionally do on
most. J. is just as you saw him, and all my eloquence cannot

* A letter from Mr. Morchead, a year after, gives the happy result of this
romantic episode: * The four young men I had last year are all dispersed one way
or other. One of them, poor youth! was so much in love with R. M. that his re-
lations did not think it safe to send him back. This obstacle, however, is now out
of the way. R. has got herself married about two months ago, much to the satis-
faction of her mother and all parties. The husband is an old acquaintance of the
family, of the name of S——, who was a captain in the Guards, and has a good
estate. When you were in Edinburgh he was a prisoner at Verdun; but even if
you had seen him, he probably would have made no impression upon you. Heis &
good young man, by all accounts, bu